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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any staterment herein or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
1 ¥ HE 2

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue

Gross profit

Loss before income tax

Loss attributable to the owners of the
Company

Basic loss per Share (HK cents)

Dividend per Share (HK cents)

W m
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BRPr1STRRIE 1R
RABEER NEILEE

BREREBR CEL)
BRERE G

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Total assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company

MEE
RERFEEEEY
meE

e 5=

RABEER NEILED

mEEE

BE=H=+—HILFE

Changes
%)

-5.5%
428.2%
25.0%

1.2%
1.2%
N/A A5 3

A MBIRR
R=A=+—H

Changes
%)

-10.8%
-6.6%
-2.8%

-2.2%

2024
—E_WmE
HK$’000
FAET

468,963
18,063
(9,677)

(9,324)
(23.0)
N/A REH

2024
—EmME
HK$’000
FHET

218,960
48,222
622,390

(405,113)

2023
—m— =

—_<—

HK$ 000
TET

496,457
3,420
(12,906)

(9,440)
(23.3)
N/A 58

2023
S —

—_—<

HK$ 000
TET
245,543
51,619
640,349

(396,277)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
M RE

RATIOS
As at 31 March

Return on equity (Note a)
Return on assets (Note b)
Current ratio (Note c)
Gearing ratio (Note d)

Notes:

m PR (Hfata)
EEDLR (Wfatb)
MENEEXR (Hfatc)

o 3

HR=A=+—H

BERBLX (Hatd)

(@)  Return on equity is calculated as net loss divided by Shareholders’ equity.

(b)  Return on assets is calculated as net loss divided by total assets.

(c) Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current

liabilities.

(d)  Gearing ratio is calculated as total amount of promissory note, convertible

notes, lease liabilities and contract liabilities divided by total assets.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
A By

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 15 March 2010 and the Shares were listed on GEM on
30 August 2010.

The Group’s business of provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector is carried out through TYW and TY Civil
respectively with TYW responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a main contractor, a subcontractor
and forming joint operations while TY Civil responsible for signing
and implementing civil engineering contracts as a subcontractor
and forming joint operations.
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EARFS

ARBIR_E—SF=A+ABREBEHMEEEH
BRBNEF22E (—NAR—FEHIB RS
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CORPORATE PROFILE
AL By

REGISTRATIONS HELD FOR UNDERTAKING ANEFEERFEZEM
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has obtained the following registrations from Works ~ZA&%EE B @I E B THRIEE T5) 21
Branch Development Bureau (BEE TRl of the Government  MEA T A ERE AZE IR !

for undertaking projects as a main contractor:

Value of project which the Group is eligible to undertake

Registration under the relevant registration

= 1 FEBIRBHEMGMSEREKEZTRZEE

Approved Contractors for Public Works — A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
Waterworks Category (Group C) (probationary one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
status) category does not exceed HK$1,500 million

SR AT REAER—KBER (RAE) RBZRER—EER R MBS A 8i8400,000,0008 7T » HEE
&R — (@850 T24REEFB381,500,000,0007 7T

Approved Contractors for Public Works — Roads A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
and Drainage Category (Group C) (probationary one category, provided that the total value of works in any one

status) category does not exceed HK$1,500 million
RO AHTERER —ERKRERHLRELER RBZRAER—EER R MBS A 8i18400,000,0008 7T » HEE
(m4) G R A — (@485 0 T2 42 EE R 8381,500,000,0007 7T
Approved Contractors for Public Works — Site Contracts of any values exceeding HK$400 million
Formation Category (Group C) (confirmed status)
SRR AR TEAER — B TEITELER £ A& (B #8:B400,000,0008 TN &4
(R#A) (FESD)

Also, the Group has registered under the Voluntary Subcontractor — Itb9h» REBE RN BEEZ TR 2 IERFIM
Registration Scheme GERFIMEDBEEMEIE), whichis 28 uIFFH%H#—FuEEH% UnBmEmEmaHEL
maintained by the Construction Industry Council (23&2£:%S), for KL B ITREREBRBURKE TRZR
participating in civil engineering works, road works and drainage 7 °

services and waterworks engineering services as a sub-contractor.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
YASII My

CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY AT ELE

TERBAADN _2-_NE=F=+—H
ZIEELRE

The following diagram illustrates the corporate structure of the

Company as at 31 March 2024

The Company
(Cayman Islands)

Investment holding and provision of

management services
E YA
(FEE#S)
KB R iR B IR

100%
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept CNC Logistic Core Galaxy Shenzhen
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited Limited Limited Qianhai Xinhua
(BV) (BVI) BV) BV) BV) BV) TV Cultural
Investment Investment Investment Investment Inactive Investment Development
holding holding holding holding CNC Logistic holding Limited*
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept Limited Core Galaxy P RQ
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited (EBEXEHE) Limited Inactive
(EBEZHE) (EBEZHE) (EBEXHE) EBEXHE) LS (FEBEXHE) aRI R E
BEER wEER BEER wEER wEER BEXEER
BRAR
()
BELE
100% 100% 100%
97% 97%
TYW TY Civil Karaoke Xinhua TV BayTV Network
(Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited Asia-Pacific Holdings
Provision of Holding of (Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited
civil engineering motor vehicles, Inactive Inactive (Hong Kong)
services and provision of civil EHARAT HEERTIAL Inactive
laying of water engineering (&) (&2 EERE
Pipes services and TimEE AT BRAF
e ] Iaying.of water (&:#)
(&4E) pipes HRKE
EELATR EELAK
AR5 e B8 (&2E)
KE FHBER =M
TARTERBR
BEKE

*for identification purpose only

Y EHEE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AEEM

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung
Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Appointed on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS, JP (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Appointed on 23 May 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Ms. Li Yuet Tai (Resigned on 23 May 2024)
COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Appointed on 23 May 2024)
Ms. Li Yuet Tai (Resigned on 23 May 2024)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Chairman)
(Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, Jp (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Chairman) (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Appointed on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed on 29 February 2024 and
resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS, JP (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Appointed on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed on 29 February 2024 and
resigned on 16 April 2024)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 29 February 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, Jp (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AEEM

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Chairman) (Appointed as member on
29 February 2024 and redesignated as Chairman on
16 April 2024)

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed as Chairman on 29 February
2024 and redesignated as member on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 8BS, Jp (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Flat 314, 3/F,

Fuk Shing Commercial Building,
28 On Lok Mun Street,

Fanling, New Territories
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NS

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F., Fast East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

WEBSITE
http://www.cnctv.hk
STOCK CODE

8356

FENERMNBREILHEE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
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DEFINITIONS
B =

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following X IRER > fF X 25 HA55F » TF 5052
words and expressions shall have the following meanings when ;&K IRE @ HEA B TFiHZE -

used herein:

“AGM”
MRRBFEKREG

“Board”
lEEg)

“BVI”
B R LB

“China Xinhua NNC”

Moh BT AT B AR AR

“Company”

/NS

“Director(s)”

==y

“Financial Statements”

A Fs R

IIGEM”
IGEM J

the annual general meeting of the Company

KABDRRBFERE

the board of Directors
ey

the British Virgin Islands
REBRRES

China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (PEFFEFH B BRABERE AT, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xinhua
News Agency (#r#E+t) and the then substantial Shareholder of the Company before
change of substantial shareholder of the Company on 29 February 2024

R ENEEREAERAR — XN EBEMMIUILZ AT RASNELZEE
WEAS BN _E_MFEF _RB _+NBAABTERREFAAEATER
ZEERE

CNC Holdings Limited (FEI#T#EEBRZERBRAE]), a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 15 March 2010
FEHMEBSRERABRAT — RN _E—EF=-FB+HEHEHEHEFMMA
A ZERAE

director(s) of the Company from time to time
AT REZESR

the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
FERHE_ZNF=RB=+—HIEFEZKEZUBRR

the GEM of the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 PRGEM
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DEFINITIONS
B =

“GEM Listing Rules”
FGEM_Emi#R AN

“Government”

TR

“Group”
TREE)

“HK$” and “HK cent(s)”
M 7o) B T

“Hong Kong”
M&#)

“Macau”
P

“Mr. Kan”
M&AE]

“PRC”
MR

“SFO”
s KA 1R A

“Share(s)”
MR%15

“Shareholder(s)”
M Ea ]

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
GEMzE = LR 8

the Government of Hong Kong

the Company and its subsidiaries
KRB REMEAE]

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

DHR/BEBEEGRE AT RAE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REE B RITHE

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REIRFIFRIITHE

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (& %¥), an executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company

RABATEFTRIERRRGEFLE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
PEAREANE FREEH RFIRAE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended or otherwise modified from time to time

BBEPIBETIERF R E R (EFRHEST U E M S ERD

ordinary share(s) of the Company
KRB 2 BB

holder(s) of the Share(s)
OB A

hEFESRIZERARAS 2023/2024 5 13



DEFINITIONS
B =

“Shunleetat”

I'Shunleetat J

“Stock Exchange”
MH§ 22 T )

“TY Civil”

MEEL AR

[ 2E K F5
“WSD”
IKFEE

H%ll
M% |

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Kan

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited» — RN ERBRELFHEFMR L2 2B HEXELEE
mHER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEGERBAARAF

Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited GEZ T+ AKTRRARAT), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 16 June 2000 and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

EEXTARIBARRAE — RN ZZEZEZFEARA+ A BEEETMALZER
RED BARFIZEERIE2ERB LT

Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company Limited G&E2/KFEEBEARE AT, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 6 February 1996 and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

EFEKBREBRRE — RN —ANANEZANHEEBIMALZERE
B RARBZERIIEEENBE AT

Water Supplies Department (JKF#ZE) of the Government
BRKEE

per cent

Bt
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITERESE

To all Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2024, we had obtained
approximately HK$469.0 million (2023: HK$496.5 million) revenue,
which represented a decrease of approximately 5.5% over the
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 was amounted to approximately HK$18.1 million (2023:
approximately HK$3.4 million), which represented an increase of
approximately 428.2% from that of previous year.

The net loss of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$9.1 million (2023: approximately of HK$9.5
million), representing a decrease of approximately 3.7% from that
of previous year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

During the year, the Company has been proactively assessing
the current financial and operational conditions with a view to
formulating a solution to improve the financial position of the Group
that respects the rights of all stakeholders and unlocks the inherent
value of the Company’s business and assets. In this regard, the
Group has communicated and constructively engaged with the
holder of convertible bonds issued by the Company and creditors
of the Company to facilitate the formulation of a consensual debt
restructuring proposal. Upon completion of share subscription, fifth
amendment of terms of existing outstanding convertible bonds and
issuance of new convertible bonds on 15 April 2024, the Group
believes that these measures can alleviate the financial burden of
the Group and provide flexibility to the Company in its future cash
management in business development. The Group believes that
the financial position of the Group can be greatly improved by the
implementation of these measures.

HNERRR:

Zli)\%%lkbﬁ%’%%%ﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ? EXEEHET
TME=ZA=+—HUEFEZFEFXE-

FEER

BE_ZT-_MNMF=B=1t—HLEE &K
fIE 8 49469,000,0008 T (T - =4 :
496,500,000 70) 2 Wm > BEEZSZ=F
—A=+—BHIEFEEZWRER/L45.5%

BE_Z _ NMEZRA=+—HLEEE > x&EH
ZEFAA18,100,000BT (CTEZ=F .4
3,400,000 7T) » 8 = —F E L NN49428.2% ©

BHE_Z_NME=ZA=+—HLEFE x£H
2B EE1E49749,100,0008 T (CEZ=F | &
9,500,000/ 7T) * B _E—F R/ &3.7% °

RERI =

REEE > X RB—BRBNEERVTH R
LER BREE—BRNEAEBY NN
WAL Z BRI REFBERHENRED [

RN RAREBREENNEEE BIL>
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITEREE

During the year under review, the construction industry was still
full of challenges. The Group has been facing increasing costs of
operation as well as keen competition in the market. Despite facing
complicated and stringent business environment such as severe
labor shortage and occupational safety and health regulations,
with the concerted efforts of all employees, the Group surmounted
the challenges, forged ahead and continued to consolidate its
overall competitive advantages in the industry and to maintain a
sustainable development of the Group. The Group will continue to
review its existing operations and businesses to formulate long-
term business strategies and focus on improving the Group’s
profitability.

With the Group’s experienced management team and reputation in
the construction industry, the Group is of the view that the current
priority should be to strengthen its position in the market and
maintain existing business relationships with its customers, as well
as to focus on completing the existing civil engineering projects
with effective control on costs so as to secure the profit margin of
the projects and, hence, to achieve sustainable business growth to
bring long-term benefits to our shareholders.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my most sincere appreciation to all the management team
and staff for their dedication and contribution over the past years. |
would also like to thank all the Shareholders, customers, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support and trust.

Kan Kwok Cheung
Chairman

28 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmBEOH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the Group continued to focus on rendering civil
engineering services to the public sector in Hong Kong.

Provision of civil engineering services

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has been
undertaking eight contracts. Among the eight contracts, one of
these is related to provision of waterworks engineering services and
the remaining contracts are related to provision of drainage services
and site formation services. Details of the contracts undertaken are
set out below.

275 [0l 8

AEFRTERBFTBLAEMPIRELIARAIER
B BE_ZE_NFE=-B=+—HLEFE XK
EREBEEINAETELAEMPIRELIAT
TEARTS ©

Rt KTRRRE

BE_Z_NF=-RB=+—HLEFE x&H
—HETNEGQ -KN\EBEGHH  Hh—I1a
BR MK TEMRB AR > HERS AR BIg(H
REBRB BT EIRBAER -FIAESHNZ
FHBEHEIU T

Contract period under

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client main contracts
BHET BHHE EFR RETEHANENEH
Subcontracts
&4
CV/2016/10 Site Formation and Association Hsin Chong Tsun Yip ~ Dec 2017 - Jun 2021
Infrastructural Works For Development Joint Venture
of Columbarium at Sandy Ridge
Cemetery
IheEIBISER B LR  HEREERS B2 “RB®
VERARRARZEFNINTE FARMNE B R AE Total confract value
ERE -V HK$2,330.5 million
. . , , BENEE
PYC- Site Formation, Foundation & Sub- Paul Y. Construction  Aug 2020 - Dec 2022 9 330,500,000 7%

03084BAH-001 structure Works for the Student
Residence Development at The
Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology

EBNBEAZNBLEEL RN
T TR AR TEHERELIR

Company Limited

RERFZERAT

ND/2018/02 The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1)

ELPERIEEE G5

Harvest - Tsun Yip
Joint Venture
Fal— R

Total amount of works

certified (Note)
— = —a o HK$1,775.7 million
—F_FENAZE ERETEREE ()

M A A
2+ °R 1,775,700,000%87¢

Oct 2020 - Oct 2022

“ECZE+RAE
"y
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN RO

Contract period under

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client main contracts
BB BHEFE &R REFESANEHH
Subcontracts

FEH

1002EM19A Design-Build-Operate for the Additional ~ Paul Y - Qianhai Joint  Dec 2020 - Dec 2023

District Cooling System (DCS) at the Venture
Kai Tak Development (KTD)

Fe BEREEMNRELERENTT RE-FIESHE _Z_ZF+°RE
ERBEMS 2GR “T-=&+"H
EP/SP/10/91 South East-New Territories (SENT) Landfill - Paul Y. Construction &  July 2021 - July 2023
Extension Engineering
Co. Limited
MR REEERRE REREIRER _—T_—HFLAE
NS b=y 2 =
Joint Operations
REEH
ND/2018/02 The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak  Civil Engineering Oct 2020 - Oct 2022
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1) and Development
Department of the
Government
ToRERIEER E—1) BRIATIREEE —TZ2F1+RE
Z2TTF1A
4/WSD/19 Development of Anderson Road Quarry ~ WSD Sep 2020 - Sep 2025
site — construction of grey water
treatment plant
ZEBBABEAMER-—TKEER kBB “ZTZENAE
BETR ZZZRFAA
CV/2019/04 Site Formation and Infrastructure Works  Civil Engineering Dec 2020 - Jun 2024
near Tsz Tin Road and Hing Fu Street and Development
in Area 54, Tuen Mun Department of the
Government
TPEMBAITRARKEEHNT BRI AIRERE “Z2H+°-AF
WPERERERTRE “ZMERA
CV/2022/08 Site Formation and Infrastructure Works  Civil Engineering Jan 2023 - Jan 2027
at Area 48, Fanling and Development
Department of the
Government
MEFCETHTERERINIE BNIAIRLEE “Z”°=F—-A%
“2TtE-A
Note: Amount of works certified is based on the certificates of payment iz = EZBEIREENLRELERWRIIZ AR
received from client. %R HETE ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmBEOH

During the year ended 31 March 2024, contracts with contract
numbered 1002EM19A and 4/WSD/19 were the main contributors
to the Group’s revenue, which generated approximately HK$148.3
million and approximately HK$119.6 million, constituting
approximately 31.6% and 25.5% of the Group’s total revenue
respectively.

Media and advertising business

Media and advertising business remained stagnant during the year
and no revenue was derived.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group reported a revenue
of approximately HK$469.0 million (2023: approximately HK$496.5
million), representing a decrease of approximately 5.5% as
compared with that for the previous year. All of the Group’s revenue
was derived from provision of civil engineering services during the
year ended 31 March 2024. The decrease in revenue was mainly
due to decrease in works for certain civil engineering projects at or
nearly completion stage.

BEZZNFE=B=1+—HIEFE 54
58 21002EM19AK4/WSD/1927 BB RN ER
ZEBWNHE KR EHE4148,300,0007 7T K
#9119,600,00078 7T > D RIE A E B AW R L
31.6%%225.5% ©

SR R 5 2T

9 IR AB RS B R TA 1R
1Bl o

FA 5Ol R

e

BE_ZT_NFE=B=1+—HILFE &&EH
#7215 N 49469,000,0008 T (CE_=F 1 4
496,500,000 70) » BMEF R/ 4I5.5% c B E
:%:EEZH:wL—EthE}*’zt%@zFﬁ
B R B R AR TR c &R

EHWE ?Jfﬁ\ﬂ;za_nﬁﬁzﬁtbﬁxmixﬁz

EENIRESH /-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmRE O

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of the Group
was primarily generated from the undertaking of civil engineering
contracts in the capacity of a subcontractor and joint ventures. The
breakdown of total revenue by nature of capacity of the Group is set
forth below:

BE_ZSE_NME=ZA=1+—HILFE F£&H
WamEBREUDEBBEREGEDIFNEEZ

marBEEIINT ¢

ITARIBEN -BEEBESMHEEDEZRU

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

Main contractor FEERS
Subcontractor bagalis]

Jointly controlled operations HEEHLE
Total 4z

2024

—ZT-mE

HK$°000

% of total
14 5E

FHET BFH(%)

2023
“EBETCF
HK$'000 % of total
154858

THET B H(%

- - 354 =
278,771 59.4 321,255 64.8
190,192 40.6 174,848 35.2
468,963 100.0 496,457 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cost of services

The Group’s cost of services decreased by approximately 8.5% to
approximately HK$450.9 million (2023: approximately HK$493.0
million) for the year ended 31 March 2024 as compared with that
for the previous year. The Group’s cost of services mainly includes
costs of construction services. Costs of construction services
mainly comprise raw materials, direct labour and subcontracting
fee for services provided by the subcontractors. The decrease in
cost of services was mainly due to net effect of decreased work
orders for certain civil engineering projects and the overall increase
in staff costs, materials and subcontracting costs from provision of
civil engineering services business for the year. The following table
sets out a breakdown of the Group’s cost of services:

AR #5 A 2

AERRBE_T_ME=-A=+—H1L
FEZBRBEREABREFR DN E5XEN
450,900,000 7T (ZZ Z =4 : £9493,000,000
B AEENRBRTEEZCERERS
A - BEBRBRATEZVAERME BES
TN EBHRERBNDEER IR AB
DEBHRAEEETIAIREBEENIRE
BiE URRHEATERBEFMEESN
BIMA RO EREEREMNEZE
PREL - FREIIEEBARFEUAZEFIS -

For the year ended 31 March
BE=B=1+—HL=EE

2024 2023

—E_—ME “EI=F
HK$’000 % of total HK$'000 % of total
1hAEEE 15 4B EE
FAET B7H(%) FET  BDH(%)

Costs of construction services BERER A

Raw materials Bt 26,869 6.0 62,459 12.7
Direct labour HEST 101,256 22,5 95,684 19.4
Subcontracting fee "BER 251,309 55.7 254,792 51.7
Other direct costs HBEZR A 71,466 15.8 80,102 16.2
Total 4azE 450,900 100.0 493,037 100.0
hEFESRIERARAS 2023/2024 5 21



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE w2 th

Gross profit

The gross profit for the Group for the year increased by
approximately 428.2% to approximately HK$18.1 million (2023:
approximately HK$3.4 million) for the year ended 31 March 2024
as compared with that for the previous year. The gross profit
margin of the Group amounted to approximately 3.9% (2023:
approximately 0.7%) for the year. The increase in gross profit was
mainly due to higher gross profit margin derived from certain civil
engineering projects at early stage and the implementation of
operation plans by the Group to control construction costs.

Other income

The Group’s other income for the year ended 31 March 2024
decreased by approximately 35.2% to approximately HK$3.0
million (2023: approximately HK$4.6 million) as compared with that
for the previous year. The decrease in other income was mainly
due to the absence of subsidies of the Employment Support
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong
Government.

Other (losses)/gains, net

The Group’s other losses, net for the year ended 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$1.1 million (2023: other gains,
net of approximately HK$7.4 million). Other losses, net mainly
consisted of allowance for expected credit losses recognised
for contract assets and net loss on termination of lease for the
Period. The decrease in other gains/(losses), net was mainly
due to absence of one-off recognition of gain on modification of
promissory note recognised for the previous year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmBEOH

Administrative and operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and operating expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2024 increased by approximately
16.1% to approximately HK$17.6 million (2023: approximately
HK$15.2 million) as compared with that for the previous year.
The administrative expenses mainly consisted of auditors’
remuneration, legal and professional fees, staff costs (including
Directors’ remuneration), depreciation expenses and rental
expenses. The increase in the administrative and operating
expenses was mainly due to the legal and professional fee paid in
respect of resumption of trading of the shares of the Company.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2024
decreased by approximately 9.0% to approximately HK$12.0
million (2023: approximately HK$13.2 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The finance costs mainly consist of
interest expenses for the promissory note and default interest on
convertible notes.

Impairment assessment of contract assets and receivables

The Group made a reversal of expected credit losses allowance
of approximately HK$262,000 (2023: allowance of approximately
HK$83,000) and a provision of additional expected credit loss
allowance of approximately HK$83,000 (2023: approximately
HK$308,000) for trade receivables and contract assets based on
the impairment assessment for the year ended 31 March 2024.
According to the policy of impairment provision of receivables of the
Group, the Group: (i) has decided the receivable portfolio by using
aging as the credit risk characteristics, and has made provisions for
doubtful debts for trade receivables and other receivables based
on the aging analysis approach, and (ii) has sorted the customers
against whom the provisions for doubtful debts has been made,
and has estimated the expected credit loss, taking into account
the recoverability of certain receivables, in order to estimate the
impairment provisions for receivables.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment and right of use assets based on higher of fair values
less costs of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount of the
relevant assets does not exceed the recoverable amount and no
impairment has been recognised.

Net loss

The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
decreased by 3.7% to approximately HK$9.1 million (2023:
approximately HK$9.5 million) as compared with that for the
previous year.

Loss per Share

The basic loss per Share attributable to the owners of the Company

for the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK23.0
cents (2023: approximately HK23.3 cents (restated)).

24 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

ME B R U R EREE ERETE

BE_ T NEA"ZT_=F=H=+—H
WHEE ZEBZENR QAT ERLE R ARG
REENRSEMLAYE  MERREURE
FREEER A W28 - BRI E ERRE(EL
BB P UR[C] 28 > TMERESRRE

FR5IE

BETZTNME-RA=+—HLEFE F&H

BEEREERL3I.7%EL9,100,0005% 7T (—

T~ = £ 1 499,500,000 7T) ©

ShREE

BE_S-ME=B=+—ALEE AQH

BEAAEEERERGFEAL23.08WL (CF
= 4923381 (& EF))) o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmBEOH

PROSPECTS

Amid the uncertain economic outlook, the provision of civil
engineering service business will continue to provide a stable
revenue source and remain the major contributor to the Group’s
revenue.

Looking ahead to the new financial year, the Group is actively
participating in various contract biddings. Together with the
committed work contracts on hand, the Group is cautiously
optimistic about the future market conditions. The impact of tender
price inflation, the competition for supply chain resources and
labor shortages are expected to co-exist. To tackle the current
challenges, greater attention will be needed to allocate risk fairly
and have good project execution planning and procurement
schedules to prevent hindrances and enhance cost efficiency.
The Group has been actively monitoring market conditions and
taking appropriate measures to mitigate any negative impact
on the business and performance of the Group. The Group will
closely monitor the projects’ progress and communicate with
suppliers and subcontractors, maintain close communication
with customers on the latest project works schedules and
arrangements. The Group will also continue to strengthen its
cost control measures and resources management policies, and
actively participate in tendering and bidding to maintain its market
competitiveness.

The Group will carefully formulate development strategies,
leveraging industry knowledge and resources, to solidify our core
business and maintain our leading position in the construction
industry. In addition, the Group will continue to optimise and
diversify our business operations, and continue to explore or
seek other appropriate business opportunities to strengthen and
consolidate the Group’s revenue base.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were listed on GEM on 30 August 2010. The capital of
the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$405.1 million in deficit as at 31 March 2024
(31 March 2023: approximately HK$396.3 million). The decrease in
equity was mainly resulted from net loss for the year.

On 15 April 2024, an aggregate of 1,666,666,667 subscription
share, representing approximately 29.1% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the subscription shares immediately after the share subscription
completion, were allotted and issued at the subscription price
of HK$0.012 per subscription share to Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung,
an executive director and the shareholder of the Company
under the share specific mandate. The gross and net proceeds
from share subscription are HK$20,000,000 and approximately
HK$19,900,000, respectively, of which (i) HK$10,355,700 has
been used for the repayment of its outstanding indebtedness of
the Group which includes (a) an amount of HK$2,008,844 due
to Xinhua News Agency Audio News Desk GTEZ B0,
being a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xinhua News Agency (i %=
1) and a fellow subsidiary of the China Xinhua NNC; and (b) part
of outstanding broadcasting fee in the amount of HK$8,346,856
owed to the China Xinhua NNC as a service provider to the Group;
and (i) the remaining amount of approximately HK$9,500,000 will
be used for the general working capital of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group generally
financed its operations through internally generated cash flows.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$418.4 million (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$370.5 million), including cash balance of approximately
HK$48.2 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$51.6 million).
The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 0.33 as at 31 March 2024 (31 March
2023: approximately 0.37).

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, which is based on the total amount of promissory
note, convertible notes, lease liabilities and contract liabilities
divided by total assets, was approximately 176.7% as at 31 March
2024 (31 March 2023: approximately 160.8%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of the
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group was
mainly exposed to foreign currency exchange risk of Renminbi and
the management mainly monitored the foreign currency exchange
risk with advice from the Group’s major banks.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments (31 March 2023: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s machinery with net book values

amounted to approximately HK$3.6 million (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$9.4 million) were held under finance lease.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 March 2023: Nil).

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 237 full-time staff in Hong
Kong and over 90% of them are direct labour. Total staff costs
(including Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31 March
2024 amounted to approximately HK$105.2 million (2023:
approximately HK$99.9 million), representing an increase of
approximately 5.3% over that for the previous year. The increase
was mainly resulted from inflation and labor market condition for the
year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for investment in subsidiaries, during the year ended 31
March 2024 and as at the end of the reporting period, the Group
did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any
company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.

28 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

HAREE

R _ETNE=ZRA=+—H AEETEE
AEAHREE CE_=ZF=RA=+—0Q:

) o
EEEHR

R_E_NE=ZRBA=+—H xEBETEBE
237BEWE T EH RN A EES Lo HE
TETNME=B=1+—HIEFEEZHEETRA
(BFEEFFHBN) A49105,200,0008 T (ZF
Z=4F : #999,900,000 7T) » B K E LA
53%EMEFERNEAFEENBRKLSE &

EEP-Z I iEE
FRFEXRIRE
FRNBARZREN BE-ST"NE=A

=+—HLEEERREKEHR $$@I%K
RERABZREFFAEEFAEARE

ERKREREBEXREEZRRE

A_ENE=ZA=+—H AEBLTES K
KEREREEZHMEE o

ERBBREEHE QR KRR AR
BE_T_NFE=ZA=+—HLEE &*&

[ 5 £ ) B A B T o O 0 B T
AT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENmBEOH

CHANGE OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER OF THE
COMPANY

On 5 February 2024, Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, an executive Director
and the shareholder of the Company and China Xinhua NNC
entered into the sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and
Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which China Xinhua NNC
agreed to sell and Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung agreed to purchase a
total of 1,188,621,377 shares, representing approximately 29.3%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company at that time, for
a total consideration of HK$16,641,000 (equivalent to HK$0.014
per sale share). Following the completion of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement which took place on 29 February 2024, Mr. Kan Kwok
Cheung became the substantial shareholder of the Company and
was required under the Code on Takeovers and Mergers to make a
mandatory unconditional cash offer to acquire all the issued shares
(other than those already owned or agreed to be acquired by Mr.
Kan Kwok Cheung) at HK$0.014 per offer share (the “Offer”). The
Offer was closed on 29 April 2024. Having made all reasonable
enquiries and to the best knowledge and belief of the Board, Mr.
Kan Kwok Cheung held 3,126,348,044 shares (before the share
consolidation effective on 19 June 2024) after the close of Offer on
29 April 2024. Details of the change of controlling shareholder of
the Company and the Offer were set out in the joint announcements
dated 15 January 2024, 5 February 2024, 26 February 2024, 29
February 2024, 2 April 2024, 15 April 2024 and 29 April 2024 and
the composite document dated 29 February 2024 issued by the
Company. As at the date of this report, Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung
owns 54.6% issued share capital of the Company and became the
controlling shareholder of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFRE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (f§El#¥), aged 59, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Kan formed TYW and TY Civil in 1996 and 2000
respectively and has been the director of both companies since
their formation. Mr. Kan has over 30 years of experience in handling
civil engineering projects of various types. In the last three years, he
held no directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Kan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 11 August 2010, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice. In addition, Mr. Kan has entered into
an employment contract with TYW to act as the director of TYW
for a continuous term commencing from 6 February 1996 until
terminated by not less than thirty days’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other or thirty days’ salary being payment in lieu
of notice.

Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (8¥%5%), aged 50, has over 24 years of
experience in project management and administration of various
construction projects in the civil engineering industry. He has joined
and served as the project manager of TYW and TY Civil since 2010
and is primarily responsible for the management and operation of
the Group’s civil engineering projects, as well as overseeing the
construction progress of various projects undertaken by the Group.
Mr. Hui was further appointed as a director of TYW and TY Civil in
2020 and is responsible for the management and supervision of
the Group’s engineering projects and participating in the Group’s
administrative management work. He obtained a diploma in civil
engineering in 1999. In the last three years, he held no directorships
in any listed public companies. Mr. Hui has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years,
expiring at the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party or by the payment of the equivalent of three months
salary in lieu of such notice by either party.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (f§3%), aged 28, obtained a Bachelor
of Engineering in Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in 2018. Mr. Max Kan is the son
of Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, being an executive Director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Max Kan joined TYW
as a financial controller in 2018, and is responsible for corporate
control, contracting works, project management, and overseeing
various construction projects. Mr. Max Kan was appointed as a
director of TTW and TY Civil in 2023 and is responsible for providing
recommendations to the executive directors in relation to the overall
management and administration of the Group’s civil engineering
business. In the last three years, he held no directorships in any
listed public companies. Mr. Max Kan has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years,
expiring at the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party or by the payment of the equivalent of three months
salary in lieu of such notice by either party.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (%&J)£i#), aged 67, has been the
administration manager of TYW and TYC since December 2012
and further been appointed as a director of TYW and TYC since
November 2015. Mr. Law is experienced in office administration
and tender estimate relating to construction projects and has
over 35 years of experience in civil construction works for various
companies prior to joining the Group. Mr. Law obtained a diploma
in civil engineering and a higher certificate in civil engineering from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic) in 1978 and 1980 respectively. In the last three
years, he held no directorships in any listed public companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFRE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley ($27&7%), aged 41, has over 15 years of
experience in the areas of audit, financial management, corporate
governance and operations in capital markets. Mr. Stanley Chin has
obtained a Master of Business Administration from the University of
Hong Kong. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant in
2009 and served as an audit specialist in PricewaterhouseCoopers
and KPMG for 7 years. He has also been awarded the qualification
of Financial Risk Manager in 2009 and Chartered Financial Analyst
in 2010. Mr. Stanley Chin has extensive experience serving as
senior management for different Hong Kong listed companies. Mr.
Stanley Chin is currently an independent non-executive director
of each of Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited and
Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock codes: 1629 and 618 respectively). Apart from the above,
Mr. Stanley Chin did not hold any directorships in any listed public
companies in the last three years.

Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (283Z38), aged 56, obtained a Bachelor
of Science (Economics) from the University of London in the
United Kingdom in 1994, and a Master of Applied Finance from
the Macquarie University of Australia in 2000. Mr. Paul Kwok
is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Paul Kwok previously worked at one of
the reputable international accounting firms to provide audit and
assurance services for 5 years. Mr. Paul Kwok possesses extensive
knowledge and has over 30 years of experience in accounting,
financing, capital investment and management, operational risks
and banking industries. Mr. Paul Kwok is currently a chief financial
officer and alternative chief executive of an international bank in
Hong Kong. In the last three years, Mr. Paul Kwok did not hold any
directorships in any listed public companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (E£ %), aged 56, graduated
with professional diploma in accountancy from Hong Kong
Polytechnic in 1990 and obtained a Bachelor of Laws from the
Peking University in the People’s Republic of China in 1998.
Mr. Kenneth Wong also obtained a Master of Science from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1999. Mr. Kenneth Wong
has extensive experience in auditing, accounting and corporate
finance, and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Kenneth Wong previously worked at one
of the reputable international accounting firms for six years and
also worked in the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited for
over 13 years with last position as senior manager of the Listing
Division of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited. Mr.
Kenneth Wong then worked in different financial service institutions
licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission as responsible
officer providing corporate finance advisory services for more than
10 years. Mr. Kenneth Wong had served as the independent non-
executive Director from December 2013 to October 2022. Apart
from the above, Mr. Kenneth Wong did not hold any directorships
in any listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Z2HBH) , aged 67, obtained a Bachelor of
Laws with Honours from the University of Wales, University College,
Cardiff in July 1982 and subsequently completed a Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws at the University of Hong Kong in July 1986.
Mr. Leon Lai has been a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a
member of the Law Society of Hong Kong since August 1988
and is the sole proprietor of a law firm in Hong Kong. He has also
been an advocate and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore
since February 1995. He has been an independent non-executive
director of Allan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 684)
since December 1995 and Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3789) since January 2017. Apart from the above, Mr. Leon
Lai did not hold any directorships in any listed public companies
in the last three years. He has not, by himself or through his firm in
which he practices, provided professional services to the Company
in last two years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, except for
paragraphs C1.8, C1.6, C.2.7 and C5.1 of the Code. This report
further illustrates in detail as to how the Code was applied, inclusive
of the considered reasons for any deviation throughout the year
ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results.

The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the required
standards of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
The Company was not aware of any non-compliance in this respect
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEELARS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is accountable for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible
and effective manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company.

Matters reserved for the Board include, but not limited to:

e approval of the Group’s long term objectives and strategy,
policies and annual budgets;

e oversight of the Group’s operations and management;

e approval of major changes to the Group’s corporate structure,
management and control structure;

e approval of quarterly, interim and annual results;

e approval of any significant changes in accounting policies or
practices;

e responsible for the system of internal control and risk
management;

e approval of matters in relation to Board membership and
Board remuneration;

e review of the existing policies of the Company on corporate
governance;

e review of the coverage of knowledge and skills of the training
sessions arranged for the Directors and senior management
by the Company;

e evaluated the effectiveness of internal safeguard procedure for
overseeing timely disclosure of material inside information and
perseverance of its confidentiality;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

e review and monitor the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regularity requirements;

e monitor the compliance of code of conduct by the Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

e review of the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this report.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, including three
executive Directors, a non-executive Director and four independent
non-executive Directors.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors” section on pages 30 to 33 of this report. The
composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung
Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEELARS

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS JP

(Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley and Mr. Kwok Man To Paul were appointed
as independent non-executive Directors with effective from 29
February 2024. Mr. Hui Ka Tsun, Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max were
appointed as executive Directors and Mr. Wong Chun Yip Kenneth
and Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon were appointed as independent non-
executive Directors with effective from 16 April 2024 respectively.
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun, Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max, Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley,
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul, Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth and Mr. Lai
Ah Ming Leon obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 5.02D
of the GEM Listing Rules on 22 February 2024 and 27 February
2024, and has confirmed that each of them understood his
obligations as a director of a listed company.

With the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Company, the
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board towards enhancement of its overall performance.
With a vision of achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company regards Board diversity as an essential element
for achieving its strategic goals. Appointments of Directors
are made on merits having due regard to a range of diversity
objectives, including inter alia gender, age, cultural and educational
background, length of service, professional experience, knowledge
of the Group’s business and a broad range of individual attributes,
interests and values.

BIIERITES

WEERE (R ZEZMFE— B+ HEZSE)
BNEELE (R —EUFE—H N HEZT)
ERERE R T ZMAFEIYSF N HEZ(E)
BRSNS E (R EZFN A+ HEZ T
R (3 ZEFE ZYFEITH N HEEE)
FERIE » kA2 S X T+

(3R & pgFEPIH+ 5 HEFEE)

REERERBXE L EEZEABILIER
PFTEE BT NEAZ+AHBEEN
TEREEREBRELEEZEANTES
MEBELRERBRERLEESZETABILIE
BITES S BEZTTOFNB+/NHEE
Mot mBAE BEHRERE - BEERLE
WXEELEE - TRERERRERLEER
“EINFEZRAZ+ZHBERIZEIMNFEZA
Z+t HEEGEM LM FRAI 502Dk 89

ZRER TERRREFSERBEMERLT
ABEEENEE-

BEARNDRMEFTEMNEZTIEER 2
SR EREE —EZ T ENESREY
RABERERENED AEBHRIKERTY
ZERNES FRRRESENESTIERE
RERBMEERIVEHRGF - EFHNEEU
REIH %ﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁ PERB—RHIZ T
BENERE FET HhaE SR F6 XX
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%% WBEFE FEER HEAE
EEBN T UREZVEASE  EEB
BER-

hEESRIERARAR 2023/2024 58 37



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company is conscious of maintaining a Board made up with
independent non-executive Directors as the majority, together with
an appropriate level of female members on the Board. At present,
half of the directors on the Board are independent non-executive
Directors. They represent diverse career experience in both
international and local enterprises. Following the resignation of Ms.
Tang Li on 16 April 2024, there is no female Director on the Board.
Although the Board is currently of a single gender, the Company will
appoint at least one female director by no later than 31 December
2024. We are also committed to adopting a similar approach
to promote diversity within the management (including but not
limited to the senior management) of the Company to enhance the
effectiveness of corporate governance of the Company as a whole.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Every Director is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and has access to
the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Board and
each Director also have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management.
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Re-compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2), 5.05A, 5.36A and
5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules

Following the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors on 29 February 2024, the Board has re-complied with:
(i) Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules which requires the Board
to include at least 3 independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise; (i) Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules which requires the Company to appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board;
(i) Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules which requires the audit
committee to be chaired by an independent non-executive
Director and to comprise a minimum of 3 members and at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required in Rule 5.05(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules; (iv) Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules
which requires the Company to establish a nomination committee
comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors.

Chairman and chief executive officer

In order to have a clear division between the management of the
Board and the day-to-day management of the business operations
of the Group, the role and duties of the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company are carried out by different
individuals.

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung is the chairman of the Board. The chairman
is responsible for strategic and business directions to the Board
and ensures its effectiveness in all aspects. The Chairman provides
leadership for the Board and ensures that the Company establishes
sound corporate governance practices and procedures. He also
encourages all the Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the affairs of the Board.
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Mr. Hui Ka Tsun is the chief executive officer of the Company.
The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for the
Company’s day-to-day management and operations and focuses
on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and
delegated by the Board.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Senior Management

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company
and takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives.
The Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. The Board directly, and indirectly through its
committees, leads and provides direction to the management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems
are in place.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities of the execution
of strategies and decision making for day-to-day operation and
administration functions of the Company to the management
team headed by the chief executive officer. The Board has set out
guidelines for management team as to when final authority should
rest with the Board and its prior approval should be obtained before
making decisions or entering into any commitments; issue of such
include but not limited to any proposed notifiable transactions,
connected transactions, significant investments, major business
decisions related to operation and business strategy, change of key
management of the Group and disclosure of inside information.
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Appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years, expiring at
the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter, unless terminated
by not less than three (3) months’ notice in writing served by either
party or by the payment of the equivalent of three (3) months
salary in lieu of such notice by either party, subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment pursuant to the Articles and
thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting at least once every three years according
to the provisions of the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws.

The non-executive Director was appointed for a specific term of
three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company. The
appointment of non-executive Director will continue thereafter until
terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ prior
written notice to the other or the payment of three-month salary in
lieu of notice.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, unless terminated by not less
than one-(1) month’ notice in writing served by either party and
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment pursuant
to the Articles and thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meeting at least once every three
years according to the provisions of the Articles, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at
each AGM one third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Such
retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board, including without
limitation by reviewing that the independent non-executive
Directors have appropriate qualifications and expertise from time
to time with sufficient time commitment to the Group, that the
number of independent non-executive Directors comply with the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, and that channels are
established (including without limitation by questionnaires or at
Board meetings) to assess and evaluate the independent non-
executive Directors’ contribution and views. The implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms will be reviewed by the
Board on an annual basis.
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Paragraph C.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the executive Directors and non-executive
Directors present. Although the chairman did not hold a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors, excluding the
executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year
ended 31 March 2024, he delegated the company secretary to
gather any concerns and/or questions that the independent non-
executive Directors might have and report to him for setting up
follow-up meetings, whenever necessary, in due course.

Relation of the Board Members

Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max is the son of Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung,
being an executive Director and the controlling shareholder of
the Company. Save as disclosed above, all Directors are no
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material
or relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Meeting of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board had convened
total 6 meetings, 3 of which are in regular nature. The attendance
record of individual Directors at the Board and committees’
meetings and general meetings are set out in page 60 of this
report. The Code provision C.5.1 stipulates that the board of
directors should meet regularly and board meeting should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.
During the year, due to the delay in publication of financial results
and suspension of trading in share of the Company, the Board
has not held board meetings at regular time intervals. During the
year, the Directors were provided with relevant information of the
Company regarding the operation and financial performance of
the Group. The Board has also made resolutions by circulation
of written resolutions for all the Directors’ execution from time to
time. Together with the circulation of written materials to keep the
Board informed throughout the year, sufficient measures had been
taken to ensure that there was efficient communication among
the Directors. The Board will endeavour to comply with the Code
provision C.5.1 going forward.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company provides all members of the Board
with monthly updates on the Group’s performance and financial
position.

The Directors are aware of the requirement under the paragraph
C.1.4 of the Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the year, the Directors reviewed the monthly business
and financial updates and other reading materials provided to
them concerning latest developments in corporate governance
practices and relevant legal and regulatory developments. A record
of the Directors’ participation in various continuous professional
development program is kept by the company secretary as below:
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Training
|
Attend Induction
Self-learning seminar training
BRI 2 g ABEIN
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung Bt v/ 4
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun FEBEE v v
(appointed on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEMAS+H
EZF)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max BHELE v v v
(appointed on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEMAS+H
EZF)
Dr. Jiang Yan =aigt v
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEMAS+H
BT
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FXFAEL v
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEMAS+H
BT
Mr. Liu Da Yong AKBEE 4

(resigned on 16 April 2024)

(R —EZmFEFYH+H
FH(T)
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Training
]|
Attend Induction
Self-learning seminar training

B2EE SMAE AR

Non-executive Director FERITES
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung EISHSE v/ 4
Ms. Tang Li EEZL v/
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEmE+H
FEE)
Independent non-executive BiERITES
Directors
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley wEELE v 4
(appointed on 29 February 2024) (R-EZFE—F =+
HEZT)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul WX EEEE v 4
(appointed on 29 February 2024) (R-EZFE—F =+
HEZT)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth FRERE v v 4
(appointed on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEmE -+ H
EBZH)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon b e v v v/
(appointed on 16 April 2024) (R ZEZmFEmE -+ H
EBZH)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming SEEEE 4
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R pFEm A+ H
FEE)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 88S, JP FERIE LA LS X THT v/
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (R pFEmA -+ H
FEE)

Directors’ insurance cover of legal action

Pursuant to code provision C.1.8 of the Code, the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors. Such directors’ liability insurance will be
reviewed and renewed annually. Upon the expiry of insurance cover
on 30 August 2020, the Company did not arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors as it
took time for the Company to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable
commercial terms and conditions.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Their respective terms of reference are set
out in the Company’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 11 August
2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph D.3.3
of the Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things, reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process and internal control systems, as well as the overall risk
management of the Group, reviewing the financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group, and
reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of audit work of the
external auditors.

The composition of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Chairman)

(Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, B5S, JrP

(resigned on 16 April 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung
Ms. Tang Li (resigned on 16 April 2024)
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The members of the Audit Committee possess diversified
industry experience and the chairman of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters. Following the appointment of independent
non-executive Directors on 29 February 2024, the Board has re-
complied with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules which requires
the audit committee to be chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and to comprise a minimum of 3 members and
at least one of whom is an independent non-executive Director
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required in Rule 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Summary of works

During the year, the Audit Committee has convened 3 meetings
to discuss and review the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2022, the first quarterly results for three months ended
30 June 2022, the interim results for the six months ended 30
September 2022, the third quarterly results for the nine months
ended 31 December 2022, the annual results for the year ended
31 March 2023, the first quarterly results for three months ended
30 June 2023 and the interim results for the six months ended
30 September 2023. Subsequent to the year ended 31 March
2024, the Audit Committee held one meeting and have reviewed
and recommended to the Board for approval of the annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2024. The Audit Committee is of
the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and that adequate disclosures
have been made.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
B.3.1 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying and
nomination of directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors, reviewing
the board diversity policy, reviewing the nomination policy and
reviewing and accessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Director and making recommendation if necessary.

The composition of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 29 February 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed on 29 February 2024
and resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS, JP
(Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Following the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
on 29 February 2024, the Board has re-complied with Rule 5.36A
of the GEM Listing Rules which requires the Company to establish
a nomination committee comprising a majority of independent non-
executive directors.
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Summary of work

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee
had convened 2 meetings to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
Independent non-executive Directors and considered the Directors
to retire and stand for re-election at the AGM. The Nomination
Committee has also reviewed the board diversity policy as set out
in the paragraph headed “Board Diversity Policy” above.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Qualified
candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for
Directors. The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and
process in the nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company; (ii) ensure that the Board of the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company; and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of the factors

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate to the Board,

including but not limited to the following:

(@)

(®)

50

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company; and

such other perspectives that am appropriate to the
Company'’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.
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Nomination Procedures

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and external recruitment
agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process vyields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.
Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of

the Nomination Policy and report to the Board when necessary.

Also, the Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination
Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and

approval.
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During the year, the Company reviewed its nomination policy for a
formal, considered and transparent procedure to help identifying
and nomination of candidates for Directors. All valid nomination
of candidates, accompanied with biographical details, would be
presented to the Board for consideration. Consideration would
be given to factors such as the candidate’s integrity, experience
and qualifications relevant to the Group’s business. It is believed
that members of the Nomination Committee collectively would
have required relevant knowledge and skills to identify, invite and
evaluate qualifications of nominated candidates for directorship.

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy on 30
August 2013 with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Group. The Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together
with the measurable objectives for implementing such policy and
the progress on achieving such objectives are disclosed below.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the importance of diversity in board
members to corporate governance and the board effectiveness.
The purposes of the Board Diversity Policy are to set out the
basic principles to be followed to ensure that (i) a diverse
range of candidates are considered; and (ii) the Board has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.
Board nomination and appointments will be made on merit basis
based on its business needs from time to time while taking into
account the benefits of diversity. The Company has identified
and implemented programs that will assist in the development
of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for senior
management and board positions.

RAFE  ARBEUER - BEKRERANEF
5 B B BUR BB R iR R B R R IE
AOFH%@%)\E&&E’\J}E%%H%}_%\EH%?E
REFEER - RFERBIEEAGIE K5
HAEEEBAERNEESRE - }E%KEE
BY Bl 8 H [ 58 7% i 55 22 B i 1R BE B9 RN 8t e %2
FELGH A B RHLERBRESFHEEANE
1 o

EFZEMEZTIERE

KABIERZE—=FNB=1+HENES
EREL T EEER EEERAERIFES
@T?§@°$@E?ﬁ%$§ﬁ5?ﬁ%mfb%§

ZIEHEEENUFEZENRRERR
—FK?&” EEEENEEZ T EBEHRE UKRE
BRI st2BEUREBRZEEZZE
Eo

EFEHEZTILHELE

ARBBAEFENEZTIEHEEELRR
EFETZANNERZM -EFENEZ T
BREEINEHERRR > LIFER()E BIREA
2t R(INESEHIMEEREE KUK
RAENZTIEHEEZNBER TS EMEA
EXFEHNANEFIRESEENEEER
KF-BEFEMENRGASZEUBAMES
R LUAENEFERSERE TEEE
SENEZTENEm - A AT EREL B
SR RAMRIBEEREZ EZ bz Ak
RiEBEBEZREE  BRFZEERAREDS
REEEMREEGRAMTERS-

hEFESRIZERARAS 2023/2024 i 53



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

Measurable objectives

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model
and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience. The ultimate decision shalll
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
shall bring to the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

()  Independence:

The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong element of
independence in the Board. The independent non-executive
Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their views
to carry weight.

(i)  Skills and experience:

The Board possesses a balance of skills appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The
Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with
considerable experience in a range of activities.

Workforce Diversity

The gender ratios in the workforce by categories of employees
are set out in the section headed “B1: Employment” in the
Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) Report in this Annual
Report. The Board considers that gender diversity is currently
achieved and is committed to maintain gender diversity in respect
of the workforce level.
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Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, developing and reviewing measurable objectives
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and monitoring
the progress on achieving these measurable objectives. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of
the Board.

During the year, the Nomination Committee considered and
reviewed the board diversity policy and the director nomination
policy of the Company, with recommendations to the Board for
approval.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
E.1.2 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among other things, formulating and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy, determining the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.

The Company adopts the remuneration policy to its Directors as
disclosed in the section headed “Remuneration Policy” in this
Directors’ report.
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The composition of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Chairman)
(Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed on 29 February 2024 and
resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, B8S, JP
(Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Following the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
on 29 February 2024, the Board has re-complied with the terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee which requires the
Company to establish a remuneration committee with at least three
members.

Summary of work

During the year, the Remuneration Committee had convened 2
meetings to consider the revision of Directors’ remuneration and
the remuneration packages of all the Directors, reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package
of the proposed Directors in accordance with the Remuneration
Committee’s written terms of reference.
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Risk Management Committee

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 15
June 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and the Code.

The main duties of the Risk Management Committee include,
among other things, reviewing the risk management system
of the Group; assessing the risks from major decisions and to
consider solutions for significant risk; monitoring the Group’s
risk profile; reviewing and monitor emerging risks relating to the
Group’s business and strategies; having periodic assessment on
the Group’s risk profile and risk management capabilities; and
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.

The composition of the Risk Management Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Chairman) (Appointed as member on
29 February 2024 and redesignated as Chairman on
16 April 2024)
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed as Chairman on
29 February 2024 and redesignated as member on
16 April 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, B8S, JP
(Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Following the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
on 29 February 2024, the Board has re-complied with the terms of
reference of the Risk Management Committee which requires the
Company to establish a risk management committee with at least
three members.
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Summary of work

The Risk Management Committee should meet at least once a
year to consider major investigation findings on risk management
matters and the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks. During the year, the Risk Management
Committee had convened one meeting to consider the risk
assessment of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company has not established any committee responsible
for the corporate governance function of the Group and the
function has been collectively performed by the Board. The
Board acknowledges the overseeing of the corporate governance
function by the Board collectively. The Board is responsible for the
corporate governance functions with the following duties:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
changes and updating;

e toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

e to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

e such other corporate governance duties and functions set

out in the Code (as amended from time to time) for which the
Board are responsible.
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The Board has reviewed and approved the Corporate Governance
Report set out in this report. The Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, and the Company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year, and Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written notice
of such meetings. For any ad hoc Board meetings, Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonably practicable in those
circumstances. Agendas and accompanying papers are sent not
less than 3 days before the date of Board meetings to ensure that
the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft and
final versions of minutes of regular board meetings are circulated
to all directors for their comment and records respectively. All
Directors are kept informed in a timely manner of major changes
that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules and
regulations. The Board also understands where potential conflicts
of interests arise, the independent non-executive Directors shall
take the lead the physical meetings in discussing the relevant
transactions being contemplated when there is a Director or any
of his associates having a material interest in the transactions and
shall abstain from voting. All directors, in the discharge of their
duties, are allowed to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the
Company.

The Code provision C.5.1 stipulates that the board of directors
should meet regularly and board meeting should be held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Paragraph
C.1.6 of the Code requires that independent non-executive
directors and non-executive directors shall generally attend
general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. During the year, due to the delay in
publication of financial results and suspension of trading in share
of the Company, the Board has failed to hold board meetings at
regular time intervals and failed to hold the annual general meeting
within the time prescribed by the Rule 18.03 of GEM Listing
Rules and the Company’s Articles. The Board is of the view that
the aforesaid delays are one-off incidents and that the aforesaid
matters had been/will be rectified eventually and the Company
will endeavour to comply with the Code provision C.5.1 and C.1.6
going forward.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board and committees’
meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 March 2024

are set out below: HBUWT
Risk
Audit Nomination Remuneration ~ Management General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee meeting
28 ENREY Re%8g  §NZ8f EREEZSE BRRAE
Number of meetings BERY 6 3 2 2 1 0
Executive Directors BiEs
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung BERLE 6/6 = 22 = = =
M. Hui Ka Toun (appointed on 16 Apii 2024)  #28%&%E (K -FE =M - - - - - -
BE+ HEZE)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max BREAE R oE-pmE - - - - - -
(appointed on 16 April 2024) BB+ HEZT)
Dr. Jiang Yan (resigned on 16 April 2024) ZEBT (R -F-mE 6/6 = 22 = = S
B+ Bt
Dr. Li Yong Sheng resigned on 16 April 2024)  EXFEL (K- F_HE 6/6 - 2/2 - - -
BA+ A
Mr. Liu Da Yong (resigned on 16 Apri 2024) URBEE (RZE-HF 6/6 = = = = =
B+ A#HE)
Non-executive Directors FanES
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung Bty 6/6 3/3 - - - -
Ms. Tang Li fresigned on 16 April 2024) EEYT (R -E-mEmA 0/6 03 = = = S
FB#E)
Independent non-executive Directors BiuknmEs
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (aopointed on 29 BEERE RZE-HE - - - - - -
February 2024) B+ AEER)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul BNELE (RZF-HE - - - - - -
(appointed on 29 February 2024) ZAZ+AHEER)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth IRERE K EmE - - - - - -
(appointed on 16 April 2024) B+ HEZE)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (gopointed on 16 Aprl - RIEBREE (K- £ -4 - - - - - -
2024) AF 17 HEE)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (resigned on 16 Apri 2024)  2EI#%ESE (K —E-M#E 6/6 33 22 2/2 1N S
B+ Bt
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, 885, P FEREY wenes t 24t 6/6 33 22 22 1N -
(resigned on 16 April 2024) (HZEZRERS+7~H
##)
Average attendance rate FHEE 87.5% 75% 100% 100% 100% -
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs,
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with relevant law
and disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in
“Independent Auditors’ Report” section on pages 153 and 164 of
this report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor, during the year ended 31 March 2024
amounted to HK$0.65 million.

RISK MANAGEMENT ANS INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. To
this end, the Board oversees and approves the Group’s risk
management and internal control strategies and policies, which
are aimed at evaluating and determining the nature and extent of
the risks that are compatible with the Group’s strategic objectives
and risk appetite, with main purpose for provision of reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss rather than
absolute elimination of the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for establishing
and maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The risk management
and internal control measures are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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In June 2016, the Group has established a risk management
framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
Risk Management Committee and the senior management of the
Group. The Board determines the nature and the extent of risks
that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives
and has the overall responsibilities for monitoring the design,
implementation and the overall effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems
at least annually, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls.

Risk Management Philosophy

Risk taking is a necessary and accepted part of the Company’s
business. Effectively managing risk is a competitive necessity
and an integral part of creating shareholder value through good
business practices designed to ensure that the Company achieves
its strategic, business and governance objectives, and protects
its corporate reputation, values and integrity. Risk management
applies to all aspects of the Company’s business and forms a
critical part of developing strategic plans, preparing operational
plans and budgets, completing detailed project approval requests
and designing and managing project plans.

Risk Management Process

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects (if any). Senior management is responsible for the annual
risk reporting process. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned
and mitigation plans are documented. The risk assessment
is reviewed by certain members of senior management and
presented to the Risk Management Committee and the Board
for their review. Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.
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Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

e Risk elimination — senior management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate
the risk entirely.

¢ Risk mitigation — senior management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or
the severity of the risk to an acceptable level.

e Risk retention — senior management may decide that the
risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for the
Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

Reporting, monitoring and evaluating are essential and integral
parts of managing risk. Senior management has established an
annual risk reporting process to gather risk issues affecting the
Company. A risk template has been developed to assist in the
identification, documentation, assessment and management of risk
exposures.

Review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system

The Risk Management Committee met at least annually during
the year and reported to the Board for assessment. Key risks are
identified and their responsive mitigating controls are documented
in the risk registers and report to the Bard by the Risk Management
Committee.

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board
has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The
situation will be reviewed from time to time.
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The Board has engaged Redford Business Advisory Services
Limited as its risk management and internal control review
adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 March 2024. Such review is conducted annually and cycles
reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management. The Board/Audit Committee are of
the view that there are no material internal control defeats noted.
All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

Inside information policy

The Company recognises the significance of consistent practices
of fair disclosure with the aim of disclosing inside information in a
timely and accurate manner. The Company has a policy with regard
to the principles and procedures for handling and disseminating the
Company’s inside information in compliance with the requirements
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571
of the laws of Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules, and such
policy has been communicated to the relevant senior executives
of the Group. Company Secretary works closely with senior
executives in identifying potential inside information and assess
the materiality thereof, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on further
action(s) complying with the applicable laws and regulations.

64 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

EXEECRFAEEESARFTARAIR
HEREERANEEIZEEZER (TR -8
BE_E_NE=A=+—HLEFENRR
EERAREERMETEFESR KBRS
FET—R EREHRBWRET BZHE
EHEKEFTRERME -BEEREZE
EEREEERESHEERKRBEENM
BoBEEG BRZEGRER UAFEERX
P BRI RFE - BRRIIR M BIPR B B B & 19/
AEBZERE  UERENGERFBRIFE
ZE-HI EFERREAREERANEREE
RAMARD -

AREHEER

RABFRMERMFHATRBEIFTEE B2
RERKEBEMNERNREE - ARTEHR
STHEEAMEALNTANREENRAKRE
T RadBEfET1ER S RAEHRAISE
XIVABB R:GEM_ETHRAIBIARE » KA EERIE
HERTHASCENGHBARR - ATME
HSRITRABRESE #EBETAEHR
RFGEESEMN  TEBEE BRI MREFER
EREFEND RMREE—F1TE UT
BEANERES



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEELARS

In prevention of premature leakage of inside information, the
Company has taken all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure proper preservation of confidentiality of inside information
until disclosure to the general public, including inter alia:

e restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentially;

e appropriate confidentiality agreements are put in place when
entering into any significant negotiations;

e inclusion of a strict prohibition on the unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee code of conduct;
and

e policy is issued to all employees annually reminding their
duties and obligations in respect of any dealings in the listed
securities of the Company as well as its subsidiaries and
associated corporations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (BR1&f%), aged 41, joined the Group as
Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer on 23 May 2024.
Mr. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a Chartered Governance Professional and
Chartered Company Secretary, as well as a member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute. He graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a Master’s Degree in Corporate
Governance and a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy.
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Mr. Chan has served as a corporate financial consultant for various
Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China and overseas listed
and private companies since 2018. In the past, he had held
chief finance in-charge positions in two listed companies on the
Mainboard of Singapore Stock Exchange (“SGX-ST”) for 9 years.
Between 2011 to 2020, he has been the chief financial officer
at Sino Grandness Food Industry Group Limited (2020), and
Chief Financial Officer and company secretary at China Flexible
Packaging Holdings Limited (between 2011 to 2018). Prior to these
roles and positions, he had worked at an international audit firm,
BDO Limited in Hong Kong from 2007 to 2011 as an auditor.

In the past 5 years, Mr. Chan had previously served as an
independent non-executive director for various listed companies
including (i) Jlogo Holdings Limited (listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange Limited (“SEHK”); code: 8527.HK) from March to
May 2024; (i) GS Holdings Limited (listed on SGX-ST; code: 43A.
Sl) from 2019 to 2022 (jiii) Universe Printshop Holdings Limited
(listed on the SEHK; code: 8448.HK) from 2017 to 2022; and (iv)
Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited
(previously listed on SEHK: code 8301.HK and delisted from 6
December 2021) from 2020 to 2021. He had also served as a non-
executive director for Raffles Financial Group Limited (listed on the
Canadian Securities Exchange; code: RICH.CNSX) from 2020 to
2021.Apart from above, Mr. Chan held no directorships in any listed
public companies in the last three years.

The company secretary took more than 15 hours’ professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2024. Reporting to the
chairman and chief executive officer, the company secretary
plays an important role in ensuring proper Board procedures are
tailored to the Company’s business needs and compliance with all
applicable laws, rule and regulations. The Directors could obtain
advices and services from the company secretary for any updates
and developments in corporate governance, applicable laws and
regulations when necessary.
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The company secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is
responsible for preparing the meeting agenda, serving notice to
the Board at least 14 days before the regular meetings or at a
reasonable time for other ad-hoc meetings, and providing relevant
Board papers to Directors at least 3 days before the meetings, so
as to ensure that the Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner for effective
and informed decision making.

The company secretary also ensures that the Board meetings are
convened and constituted in accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and the procedural requirements set out in the articles
of association at all times. In addition, the company secretary
will take minutes of the meetings and circulate them to Directors
for comments at a reasonable time after the meetings. After
incorporating Directors’ comments, the executed version of the
minutes will be maintained by the company secretary and be open
for Directors’ inspection during normal office hours.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board believes that general meetings can provide an
open forum for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend general
meetings of the Company and give valuable advices to the
Company through this direct communication platform. The
Company will convene AGM every year and convene any other
extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) as required.
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The way in which Shareholders can convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than 10% of
the issued share capital at the time of deposit of the requisition
and carrying the right of voting at general meeting can deposit
a written request to convene an EGM.

The written request must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned and deposited to the
Board or the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business at Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial
Building, 28 On Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories, and
may consist of several documents in like form each signed by
one or more Shareholders. The request will be verified with
the Company’s share registrar and upon its confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the company secretary
will notify the Board to convene an EGM and include the
resolution in the agenda. The Board shall convene and hold
such general meeting within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the request is verified to be not in order,
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the result and no
EGM will be convened.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such general meeting, the Shareholders
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM,
but any EGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the said date.
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The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board
may write to the Company’s investor relationship contact
at Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial Building, 28 On
Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories, by phone on
+852 3104 2962 or by email at cnc@cnctv.hk.

The procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

To put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, the
Shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals
with the detail contact information to the company secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website.
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The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. Paragraph C.1.6
of the Code requires that independent non-executive directors
and non-executive directors shall generally attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Paragraph F.2.2 of the Code
requires the chairman of the board and chairmen of the audit,
remuneration, nomination and other committees to attend
the annual general meeting. During the year, due to the delay
in publication of financial results and suspension of trading in
share of the Company, the Company failed to hold the annual
general meeting within the time prescribed by the Rule 18.03
of GEM Listing Rules and the Company’s Bye-laws. The Board
is of the view that the aforesaid delays are one-off incidents
and that the aforesaid matters had been/will be rectified
eventually and the Company will endeavour to comply with the
Code provision C.1.6 and F.2.2 going forward.

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company is set out on page 60 of this report.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s corporate website is www.cnctv.hk. The Company
may from time to time conduct investor/analysts briefings and
presentations, roadshows, media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc.

All corporate communication materials published on the GEM
website (http://www.hkgem.com) are posted on the Company’s
corporate website as soon as practicable after their release. The
Company’s constitutional documents are also available on our
website. On 31 May 2024, the proposed amendments by way
of adoption of a new amended and restated memorandum of
association (the “Amended and Restated Memorandum”) and
amended and restated articles of association (the “Amended and
Restated Articles”, together with the Amended and Restated
Memorandum, the “Amended and Restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association”) in substitution for and to the exclusion
of, the existing Memorandum and Articles of Association was
approved at the extraordinary general meeting. Apart from this, no
significant changes were made to these documents during the year
ended 31 March 2024. Information on our website will be updated
on a regular basis.

The Board was satisfied with the review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the communication with the shareholders, which
could effectively provide a two-way communication platform by the
Company with the investors and shareholders by way of regular
meetings and timely update of the Company’s financial results and
developments.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector in Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of business activities of the Group,
including a business review of the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found
in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 17
to 29 and Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out
on pages 95 to 152 of this annual report. This discussion forms
part of this directors’ report. Description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group can be found throughout this annual
report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Five Year Financial
Summary from pages 299 to 300 and Financial Highlights on
pages on 3 to 4 respectively of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to implementing policies
and measures in our daily business operations to foster reduction
of the Group’s environmental impact. Detail information regarding
the environmental, social and governance practices adopted by
the Group are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 95 to 152 of this report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well
as the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options and share award scheme
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations and subject to the Articles of Association
of the Company. Subject to compliance with applicable laws,
rules, regulations and the Articles of Association, in deciding
whether to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, among other things, the financial results, the earnings and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines, and the
current and future development plans of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 165 to 166 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 23 September 2024 to Thursday, 26 September 2024,
both days inclusive. During this period, no transfer of Shares will
be registered. In order to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20
September 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 30 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 169 of this report and note 40 to the Financial Statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not make any
charitable donations.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s distributable reserves,
including the share premium account, calculated under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman lIslands, amounted to approximately
HK$318.6 million in deficit.
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CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the convertible notes of the Group are set out in note 28
to the Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and financial position for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 299 to 300 of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s revenue, subcontracting costs
and purchases of raw materials attributable to the Group’s major
customers, subcontractors and suppliers respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2024 is as follows:

QL E S

AEERZ P RREFERFIBHNMBRRME
280

MEBHE

AEENBERERMBEERNEGERMBIR
I EH I ARG H299E EHEI00E ©
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BE_Z_NF=A=+—HLEE &x&H

ZWaE s D ERA KRR EHRBEGAEER T
EXER - DEBEREEENEDLEIRMT :

Revenue Yz

The largest customer RAER 31.6%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREF AT 80.9%
Subcontracting costs bR D %N

The largest subcontractor RADEH 31.5%
Five largest subcontractors in aggregate ARDBEEEM 59.7%
Purchases of raw materials (Notes) EEBEME (752)

The largest supplier BRAMER 41.2%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEE SN 77.7%

During the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

Notes:

Total purchases of raw materials by the Group included purchases of raw
materials by main contractors for the Group’s use in carrying out waterworks
engineering services as a subcontractor for respective contracts. However,
the suppliers from which main contractors purchased the raw materials were
not included as the suppliers of the Group as the Group did not have direct
relationship with these suppliers.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are set
out in note 38 to the Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Chairman)
(Redesignated as Chairman on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Hui Ka Tsun (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Kan Chun Ting Max (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Jiang Yan (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung
Ms. Tang Li (Resigned on 16 April 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (Appointed on 29 February 2024)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip Kenneth (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Lai Ah Ming Leon (Appointed on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming (Resigned on 16 April 2024)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron, BBS, JP

(Resigned on 16 April 2024)
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Following the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors on 29 February 2024, the Board has re-complied with
(i) Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules which requires the Board
to include at least 3 independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise; (i) Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules which requires the Company to appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board;
(i) Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules which requires the audit
committee to be chaired by an independent non-executive
Director and to comprise a minimum of 3 members and at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required in Rule 5.05(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules; (iv) Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules
which requires the Company to establish a nomination committee
comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that all Directors and
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

N _E_NE_RB -+ A BZEEBILIENT
BEXB EFTECEMET() GEMLMHRAE
505 ZIRRETEETEBEERL =B
FHITES MEFPRLV—RBEIFRIITES
EREEEEEERA BT NEEMT BEE
EXHH () GEM_ LT FRA 55.00A % » ZEHR
ERABEZENBILERITESTAGEEY
BB ABRLDV=722— ;i) GEMEMRAIE
5.8 RE  ZEREBZEEG AR LB
VIFHITESEEERE LERRLD=ZEZME
A MEARD—ELREBABIUIFERNTE
= WHEABGEM EMRAFE5.052) KR E
HNEEEXERN SN HAM B EESREE
e 5 (vIGEM E T #R Bl 855.36A1% » 5218 3R E A&
NEVENRIIIRLZE G MEBBMUEIIIERT
BEEMHAZHC

BIFRTEZT 2RISR

AAFBERERSBUFATEFREGEMLE
M ARASE5.09F M EIE L 517 Pt M F ERE
BE-AABRR PREBILUFATESFTHTS
B ANLe

BT BEMRERX

FABZEBERMARE  2BEFRER
AEEAS HRRAATNEEKRNBER
WE ZEATRSENEBANTHR SR
EFr R EERNERHNERMBERIRR
WFrEHA-ER - WEB - IBR - BEKRMAZ
AIERRRILZEMRE-

hEMETRERARAT 2023/2024 &35 71



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EETHRS

Upon the expiry of the previous insurance cover in year 2020, the
Company did not arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against its Directors as it took time for the Company
to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable commercial terms and
conditions.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years, expiring at
the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter, unless terminated
by not less than three (38) months’ notice in writing served by either
party or by the payment of the equivalent of three (3) months
salary in lieu of such notice by either party, subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment pursuant to the Articles and
thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting at least once every three years according
to the provisions of the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws.

The non-executive Director was appointed for a specific term of
three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company. The
appointment of non-executive Director will continue thereafter until
terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ prior
written notice to the other or the payment of three-month salary in
lieu of notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, unless terminated by not less
than one-(1) month’ notice in writing served by either party and
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment pursuant
to the Articles and thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and
reelection at annual general meeting at least once every three years
according to the provisions of the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable laws.
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None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this report are
set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages
30 to 33 of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group was entered into or existed during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration is determined with reference to the nature of
job, performance, qualifications and experience of individual
employees, as well as the result of the Group and the market trend.
The Group carries out staff performance appraisal once a year and
the assessment result is used for salary reviews and promotion
decisions. The Group recognises the importance of staff training
and thus regularly provides internal and external training for its staff
to enhance their skills and knowledge.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities of each Director, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the prevailing market
conditions.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the
Financial Statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations in the
PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by
the relevant local government authorities in the PRC whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit
Scheme at a certain rate of the standard wages determined by the
relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and the
Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the existing levels
of contributions. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was no
forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement
Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

Particulars of the pension schemes are set out in note 14 to the
Financial Statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 11 August 2010. The share
option scheme expired on 10 August 2020. No share options have
been granted pursuant to the share option scheme during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The Board has resolved to propose the adoption of a new share
option scheme for the approval by the shareholders of the
Company. The purpose of the new share option scheme is to
provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interest.

The new share option scheme will constitute a share option
scheme under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board
will propose the new share option scheme for shareholders’
approval at a general meeting of the Company to be convened in
due course for the purposes of, among other things, seeking the
approval from the shareholders of the Company for the adoption
of the share option scheme and authorising the Board to grant the
share options pursuant to the share option scheme and to allot and
issue the shares of the Company pursuant to the exercise of the
share options. As at the date of this report, the new share option
scheme remains subject to the obtaining of () the approval from the
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the Company
to be convened in due course; and (i) the approval from the Stock
Exchange for the listing and trading of any Shares to be issued
under the share options that may be granted under the new share
option scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in the Shares:

EERETETHRABREF AR REMREX
B9 B {5 ~ AR R AR 15 B 15 1 55 B 1 ma e 3¢
B

AR MNFE=ZA=+—HB BEFERAREE

EITBABRARBIHEEH EZE (TERFE
%5 R AR E R B SEXVER) B MK ~ BRI R E
PR AREE S KPS RAEXVEE
TR FEBDEHR G AN B R B R PTEIE m R K A
(BIEREBEIZSRPERINBREAEXHES
WEMFRRIEREENERD RXE) ; WREE
% R BRE R E352F A Bk I0 s% IR FT i & 52
MR R X E ; HIREGEM EH#RA555.46
BRATMEBEBEETRZNREREBANGTEAR
B REGRFTRR R R KRBT -

RRGNEE :

Percentage of
aggregate
interests to

Number of total issued

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held share capital
MEDIERER

BRITREMN

e 81 #mE Fr¥siR{n 8B Bt
Mr. Kan (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 1,257,621,377 31.01%

L (Hat) IR N &
Notes:

Mr. Kan is the sole beneficial owner of Shunleetat, which was interested in
1,257,621,377 Shares. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Shunleetat.
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2024,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or are deemed to have, interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group
or who/which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO with details as follows:
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Long position in the Shares:

RGNS :

Number of Number of underlying Shares under
Shares held convertible notes (\ofe g
FrisiRin 8B ABRREET ZEBRGEE (za)
Percentage of
aggregate
interests to
Interest total issued
Beneficial Beneficial in controlled share capital
owner owner corporation Total interests (Note ¢)
BREELEET
RS BRALYERL
Name 215 BHEEAA HEAA EEZ R il 4 (Hizte)
Shunleetat Shunleetat 1,257,621,377 - - 1,257,621,377 31.01%
China Xinhua NNC THEHENEERE - 1,311,378,622 - 1,311,378,622 32.34%
(Note b)
(Miztb)
TR ENEE R FERENEEREERAT - - 1,311,378,622 1,311,378,622 32.34%
HIR/AF (‘CNC China’) (THEFENEERE (Note b)
(FRED) 1) (Miztb)
Notes: =t

(@) Details of the convertible notes were set out in the circulars of the
Company dated 19 November 2011, 6 January 2015, 17 January 2018,
16 January 2019, 18 May 2021 and 15 March 2024.

(o)  China Xinhua NNC is wholly and beneficially owned by CNC China.
Accordingly, CNC China is deemed to be interested in 1,311,378,622
underlying Shares held by China Xinhua NNC under the SFO.

(c) The percentage of aggregate interests to total issued share capital is
calculated based on the number of shares in issue as at the 31 March
2024 (i.e. 4,055,349,947 Shares).

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any other person/entity (other than the
Directors or chief executive as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above) who which had, or is deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or who which were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group or who/which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year
or subsisting at the end of the year and up to date of this report are
set out below:

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes with
the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000, carried
interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Company
Limited. Each note entitles the holder to convert to ordinary shares
at a conversion price of approximately HK$0.196 per share.
Conversion may occur at any time between 9 December 2011
and 8 December 2014. If the notes have not been converted, the
Company would redeem on 9 December 2014 at the outstanding
principal amount. Interest of 5% per annum would be paid annually
until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the first
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain terms
and conditions of the convertible notes (the “Existing Convertible
Bonds”), where (i) the maturity date of the outstanding convertible
notes with outstanding principal amount of HK$277,030,210 was
extended for 3 years and the conversion period was accordingly
extended for 3 years to 9 December 2017; and (ii) the interest rate
of the convertible notes was amended from 5% per annum to 3%
per annum for the extended period, being from 9 December 2014
to 9 December 2017. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms
remained unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the
Company will redeem on 9 December 2017 at the outstanding
principal amount. Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually
until the notes are converted or redeemed.

R 2o 14 £ 177 5
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On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the Existing Convertible Bonds, where the maturity
date of the outstanding convertible notes with outstanding
principal amount of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year
and the conversion period was accordingly extended for 1 year to
9 December 2018. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms
remained unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the
Company will redeem on 9 December 2018 at the outstanding
principal amount. Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually
until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the Existing Convertible Bonds, where the maturity
date of the outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal
amount of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 2 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended for 2 years to 9
December 2020. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms
remained unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the
Company will redeem on 9 December 2020 at the outstanding
principal amount. Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually
until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the Existing Convertible Bonds, where the maturity
date of the outstanding convertible notes with outstanding
principal amount of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year
and the conversion period was accordingly extended for 1 year to
9 December 2021. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms
remained unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the
Company will redeem on 9 December 2021 at the outstanding
principal amount. Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually
until the notes are converted or redeemed.
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On 5 February 2024, the Company entered into the fifth
supplemental deed (the “Fifth Supplemental Deed ”) with the
holder of the outstanding Existing Convertible Bonds, pursuant
to which the maturity date of the outstanding Existing Convertible
Bonds was extended to 9 December 2025. The interest rate of
the Existing Convertible Bonds shall be retrospectively reduced
from 3% to 0.8% per annum from 10 December 2021 to 9
December 2025. The fifth amendments of terms and conditions
had been approved by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and the shareholder of the Company. Further details of the Fifth
Supplemental Deed of convertible bonds were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 15 January 2024 and 5
February 2024 and the circular (the “Circular”) of the Company
dated 15 March 2024. The holder of the Existing Convertible
Bonds is mandatorily required to convert the outstanding principal
amount of the Existing Convertible Bonds as at 9 December
2025 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Fifth
Supplemental Deed.

On 15 April 2024, the Company issued certain convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds A”) in the principal amount of
HK$64,127,855, which are convertible into 327,182,933 shares
due on 9 December 2025 at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.196 per conversion share. The issue of the Convertible
Bonds A had been approved by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and the shareholder of the Company. Further details
of the Convertible Bonds A were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 15 January 2024 and 5 February 2024 and
the Circular. The holder of the Convertible Bonds A is mandatorily
required to convert the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds A as at 9 December 2025 in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the subscription agreement in respect
of the Convertible Bonds A. The conversion price has been
adjusted to HK$19.6 per conversion share after the effective date
of share consolidation on 19 June 2024.
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On 15 April 2024, the Company issued certain convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds B”) in the principal amount of
HK$16,240,000, which are convertible into 82,857,142 shares due
on 9 December 2025 at the initial conversion price of HK$0.196
per conversion share. The issue of the Convertible Bonds B had
been approved by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
the shareholder of the Company. Further details of the Convertible
Bonds B were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 15 January 2024 and 5 February 2024 and the Circular.
The holder of the Convertible Bonds B is mandatorily required
to convert the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds B as at 9 December 2025 in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the subscription agreement in respect of the
Convertible Bonds B. The conversion price has been adjusted to
HK$19.6 per conversion share after the effective date of share
consolidation on 19 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates including spouses and children under 18
years of age was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any
right to acquire Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, or had exercised any such right during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
March 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024 and as at the date of
this report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into following connected
transactions:

M

(i)

(i)

On 5 February 2024, the Company, as issuer and the Mr.
Kan Kwok Cheung, an executive director and the shareholder
of the Company, as subscriber, entered into the share
subscription agreement, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Mr. Kan
Kwok Cheung has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, an
aggregate of 1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share
subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription share at a
total consideration of HK$20,000,000. The allotment and
issuance of subscription share has been completed on 15
April 2024.

On 5 February 2024, the Company, as issuer, and
China Xinhua NNC, as bondholder, entered into the Fifth
Supplemental Deed to amend certain terms of the Existing
Convertible Bonds to which the maturity date of the
outstanding Existing Convertible Bonds was extended to 9
December 2025. The interest rate of the Existing Convertible
Bonds shall be retrospectively reduced from 3% to 0.8% per
annum from 10 December 2021 to 9 December 2025. The
Fifth Supplemental Deed took effect on 15 April 2024.

On 5 February 2024, the Company, as issuer, and China
Xinhua NNGC, as subscriber, entered into the convertible bonds
subscription agreement (the “CB Subscription Agreement
A”), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to issue, and China Xinhua NNC has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, the Convertible Bonds A in the principal amount
of HK$64,127,855 due on 9 December 2025 at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.196 per Conversion Share. The
completion of the issuance of the Convertible Bonds A took

place on 15 April 2024.
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(ivy On 5 February 2024, the Company, as issuer, and China
Xinhua NNC, as subscriber, entered into the convertible bonds
subscription agreement (the “CB Subscription Agreement
B”), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to issue, and China Xinhua NNC has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, the Convertible Bonds B in the principal amount
of HK$16,240,000 due on 9 December 2025 at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.196 per Conversion Share. The
completion of the issuance of the Convertible Bonds B took
place on 15 April 2024.

GEM LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS
()  Share Subscription

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung is an executive Director and
shareholder of the Company, and is therefore a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the share subscription constitutes
a connected transaction on the part of the Company and
is subject to the reporting, announcement, circular and
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(i) Convertible Bonds

Pursuant to Rule 34.05 of the GEM Listing Rules, any
alteration in the terms of convertible debt securities after issue
must be approved by the Stock Exchange, except where the
alteration takes effect automatically under the existing terms
of such convertible debt securities. The Company has applied
to the Stock Exchange for its approval of the Fifth Amendment
of Terms contemplated under the Fifth Supplemental Deed
pursuant to Rule 34.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. China
Xinhua NNC is a substantial Shareholder at the date of
entering into the Fifth Supplemental Deed, CB Subscription
Agreement A and CB Subscription Agreement B and therefore
a connected person of the Company under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, the (1) entering into of
Fifth Supplemental Deed with China Xinhua NNC; and (2) the
issue of the Convertible Bonds A and Convertible Bonds B
to China Xinhua NNC, constitute connected transactions
on the part of the Company and is subject to the reporting,
announcement, circular and Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling

Shareholders and their respective associates has any other conflict

of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out

in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 34 to 71

of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 5 February 2024, the Company, as issuer and the Mr.
Kan Kwok Cheung, an executive director and the shareholder
of the Company, as subscriber, entered into the share
subscription agreement, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the Mr. Kan
Kwok Cheung has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, an
aggregate of 1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share
subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription share at a
total consideration of HK$20,000,000. The share subscription
has been completed on 15 April 2024. The gross and net
proceeds from Share Subscription are HK$20,000,000
and approximately HK$19,900,000, respectively, of which
(i) HK$10,355,700 has been used for the repayment of its
outstanding indebtedness of the Group which includes (a)
an amount of HK$2,008,844 due to Xinhua News Agency
Audio News Desk GFEZZF L),
owned subsidiary of Xinhua News Agency (#i#tt)and a
fellow subsidiary of the China Xinhua NNC; and (b) part of
outstanding broadcasting fee in the amount of HK$8,346,856

being a wholly-

owed to the China Xinhua NNC as a service provider to
the Group; and (i) the remaining amount of approximately
HK$9,500,000 will be used for the general working capital of
the Group.
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(i)

(i)

92

On 5 February 2024, the Company, as issuer, and China
Xinhua NNC, as holder of the Existing Convertible Bonds,
entered into the Fifth Supplemental Deed to amend certain
terms of the Existing Convertible Bonds to which the maturity
date of the outstanding Existing Convertible Bonds was
extended to 9 December 2025. The interest rate of the
Existing Convertible Bonds shall be retrospectively reduced
from 3% to 0.8% per annum from 10 December 2021 to 9
December 2025. A. The Fifth Supplemental Deed has been
approved by independent shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 8 April 2024 and the
Stock Exchange. Fifth Supplemental Deed took effect on 15
April 2024.

On 15 April 2024, the Company issued the Convertible Bonds
A in the principal amount of HK$64,127,855, which are due
on 9 December 2025.Further details of the Convertible Bonds
A were set out in the announcements of the Company dated
15 January 2024 and 5 February 2024 and the Circular. The
holder of the Convertible Bonds A is mandatorily required to
convert the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds A as at 9 December 2025 in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the subscription agreement in respect of the
Convertible Bonds A at initial conversion price of HK$0.196
per conversion share. The conversion price has been adjusted
to HK$19.6 per conversion share after the effective date
of share consolidation on 19 June 2024. The issuance of
Convertible Bonds A has been approved by independent
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company on 8 April 2024 and the Stock Exchange. The
completion of the issuance of the Convertible Bonds A took
place on 15 April 2024.
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(iv)

On 15 April 2024, the Company issued the Convertible Bonds
B in the principal amount of HK$16,240,000, which are due
on 9 December 2025. Further details of the Convertible Bonds
B were set out in the announcements of the Company dated
15 January 2024 and 5 February 2024 and the Circular. The
holder of the Convertible Bonds B is mandatorily required to
convert the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds B as at 9 December 2025 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the subscription agreement in respect
of the Convertible Bonds B at initial conversion price of
HK$0.196 per conversion share. The conversion price has
been adjusted to HK$19.6 per conversion share after the
effective date of share. The issuance of Convertible Bonds
B has been approved by independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 8 April 2024
and the Stock Exchange. The completion of the issuance of
the Convertible Bonds B took place on 15 April 2024.

On 15 April 2024, the Board resolved to approve the change
of the English name and dual foreign name in Chinese of the
Company from “CNC Holdings Limited A1El#r#E E R &
BE/AT]” to “Tsun Yip Holdings Limited &2 Z=R AR A
B)”. The proposed change of name has been approved by
shareholders at extraordinary general meeting of the Company
on 31 May 2024. The Certificate of Incorporation on Change
of Name was issued by the Registrar of Companies in the
Cayman lIslands on 7 June 2024, certifying that the English
name of the Company has been changed from “CNC Holdings
Limited” to ““Tsun Yip Holdings Limited” and the dual foreign
name of the Company from “HEIEERZERERA
" to “HEEITRR A R/AT". As at the date of this report, all
necessary filing procedures with the Companies Registry in
Hong Kong are still underway.

(v)
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(vi)

(vii)

On 15 April 2024, the Board resolved to make the proposed
amendments by way of adoption of a new amended and
restated memorandum of association (the “Amended and
Restated Memorandum”) and amended and restated
articles of association (the “Amended and Restated Articles”,
together with the Amended and Restated Memorandum,
the “Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association”). The proposed adoption of the Amended and
Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association has been
approved by shareholders at extraordinary general meeting of
the Company on 31 May 2024.

The one hundred (100) to one (1) share consolidation has
been approved by the shareholders at extraordinary general
meeting of the Company on 17 June 2024 and was effective
on 19 June 2024.

Save for disclosed in note 41 and above, no significant event has

taken place subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of

this report.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which

will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the

forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey

Cheng Limited and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration

will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Kan Kwok Cheung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIB-HEREBHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the professional
assistance of Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) — “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” and has complied with the “comply or explain”
provisions in the GEM Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in respect
of corporate social responsibility, covering its operating activities
which are considered as material by the Group — namely provision
of civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong (the
“Civil Engineering Services Business”). With the aim to optimise
and improve the disclosure requirements in the Report, the Group
has taken the initiative to formulate policies, record relevant data
as well as implement and monitor measures. This Report shall be
published both in Chinese and English on the website of the Stock
Exchange. Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese
and the English versions, the English version shall prevail.
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RIE-HtERERERS

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024.

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please contact us at cnc@cnctv.hk.

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the Civil Engineering Services
Business in current year. The Civil Engineering Services Business
includes provision of waterworks engineering services, road works
and drainage services and site formation work for public sector in
Hong Kong.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group’s
business strategy in order to enhance capabilities for long-term
competitiveness. The Group is committed to operating in a manner
that is economically, environmentally and socially sustainable while
balancing the interests of its stakeholders and fostering a positive
impact on the society. To demonstrate its commitment, the Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage
and monitor the risks related to the environment, employment,
operating practices and community. Details of the management
approaches to sustainable development of different areas are
illustrated in this Report.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group’s
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship
with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group’s
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides
an overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms
and methods of communication are used to reach, listen and
respond.
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Key Stakeholders
TFEFNE

Government

BT

Shareholders and
Investors

RERGESE

Employees

(=1=]

Expectations

HAZE

e Compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations

o BTERAEERKRSRL

e Proper tax payment

o (RIEHATR

e Promotion of regional economic
development and employment

o HWFEHLEERMIE

e |Lowrisk
o {EE P

e Return on the investment

o KE[MOHR
e |nformation disclosure
o BIIFE

® Protection of interests and fair treatment
of shareholders
o RERERERTSHE

e Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

s REREENKED

e Working environment

o T1FIRIR

e Career development opportunities

e HiEUEMSE

e Health and safety

s BEHZE
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Engagement Channels
BHRE

e On-site inspections and checks

o BHMHERKBE

e Conferences

s B

e Work reports preparation and submission
for approval

o TIRREHRMRIEIHME

e Annual and interim reports

s FERPTHIRSG

e Company website

o NE)HTUL

e Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings

e RRBFAGRAMBRERE

e Annual, interim and quarterly reports

s FE -FHKRFERS

e Announcements

o N
e Newsletter
. fsh

e Feedback forms

o REEFRAE

e Training, seminars and briefing sessions
o FIHANERENE

e Employee activities

s BEEH
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Key Stakeholders
FERGRE

Suppliers and Partners

MR EEBH

Peer/Industry
Associations

[F%,ERAM

Market Regulator
hiZEEHE

Expectations
HAE

Long-term partnership
REARAHREHF

Honest cooperation

1BE S 1E

Fair and open tendering process
REREARERE
Information resources sharing
ERERE=E

Experience sharing
REN=
Cooperation

afF

Fair competition
NEHF

Compliance with applicable laws and
regulations

T E AR R RRG

Information disclosure

B EE

Engagement Channels
BHERE

e Business meetings and supplier
conferences

s X ERRMEETER

e Strategic cooperation

o HERSIF

e Review and assessment

o @5t ReaTh

e Tendering process

o KIRTIE

e |ndustry conference and seminars
s TTEGRKMNE
e Site visit

o BMIEFHD

e Consulting

20

[F]mps]

e |nformation disclosure

. BREE

e Annual, interim, quarterly reports and

other published information

s FE P -FTERSTREMTIZES

atl
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix C2 of
the GEM Listing Rules) and the GRI Guidelines.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification - Industry Benchmarking

e Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of

relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

e The materiality of each ESG areas was determined
based on the importance of each ESG area to the Group
through internal discussion of the management and the
recommendation of ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix C2 of the
GEM Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation - Stakeholder Engagement

e The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG
areas identified above to ensure that all the key aspects were
covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

e Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and
internal discussion among the management, the Group’s
management ensured that all the key and material ESG areas,
which were important to the business development, were
reported and in compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2024, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to continuously improving its
environmental sustainability and integrating environmental
considerations into its operations. For the Civil Engineering
Services Business, the Group endeavours to manage
construction sites in an environmentally friendly and energy
efficient manner with the implementation of the “Environmental
Management Policy” and the “Environmental Management
Plan”.

The “Environmental Management Policy” (the “EMP”)
summarises the Group’s commitment in ensuring
environmentally responsible operation, including establishing
and attaining environmental objectives and targets,
communicating with employees and sub-contractors
the Group’s standards, as well as preventing or reducing
environmental pollution and nuisance with adequate
protective measures.

The “Environmental Management Plan” outlines how the
Group intends to minimise the environmental nuisance of air,
noise and wastewater pollution, and minimise the generation
of surplus construction and demolition (“C&D”) materials and
complying the requirement of Environmental Permit under
Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance.
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A1. EMISSIONS Al HEY

The Group has implemented the “Environmental Management
Plan” and various emission control initiatives to address air,
noise, water and waste pollution during construction. The
Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Noise Control Ordinance
(Cap. 400), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311),
the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358), the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) and the Environmental
Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499), to ensure the
environmental impacts arising from its business are managed
in a proper manner.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Air Pollutant Emissions

Air pollutants are a major concern for construction industry.
Construction activities such as concrete breaking and
demolition works, drilling works, excavation works and
combustion of fuels resulted in generation of air pollutants. The
Group has implemented various mitigation and preventative
measures to reduce its air pollutants emission.

In managing the dust generation, all stockpile of construction
materials including excavated soft materials, demolition
debris, fill materials, etc. which are dusty by their nature are
properly covered by tarpaulin or other approved means. For
carrying out dusty construction activities such as demolition
works, drilling works or excavation works, the Group provides
dust screens or enclosure, water spraying system, the fitting of
vacuum cleaning services to the pneumatic or drilling, cutting
and polishing machines or other appropriate abatement
measures to reduce the air nuisance to the public.
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The Group also provides wheel washing systems at all existing
points of construction sites, comprising high-pressure water
jets and heavy duty metal grating capable for supporting the
heaviest vehicles and a tough for collecting wastewater.

For the fuel control, the Group uses Ultra-Low-Sulphur Diesel
for non-road mobile machinery. All non-road mobile machinery
must be approved with a proper label in a prescribed format
issued by the Environmental Protection Department in
accordance to the Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile
Machinery) (Emission) Regulation. The decrease in air pollutant
emissions in 2024 was mainly attributable to the effective
implementation of a fuel saving policy on mobile sources
during the year.

During the reporting period, the air pollutant emissions were as

follows:

Type of air pollutant Unit
ZERIS YRR B
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) tonnes
KAEYINOY) i
Sulphur oxides (SOx) tonnes
BRE1EY(SOY) iR
Particulate matter (PM) tonnes
R BRYI(PM) 55

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERBRS

NEBTRRFERAERE TR HER
BRRY BRESEKE ENLZERS
Bz AESBEME—EREREK
ZIKKE o

ARSI > A EEERBERAREA
PRIFE R B EN AN PR A IR B R EN IR W
WARB(E RIS R EH GFE B BN
BE) RO BRI REZZETL R £ B
HEHZEERABERR - R _-_F -
FERSRIEBDB LD EZEZRRER
BB SE IR B BRI

RIS ERSRFBDERINT -

2024 2023
—EUEF TET=F
22.42 25.23

0.01 0.02

2.13 1.65

hEFESRIZERARAS 2023/2024 £ 103



Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission

GHG is considered as one of the major contributors to the
climate change and global warming. During the operation
of the Group, electricity and fuel consumptions account for
a major part of its GHG emission. The Group places great
emphasis on improving energy efficiency and reducing energy
consumption to reduce GHG emission. The Group has
adopted energy saving initiatives mentioned in the section
“Use of Resources” of this Report.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct
emissions and scope 2 indirect emissions mainly result from
the combustion of fuels in stationary sources and purchased
electricity respectively for business operations. During the
year, the Group complied with all applicable environmental
laws and regulations or prosecution for non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations relating to emissions. The
decrease in GHG emissions in 2024 was mainly attributable to
the effective implementation of a fuel saving policy on mobile
sources during the year.

During the reporting period, the GHG emission was as follows:

Type of GHG emission Unit
BE RASBEREE R B

tonnes of CO2e
M—EthkE=

Scope 1 (Note 1)
BE (fF5E1)

Scope 2 (Note 2)
#;E (fF5E2)

tonnes of COze
M—EthkE=

tonnes of COze
M —SERkEE

Total GHG emission

BEREHREE

GHG emission intensity
RERBHREE

Note 1:  Scope 1 refers to direct emission from sources that are owned
or controlled by the Group.

Note 2: Scope 2 refers to indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity consumed by the Group.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group generates non-hazardous waste from construction
sites and office operations. The construction sites produce
waste that includes C&D materials and household waste. The
Group strives to reduce the generation of C&D materials in
particular metallic waste, timber, cardboard packaging and
chemical waste.

The approaches include proper planning of works, good
site management, avoiding cross contamination to reusable
materials, use of metal formwork and maximising the reuse of
excavated inert C&D materials. All C&D materials arising from
or in connection with construction works shall be sorted to
recover the inert C&D materials and reusable and/or recyclable
materials prior to disposal of the waste portion off-site. The
disposal of waste is managed properly in accordance with the
relevant legislation.

Furthermore, the Group strives to minimise the use of timber
for temporary construction works. Alternative environmentally
friendly materials, such as metal scaffolding and metal
formwork shall be used to replace timber. The Group reuses
timber as much as possible and tries to avoid treating the
timber with chemicals which make it difficult to reuse or
recycle.

The Group provides recycling bins for the collection of
aluminium cans, papers and plastic bottles on construction
sites. The recyclable materials are collected by recycling
companies on a regular basis.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERBRS

BER

)

EEEY

AEERFELIIMERAEEEELE
SEY T T T EL MY BIEREY
KR £ EHIIR - A E B TR DRk
ZEL THEEBER R HRE
HRICEEEY) -

ZENFERZERBFE RFTH
EE BRI SRAIEEERYE &
RE@BER s XRESHMAEMZREENE
IRk -FRERER IS ExERE
TREBNFEYE  REEYSINRE
Al ET DR IR I B Y K 7]
EEFERR/NAEIRBEYE - BEYRE
BRREREREZEEE

IESh > FEBB OB ER VR REEE
AR ER - BEABERRFEME &
BWFRKREBERUANE AR - KEEH
BAESMBRNEAN TEERRAE
SYERIEAN LU B BRI Z H
o

AEBRMEBIRAE  BRERT TUE
i~ ATSR R BB AR © B[Ol W7 #t BB [B] UR
AEEHUE -

hEFESRIZERARAS 2023/2024 i 105



In addition, the Group has implemented the “Environmental
Office Practices”, which provides guidelines on reducing
waste in office operation. The Group strives to reduce
the paper waste by encouraging employees to use both
sides of paper and suitable font size and shrinkage mode.
Besides, communication by electronic means is promoted
to minimise the use of paper and paper waste. Employees
are also encouraged to use reusable items, such as reusable
cups and cutleries to reduce the amount of waste. The
decrease in the amount of non-hazardous waste generated
in 2024 was mainly attributable to the decrease in work
from civil engineering projects from the Civil Engineering
Services Business and the effective implementation of waste
management strategies during the year.

During the reporting period, the non-hazardous waste
generated by the Group was as follows:

Type of waste Unit
BE5E R B
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes
FRELXZ BEERY) L

Non-hazardous waste generated intensity tonnes/HK$ 000

FREEZBEERYEE LY =

During the reporting period, there was no significant
hazardous waste generated by the Group. The Group will
closely monitor its operation to the possible generation of
hazardous waste in the future.
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Noise

Noise is generated from the Group’s construction activities,
such as excavation of hard materials, operation of plants
and machinery, falsework dismantle and formwork removing.
In managing the impacts of construction noise on the
surrounding environment, the Group strictly adheres to the
relevant laws and regulations, including the Noise Control
Ordinance (Cap. 400). The Group strives to mitigate the noise
nuisance by controlling the noise source and adopting noise
abatement practices.

The Group undertakes various construction planning
to eliminate noise sources. Except for those machinery
operations and construction works stated in the Construction
Noise Permit issued by the Environmental Protection
Department, other operations are not allowed to be carried
out from 7 p.m. to 7 a.m. or at any time on Sundays or public
holidays. The Group also selects the quieter plants to be used
on site instead of noisy plant when feasible.

In order to minimise the noise pollution on construction sites,
the Group has adopted noise abatement practices. The Group
uses non-percussive equipment such as sawing and coring
machines for demoalition and concrete breaking work. Mufflers
or silencers, and dampening layer with steel collars are fitted
to hand held pneumatic breakers. Where percussive breakers
are used, the breaker tip is enclosed with sound insulating
material to reduce the noise.
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Wastewater

Wastewater such as toilet sewage generated from the site
depot is discharged into a foul sewer if connection to foul
sewer can be made. Otherwise, it is temporarily collected
in the sewage tank. The Group has engaged licensed
sewage contractor for sewage disposal. Direct discharge
of wastewater produced during construction into rainwater
gutter is prohibited. Wastewater generated from the sites is
properly treated by appropriate means before disposal such
as sedimentation tank or waste treatment plant whenever
necessary.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group places great emphasis on ensuring efficient use of
energy and resources. The Group aims to promote resource
saving by adopting green office practices and motivating our
employees to participate in resource conservation activities.
The Group’s “Environmental Office Practices” provides
guidelines on saving energy and water in the office operation.
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Energy

The energy consumption of the Group comes from electricity
and fuel consumption. In view of the scarcity of energy, the
Group has advocated various energy conservation strategies.
Electrical appliances should be set to energy-saving mode
where possible. Computers are set in standby mode when
they are not in use for a long period of time. Besides, room
temperature should be maintained at an energy-efficient
level. Lighting and power supply should be switched off when
they are not in use. The decrease in energy consumption in
2024 was mainly attributable to the decrease in work from
civil engineering projects from the Civil Engineering Services
Business and the effective implementation of an energy saving
policy during the year.

During the reporting period, the energy consumption was as

follows:

Type of energy Unit

AEIREER B
Purchased electricity MWh

BAE JE RS

Petrol MWh

A JE R B
Diesel MWh

P! JKEU B

Total energy consumption MWh
RERFERME JEEBF
Energy consumption intensity MWh/HK$’000
AERFEREE KRB, FHET
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Water

Water is another important resource used by the Group.
Employees are reminded to turn off the tap when not in use.
In case of leaking faucet or pipe, employees should report to
the relevant authority to avoid wastage of water. The decrease
in the water consumption in 2024 was mainly attributable
to the decrease in work from civil engineering projects from
the Civil Engineering Services Business and the effective
implementation of a water saving policy during the year.

During the reporting period, the water consumption was as

follows:

Water Unit

KER B

Water consumption m?

FEKE K

Water consumption intensity m?3/HK$’000
FEKBE MHKSFHET

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

As stipulated in EMP, the Group considers in its construction
planning all the statutory and contractual environmental
protection and pollution control requirements that are
applicable to the proposed construction works, which
are likely to pose potential harm to the environment or
environmental nuisance to the members of general public.
Before the intended commencement of individual construction
operations, the environmental officers and site agents
identify the potential adverse impacts on the environment
and develop pollution and mitigation measures, in order to
reduce the environmental impacts to the minimum. The Group
establishes and maintains a routine site inspection programme
as part of its active monitoring programme to identify and
rectify environmental problems and assess the adequacy of
existing pollution control and waste management measures
with a view to achieving progressive improvements.
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In addition, the Group adopts various promotion activities to
enhance the environmental awareness of its employees. The
Group establishes safety and environmental notice boards for
displaying environmental information, provides and displays
adequate and appropriate environmental protection and
waste management signs and posters, delivers environmental
talks and distributes environmental protection and waste
management publications and information sheets to generally
promote environmental protection and waste management
to the workforce. The Group also launches environmental
campaigns such as model workers to encourage frontline staff
to participate in environmental protection activities.

With the integration of policies and measures to reduce air
pollutants and GHG emissions, waste generation, noise
nuisance and resource consumption, the Group strives
to enhance environmental sustainability and minimise the
impacts on the environment.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Governance

The Board holds ultimate responsibility for overseeing the
Group’s ESG related risks and opportunities, as well as
the effectiveness of the strategy and measures. The Board
establishes the Group’s ESG-related strategies and targets,
regularly reviews the Group’s ESG performance against
these targets, and revises strategies as necessary in case of
significant deviations.

The Group has established dedicated teams composed
of staff from main department of the Group to manage
ESG issues within each business division of the Group
and kept monitoring and overseeing the progress against
corporate goals and targets for addressing climate change.
Dedicated teams with designated staff for management of
ESG issues have been assigned to enforce and supervise
the implementation of the relevant ESG policies cascading
through the Group.
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Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on the
nature of the risk to our operations. The physical impacts
of climate change, including extreme weather events, or
damage to facilities have immediate operational impacts
and are treated as operational risks. Long-term challenges,
such as emerging ESG issues and climate-related risks
and opportunities, may be discussed by the Group’s ESG
Working Group. Our commitment is to implement, maintain
and continually improve our Quality, Environmental, Health and
Safety (‘QEHS”) management system and QEHS performance
to uphold the elements of this QEHS Policy and achieve
Environmental Friendliness and Protection, Prevention of
Pollution and Green and Gracious practices, we endeavour
to protect the environmental aspects, reduce the impact
of global warming and practice graciousness to our site
surroundings. The QEHS policy is reviewed annually to suit
climate change.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective governance for
integrating and addressing ESG issues, including climate
change, within our business. The ESG Working Group plays
an integral role in overseeing the Company’s ESG strategy,
policies and disclosure, including reporting to the Board
regularly as important matters arise. The Board plays a role in
decision-making and supervision on ESG-related issues.

The board indicates the Company’s development direction,
supervises whether all subsidiaries have completed the
targets, and assesses and manages climate-related risks and
opportunities.
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To ensure that our management keeps up with the latest trend
of climate-related issues, climate competence training will be
provided so that it has the necessary expertise and skills to
oversee the management of climate-related issues. Our Board
also seeks professional advice from external experts when
necessary to better support the decision-making process.

The ESG Working Group is responsible for approving
operational emissions targets for the Group, and
commissioning an ESG benchmarking and gap analysis
exercise to identify gaps in both disclosure and policy relative
to best practice standards. Moreover, the ESG Working
Group works closely with the Group’s different operation
departments, with an aim to develop consistent and enhanced
approaches on addressing climate risk issues and report
to the management. Moreover, the team works together
with consultants to review the green-mark rating of our
development. This is to ensure that the proposed design or
method to construct green sustainable buildings is considered
thoroughly while selecting and reviewing materials, technology
and sourcing for a sustainable product that is more climatic
responsive, energy effective, resource efficient, smarter and
has healthier indoor environments.
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Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile
through its role in increasing the frequency and intensity
of certain diseases, and the health and mortality impacts
resulting from natural disasters. We assess the overall level
of risk by taking into consideration a range of diverse risk
factors across the many categories in our product or service
range. This diversity of risk together with our business strategy
and broad geographic footprint helps us distribute risk and
provides protection against the impacts of short-term climate
change effects. The climate-related risks and opportunities are
a factor that determines whether a company can adapt to the
market. If the change strategy seizes the opportunity, it will go
further; if the risk is resisted, business will be more successful.

In the short term, the Company needs to invest higher costs
in the initial stage to achieve environmentally friendly projects.
For example, the Company has to source and make use of
green materials and sustainably sourced finishes and provide
higher energy saving appliances and water saving sanitary
wares. We have to face many uncertain factors, such as
investor preferences and consumer preferences.

After the initial investment, certain results will be seen in the
medium term. At this time, we have to face the situation of
whether to continue to expand the influence and whether
investment and return are proportional.

The Company will incorporate more technology with
integrated solutions that meet the multiple functional needs
of a home, which may include lighting, thermal comfort, air
quality, noise control and more, to integrate solutions that
meet the multiple functional needs of a home. The system is
constantly updated to be abreast with the latest technology
available in the market.
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HBE

Our diversified products and services plan to provide
protection cover to people in our communities against
weather and heat-related disease, while we continue to
explore opportunities to engage our business partners with
the participation in renewable energy programs and adoption
of energy efficiency measures, encouraging them to develop
climate resilience and reduce their operational carbon
footprint by taking into consideration different climate-related
scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario” through the
following steps:

Step 1: Foresee Future Images Assuming Climate
Change Effects

As climate change measures proceed, there is a possibility
that the industry will be exposed to substantial changes such
as stricter policies including the introduction of and increases
in carbon pricing as well as advances in technology, and
changes in customer awareness. In light of these climate
change effects, based on the IEA scenarios and others,
we have foreseen multiple future images as the external
environment that will surround our Group.

With regard to the IEA scenarios, we put focus on the 2°C
scenario (2DS) to analyse and picture future images in cases
where climate change measures do not progress and where
climate change measures progress further Beyond 2°C
scenario.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the future
images foreseen in Step 1. We believe that in such a society,
it will be possible to expand carbon dioxide reduction effects.
This in turn will lead to increased business opportunities.
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With regard to effects on production and purchasing,
introduction of and increase in carbon pricing is anticipated
in accordance with the global advance of climate change
measures, leading to the possibility of higher purchasing and
production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change
measures are not adequate throughout society, production
interruptions and supply chain disruptions are likely to increase
as a result of higher frequency and intensification of natural
disasters such as flooding.

Step 3: Confirm Measures

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of non-
renewable energy in our daily operation. This strategy will allow
for flexible and strategic responses to each demand for the
regions where the emission factors of purchased electricity
consumptions are high. By promoting real carbon emissions
reductions throughout the world through these types of
initiatives, we are working to achieve zero carbon emission in
our business.

We minimise carbon emissions through comprehensive
energy-saving and introduction of renewable energy. With
respect to renewable energy in particular, we have set a new
target, achieve a reduction rate for purchased electricity in the
coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability and
progress of the Group’s strategies, we believe that we will have
opportunities for stable funding and sustainable increase in
corporate value through appropriate information disclosure,
dialogue with institutional investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or tests
the existing risk management strategies under climate change
with the aid of risk assessment, and therefore the areas where
new strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based approach
using national data, local information and expert knowledge,
which can identify how climate change may compound
existing risks or create new ones.

The risk assessment is conducted through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

e Objective/goal

e Scale

e Time frame

e  (Climate change scenario for most climate variables and
sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

e |dentify the record of occurrence of climatic hazards in the
past in the area

e Risk management strategies in place to tackle future
occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

e  Explore climate change projections for the selected time
frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

e |dentify potential hazards

e Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2 may get
worse under future projected changes

e |dentify new risks that can emerge under future projected
changes
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Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

e |dentify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.
geographical areas, business operation, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that has the potential to be at-risk in
future

As outlined within the ESG Governance section above, the
Group has robust risk management and business planning
processes that are overseen by the Board in order to identify,
assess and manage climate-related risks. Then, the Board will
issue instructions to the ESG Working Group to issue specific
rectification measures to business units. The Group engages
with government and other appropriate organisations in order
to keep abreast of expected and potential regulatory and/or
fiscal changes.

The Group continues to raise awareness of climate change
in regard to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in our
daily operation. However, there remains gaps in understanding
how such climate risks and opportunities may impact our
operations, assets and profits. Our Group assesses how the
business addresses climate change risks and opportunities
and takes the initiative to monitor and reduce its environmental
footprint.

During the reporting period, the significant climate-related
physical risks and transition risks, which have impacted and/or
may impact our Group’s businesses and strategy including but
not limited to the products and services, supply chain and/or
value chain, adaptation and mitigation activities, investment in
research and development and operations areas, the impact
on financial planning in operating costs and revenues, capital
expenditures and capital allocation, acquisitions or divestment
and access to capital areas, and the steps taken to manage
these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact
SR AH A L B i 2t MBEE
Physical Risk

BRERRE

Acute physical risks

=HERERE

e |ncreased severity and frequency e QOperating cost increases such
of extreme weather events such as as the inadequate water supply
cyclones and floods. Workers are for power plants
unable to access the construction sites &= 48 i A 1 A0 > 40 &5 &8 Fg {4
due to high water level, and the rebar KA B
at storage area become unusable due
to overexposed to water. Besides, e Capital cost increases due to
some excavation areas may not be the damage of facilities
visible, thus may cause drowning. RIIRIEE R E & A AIE N

Reconstruction is required and the
increase in material demand will cause
suppliers to increase prices or out of
stock. Additionally, excavation slope will
be erose which may endanger workers
working in the pit/trench.

BE R B K FiRim R R BN ERER
B R SRERIE N o RS KAL@E > T A
HAEARREIH FFENHEER
BERBIOKPMEERR b
ETEZEREREREEBR /M8
BEFK BEETER MEEX
BN SR HEEREESNRE It
Sh ZRBIEEZ R AIEE &
RIvE,/ BERTIENTI A

Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B2 R P EREX BT HE

Plan to adopt scenario
analysis to disclose an
organisation’s planning under
future scenarios, most notably
one with in a 2°C scenario.
sHEIERAIBER DRI EAR
BERRIER RS (L
HEREK2EBS) °

Ensure all site are provided
with proper drainage system
to ensure water are able to
flow during heavy downpour.
RAFMBMEBEEBBEEN
BEKR& LRI ER T
REHEK o
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Steps taken to

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact man

S 15 4 R L B i 2t MBTE ~E

e |ncreased likelihood and severity of o
wildfire. Natural or man-made natural
fires can cause a large number of trees
to be burned. Thereby affecting the
supply of raw materials.
FAEENOEM RBEEREEEMo
£ 5*%)0%9? BRAKXKGERKEH
RIRIES EMEERERMEIAHE-
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age the risks

12 | B P $R B B Bt

Ensure Earth Control
Measures (“ECM”) machine
is working and always

on standby, with regular
maintenance of ECM machine
and ensure sufficiency of
chemicals for ECM machine
to prevent delays due to
shortage of chemical.

(R EESIRIE (TECM )
WESIER TR IR 4R BRI
FFen kAR > TE BAAE SEECMEK
%% » FERECMI¥ 28 B B %41E
Lo B IEEME 2 m AT TR
Lﬁiui °

Based on past historical
climate analysis, a plan to deal
with possible natural disasters
is established.
RIEBIENE L RIED T
HIE EE A AR ER B AN
EHYETE

Improve warehouse
protection measures to
prevent materials from being
damaged by fire and rain.
&R EREE B LA
FEHR A S e PR 7K 3R 1 o

Consciously save materials in
peacetime.

PRI R B BRI A o

Protect of cut slope using soaill
erosion blanket.

ERATBEHBIRETRK

Introduce storm water tank
and raise the minimum
platform level.

SIAKE EERBETE
Eo
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Steps taken to

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks

{48 R L B M # B 12 B b3 Fr ER X BV 45 b

Chronic physical risks

M ERERRE

e Changes in precipitation patterns and e Revenue reduces from e Carefully plan areas that will be
extreme variability in weather patterns, decreased production capacity  affected by extreme weather,
rainy seasons become unpredictable. and the negative impacts of and increase design flexibility
KRN R RRELWRIERZ  workforce to adapt to possible situations
B (ERESFHUTER - WA RS ERES) T E RS E) such as sea level rise. For

TN EmEEmELD example, elevating the materials

Sites may face high water level due to
excessive rain throughout the days and
work will be delayed due to damaged
materials and equipment. Besides, the
water availability will reduce under the
change of rainfall patterns, which will
greatly affect the construction progress
of the site.

T ih o] ae R B Rk 2 EER/K LB
=EE M RREREGENTH
JEER o M5 > BEREPRAR VML > BT K
ETERED ) IR KIERE T AV
T#EE-

Rising temperatures: Hot weather

can affect the construction progress,
such as the reduction of the efficacy
of materials like sealants and mortar.
Besides, staff or workers may feel sick
easily in extreme temperature.
BELA RBRXRETERTE
B R EERB R R ZEMEATN
o tbhh > TR A BT AR IR R
ETRZREITE-

from the ground to an optimum
level to minimise physical
contact with water, and to have
personnel be on standby in case
of heavy rain to turn on the ECM
machine.

FAHRERZ IR KR ZE
N&i > RS sTEE N
DB ST E LA E R s IR
BYIE 5 o BIA0 > A A4 L E N E
RAZRESE  UEBERD
BIRIEMEK 0 WL HEA SPERF
FFem » LA K TR B B ENECMEE
g8,

Develop the habit of saving
resources.

EERMNERINEE-
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact
15 A8 R L B MBEE

¢ Rising sea levels: The rise in sea
level may cause the coastal area to
be submerged. The original building
planning area cannot be constructed
normally, or the completed building is
submerged.
BYEE LA BTE EARTEERE
BB R  BRERRINE T
ERHT > R TIBFHR AL -
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

B R R P ER AR HE

® |ncrease water conservation

efforts through effective use of
water coming out from water
treatment plants, and joint all
reservoirs together to ensure
water discharge to open drain.
BABEMF RS KEERES
87K MNAREAKFIE > Bk S Fr
BKE—RBRKGEARE-

e Engage with local or national

governments and local
stakeholders on local resilience
to promotes healthy living to all
staff and workers.
ER M 75 BB IR BUR e B L F 17
EMAERITETEE U
REMBETIRTANREE
Ee
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Climate-related risks description

S 15 1) R L B i 2t

Transitional Risk

B EL R

Policy risk
2R E b

e As aresult of energy efficiency
requirements, the complied standard of
construction materials may be required.
HRINEEER A REE2N S RERN

RS o

e The choices of suppliers become scarce
as they are unable to adapt to new

changes.
R RS R BRI BEIEE
gE o

e Mandates on and regulation of existing
products and services. Contractors
have to update their equipment and
reduce environmental pollutions.
HIRBELKRBRBENRE REEE o K
BENEENRE BAIRES S

Financial Impact
M

Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B2 R P EREX BT HE

Operating cost increases due e Source out alternative

to high compliance costs for
the updates of equipment and

inspections

HRNREEFTAREERSE
HNERMALA FEE

1810

Construction costs increase e
as the price of materials and

traditional fuels rise

construction materials.

B RERRE o

& e Qutsource to overseas
B  suppliers.

SNELT B IMELFE RS o

Educate the staff on the usage
of new materials.

HEB T ERAMME -

F M s E AR A EHE S L

R RS A AIE N
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

S 15 4 R L B i 2t MBTE

e The government will increase the price
of fuel to restrict the use of traditional
fuel sources such as diesel and petrol.
B SR EHMER » LURSBISH kS
HEERMEER -

e The Group needs to spend much time
and resource to carry out ISO quality
inspections every year in order to meet
the government’s quality inspection
requirements.
FERBFRBIEEARERENRER
ETISOmBE®RE LR SBNEER

EKo
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

B R R P ER AR HE

e The Group should follow the
development of technology and
use clean energy machines and
appliances, such as energy-
efficient 5-ticks aircons aids
in the reduction in carbon
emissions.
AEERRERMERE £A
BRRE TR 28 S Mk 0 SNENBE
BUSTNZE R » LUR DR HE I ©

e There should be environmental

awareness to reduce carbon
dioxide emissions. The
management carefully study
the requirements of ISO and
implement.

R R ZECHERIRGRR
o BIEE/ VO STISOE K
TWANLGEE -
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B2 R P EREX BT HE

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

S 15 1) R L B i 2t fit

Legal risk
EREE

Exposure to litigation. Contractors
have to adapt the tightened law and
regulations issued by the government
due to climate change. When the
construction sites affect nearby
residents, such as noise pollution and
water pollution, residents will complain
or even file a lawsuit.

EEEFER R B EOREBRENRR
EEIEMEEEBREAERER B
BRI MEMIERENEER U
RESRRKSE BERERHFES
IRREERER ©

Unable to tender for new project.

EOARIRMIER -

Will be blacklisted by the Government
bodies.

MBS BT AR RE -

The Group will be fined when they fail
to comply with relevant government

regulations.
MAEERRTEBINBERRE > K
BRLASIR

The Group may be required to cease
operations when they fail to obtain
certificates.
ERERRAEISHAR > AIEE®R
EREFILEE

e QOperating cost increases due
to high compliance costs
HRERNAE LA EEK
A S

e Additional cost increases when
the companies are fined
BRI ST REF g1g
NNEBSMEY B 2

e Monitor the updates of
Environmental laws and
regulations and implemented
GHG emissions accounting in
advance. Management has to
review environmental plan if any
change of legal requirements.
BRIRIB A EERNEMS
ot IRAT B IR E RIS BEZ
BoWzFEERELEBE B
HEENAENEBIRIEES -

e Engage Environmental Control
Officer to advice the site on any
environmental issues.
ERIRBES ASMIMANE
IR AR R

e Conduct inspection and report
to ensure compliance.

ETRELIREUERGR

e Seriously abide by relevant laws
and regulations proposed by the
government.

DEET BT EMAIIER AR
JERR o
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

S 15 4 R L B i 2t fit

manage the risks

B R R P ER AR HE

?\/ =

Technology risk
B i R B

e More green building strategies with low-

carbon, energy-saving technologies are
produced. Lagging behind may weaken
our competitive edges.

B 2R~ SIS MTAV A B R SR B
EHITE - E BN GHISHRMNHERE

S
Ho

Advanced training is required for the
staff to use new technology.

BT HEZETEANKMNSHRE
Al

Requires more space consumption due
to advancement of technology.
HAREMAED  BEERAEZHNE
M e

The technology fails due to inadequate
experience/still under research and
development (“R&D”) phase.
EMRERASBAE MERHATR
FagE (TEA3E)) PEER MR AR ©

e (Capital investment in
technology development
increases

KA E AR EEM

e R&D expense in new and
alternative technologies
increases
AT B B B AT BY A 235 &
FasEm

126 CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

e Examine the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
environmental technologies to
increase the competitiveness
and productivity.
MREARMRRRNIRSH
FIREEDNEITIE R

m °

e Source out companies that may
offer better pricing wise but
deliver the same as others.

S ERMHEEER B4
HtABRHAERRBIA
e

e Educate the staff on how to use
the technology.
HE BT UAIERRIM -

e (Cater the space for
advancement of technology.

M E S T R ZER

e Ensure the supplier is well
recognise to prevent failure in
technology.

MR FE 7 B B =2 58 ] RV (1 &
72 LABA LE BT 2R3
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Climate-related risks description

SR 15 4B BR & P 4 il
Market risk
5 E

e More customers are considering
climate-related risks and opportunities,
which may lead to changes in
customer preference. Consumers may
be more inclined to buy green and
environmentally friendly homes. The loss
of competitiveness of traditional houses e
has led to a decline in corporate profits.
BELERIEE B ER AR ERE K&
WiE PR ERR R RIFE - JHE
ErRERNBEREBIRFREEE
BRETKEHRF I EREEET
o

e Uncertainty in market signals. Green
buildings become one of the factors to
affect the property price.
MBERIEEL - RBRERS/T
EEMEERNRERZ —-

e More environmentally-friendly raw
materials may be much expensive.
BEMIRFRREMEPEESEBRES

=
ch ©

Financial Impact
M

change in revenue mix and

sources.
R WA R B R 3R 3 4
16> ERURA R L -

Operating cost increases as
abrupt and unexpected shifts
in energy costs.

F BB TR A A BV SR IR e Bk
ZINEME ) EEVESE A
18N e

Construction cost increases
due to changing input prices
and output requirements and
the increased cost of raw
materials.

BRI A B R E LR E
4 BB LU R AR} B 218
0o BREE R AIG AN o

Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B2 R P EREX BT HE

e Revenue decreases due to the e Control the environmental

hazardous materials in products
such as asbestos, and studying
the application of eco-friendly
and recycled materials.
EHERPHIRIEESHM
L WA WA SR IRFR MR
FRBEEMERER -

Allocated appropriate budget or
costing while tendering projects.
TEERERDEEENTESE

Source out supplier not only

in the country but overseas to
maintain pricing competition.
R LSBT 8 SN FE R X
REBRHEIE -

Advise and recommend

the benefits of using
environmentally-friendly
products to the customer.

mE R EEMEBEERIRRE
AV B ©
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact
15 A8 R L B MBEE

e Fewer suppliers can provide
environmentally-friendly raw materials.

AR HIRRRAM R AR E LD o

e The changes in consumer preferences
lead to the increase in the risks that
companies have to bear.
HEERFHEBICER R BIAKER
JRL B S8 A
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

B R R P ER AR HE

e Actively conduct surveys
on user preferences in the
consumer market to formulate
appropriate development
strategies.
BBRERIZHERPRE
HE - B EHEE R RRE -

e |ncreased revenues through
access to new and emerging
markets (e.g., partnerships with
governments, development
banks).

ZIBE A IS R AT E TS
QN E AT E RERITETE) U
IBANURA ©

e |ncreased diversification of
financial assets. (e.g. green
bonds and infrastructure)
RATMEEZKRLREE-

s BBEFRERER)
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Climate-related risks description

S 15 1) R L B i 2t

Reputational risk

BEER

e Shifts in consumer preferences. More
customers are considering climate related
risks and opportunities, which may lead
to changes in customer preference for the
houses with greener design.

£ B E R AR R AY B R R A48 » e
FJREERE P RFIER R BRI
FE-

e Stigmatisation of sector, more
stakeholder concern or negative
stakeholder feedback on the contractors
or developers if the houses are developed
in a less environmentally friendly way.
BARGHNEEHAESAGERITE
SRR EYH RO AT
HieTEEEIE-

Financial Impact

Steps taken to

g
e Revenue decreases from °

a decrease in demand for
properties/engineering
services, and the decrease in
engineering work capacity
WAREYZE TRRBHNE
KR TA2 2 se /b gL

Operating costs increase from
negative impacts on workforce e
management and planning
HEHNEERRINEET
EBEE M AL

manage the risks

7 B2 R P EREX BT HE

Fulfilled the social responsibility
by organising more activities
or actions to show how the
corporation places importance
on climate change.

BITH &M HAREZEH
HITE B RRIHREE®E
HER

Engaged Environmental Control
Officer to advice the site on any
environmental issues.
BHRIREESABMIRIZEE
MG R

Management should conduct
inspections and reports to
ensure compliance.
EEERETERERRS U
MERERH -

Management to review the
environmental plan if any change
of legal requirements.
WEREERBEMEL 1
BB EREE -
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks
15 A8 R L B MBEE # B 12 B b Fr ER BN BY $E b

e [f the operation in the construction e The construction work will

site violates environmental protection
laws and is subjected to monitoring,

it will damage the Group’s reputation
and reduce chances of acquiring new
contracts or will be blacklisted by the
Government bodies. Besides, the
public’s trust in the company may be
reduced as well.

HERT S EERIRRRE LR
TWRHGE BIEESAEEZE B
BN E  SRBUTEES A
ELBoih ARBRABTNERE
IRERRE

Damage to the company’s reputation
will affect the judgment of investors.
Existing investors may withdraw their
capital, and potential new investors may
abandon their investment.
AREBESEETEREE IR
BEREENEGHE  BEMKREE
EEMERSE-
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be terminated if any non-
compliance is found.

B RERAESREL T2
& 1E

e Take practical actions to prove
that the company attaches great
importance to climate protection
and hold more related activities.
UERITERAASHRER
&= E B MR E S 18R
EEe

* Meet all government
requirements for climate
protection.
wEBFERIERENFIAE
Ko

e To ensure the safety is in place
for all sites.

HRFIE T2
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Climate-related risks description

S 15 1) R L B i 2t

Resource efficiency

HiRMm

e Construct and move to more efficient °
buildings
LDZI

EEEYmAET

e Reduce water usage and consumption

B K B HFE

Energy source

AEIR

e Use of lower-emission sources of e
energy

ERHFME L BBEIR

e Use of supportive policy incentives °

5 A ST R MR R BB

e Use of new technologies

e ARl

Financial Impact

fit

Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B2 R P EREX BT HE

Operating cost reduces through
efficiency gains and cost
reductions

LLxﬁl WAL i e BB K A P
BEEMA

Operating cost reduces through
use of lowest cost abatement
BIBR A E R E R T
SEM A

F@

Returns on investment in low-
emission technology

HEFF R M R BRI

Revenue increases through new
solutions to adaptations needs,
such as insurance risk transfer
products and services
ZiB H B R R IAER
F5 ZIE AU > B0 fRBR R
%885 an R AR TS

Revenue increases through
access to new and emerging
markets

B A BT IHE MURA
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Climate-related risks description

SRL{% AR R e i i 2t

Products and services

Em KRR

e Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions

1 E 5 1% 58 P& e 1R i JE r AR R AR R 75

Zu

e Ability to diversify business activities

EFREZTTILAIAE

Markets
M5

e Access to new markets
EAFTES

Resilience

EE

e Participation in renewable energy
programs and adoption of energy-
efficiency measures
S E T B4 AR 5T 8 R BRAR SE RUFE e

e Resource substitution or diversification
BREBRY LR

Steps taken to
Financial Impact manage the risks
MBRE 7 B 12 R % Fr ER X R FE

e Market valuation increases
through resilience planning,
such as infrastructure, land,
buildings
ZBERREIG M IZEE
WMERE T 18F

e Reliability of supply chain and
ability to operate under various
condition increase
EBIER T REERE 4 &
HEERENRA

e Revenue increases through new
products and services related to
ensuring resiliency
A RARERERNTEDRR
AR5 18 AN U A
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Metric and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to measure and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy
consumption and greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions
indicators are the key metrics used to assess and manage
relevant climate-related risks where we consider such
information is material and crucial for assessing the impact of
our operation on global climate change during the year. We
track our energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions
indicators regularly to assess the effectiveness of emission
reduction initiatives, as well as set targets to contribute our
effort to limit global warming. The details of time frames over
which the target applies and base year from which progress
is measured are described in the section A1: “Emissions” and
section A2: “Use of Resources” of this Report. Our Group
adopt absolute target to manage climate-related risks and
opportunities and performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERBRS

EREER

FEERBRARERAEREEARR
THRA B B K 1438 o BETRHFE ROR E RS
CEERRE) FHERANEREEER
=B R R IR AR AR R 1E1R > FFIsE =
EREMBEAR UHFEHMAEANNE
EHRRREECHNTEEZHEE - M
TEHABHEAEROHFE R R E RS B FE IR
DEHERBHERE S AR TREBR
HIRFIE KSR BIMEFIN—0 - BB
BREERNFRAGEERNEESYN
BN AREA  THERY — 8 &
A2 : TERF A —B - AEERIEH B
BRUEEEREARNERREE UK
&Ko
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS B. t€5mE
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES EBEREIER
B1. EMPLOYMENT B1i. E{E

The Group believes people are the most valuable assets
to the continuing development and success of the Group.
As such, the Group strives to attract and retain talents
and maintain a safe and equal working environment for its
employees. Through the staff handbook, the Group has stated
the terms of compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods and other benefits
and welfare. The Group strives to construct a diverse and
inclusive workplace where all its employees are treated with
dignity and respect. The Group provides equal opportunity
in all aspects of employment and maintaining a workplace
that is free from discrimination or harassment against any
individual on the basis of seniority, nationality, gender,
age, marital status, disability, race, color, religion or sexual
preference. Remuneration and promotion opportunities are
crucial to retain and motivate employees in achieving key
objectives of the Group. The Group provides remuneration for
its employees in accordance with the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and the
Labour Law of the PRC. For promotion of employees, the
Group conducts performance appraisal annually to evaluate
overall performance of employees. The data collected is used
to serve as reference in considering promotion. In addition,
the Group provides mandatory provident fund in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance (Cap. 485) to
its Hong Kong employees and required social insurance to its
PRC employees.
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FEBFRE BEIAFERFELERKE
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kEEriEES -AEENERS S EIEE
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During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of

any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

that would have significant impact on the Group relating to

compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,

antidiscrimination and other benefits and welfare. As at 31

March 2024, the employee compositions by gender, age

group, geographical region, employment category and

employment mode were as follows:

Employee compositions

BE4HRK

By gender
Male
Female

By age group
Age 30 or below
Age 31-40
Age 41-50
Age 51 or above

By geographical region
Hong Kong
PRC

By employment category
Senior management
Middle management
General staff

By employment mode
Full-time staff
Part-time staff

g RillE by
St
gogls

KRERER SIS
S0BR U T
31-40%%
41-50%%
51U L

‘it Es 9
N
FRE

RERERNE 2
SHREEE
PR EEE
—mmET

BERERE S
2HET
EHET

RBREHE ZEBHAINTEERE
STERFE MR R R B RE s TR
R TEHE S0 REERUK
HMGBREMZEEERKERMY
FEEELEEAREZRBR - KT TN
FZR=1+—H ®4EH FhiEH it
& EFENRERENE D ZEEMEMN
BRaT

2024 2023
—EmE B =F
74% 74%
26% 26%
8% 12%
18% 24%
20% 17%
54% 47%
100% 100%
12% 9%
12% 16%
76% 75%
97% 100%
3% -
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B2.

During the reporting period, the employee turnover rate
by gender, age group and geographical region during the
reporting period was as follows:

Employment turnover rate

B REE

By gender gkl Iba)
Male B4
Female ez

By age group e ae AR
Age 30 or below 30 AT
Age 31-40 312 405%
Age 41-50 41E505%
Age 51 or above 1A b

By geographical region &g o
Hong Kong EF'
PRC BA

Overall s

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group places the highest priority on securing health and
safety of all its employees. Adhering to the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Disease, the Group strives to minimise workplace accidents
and continuously improves workplace safety. The Group
has established the “Health and Safety Policy Statement”
and the “Safety Management Policy”, covering the Group’s
commitment, safety objectives and safety measures in
ensuring occupational safety.
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2024 2023
—EE TE®-=HF
78% 42%
21% 40%
42% 61%
17% 34%
21% 31%
20% 43%
21% 36%
21% 36%
B2. @EH% 2
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B3.

Safety education is crucial to ensure that employees are fully
understand the safety risks and well-equipped to handle the
job duties in a safe manner. All workers on sites are required to
attend an induction training on the safety policies of the Group.
Depending on work nature, the safety officers are responsible
to provide safety briefing regularly to illustrate major safety
issues to the workers. Besides, safety reminders and warnings
are posted at prominent areas at the sites to enhance the
safety awareness of workers.

In addition, safety monitoring is important to identify the
potential safety risks. The safety officers, site agents and
the Group’s clients carry out weekly on-site inspection to
identify the existing and potential safety issues. In case any
safety issue is noticed, the site agent will implement safety
precautions and rectification measures to minimise the risk.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded 1 case
(2023: 2 cases) of work-related injury for the Civil Engineering
Services Business. The Group did not have any work-related
fatality during the year. Besides, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that would have significant impact on the Group in providing
a safe and healthy working environment during the reporting
period.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group considers the skills and knowledge of its
employees as the key elements of the Group’s continued
business growth and success. By encouraging employees
to participate in training programmes, the Group strives
to enhance employees’ work performance, personal
development and promotion opportunities.

B3.
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MITARBAEIEZEME- LI R 058
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EEBER-ZR2IE -ITHEEREE
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B IMTFERBRLZETRMEURE
BE R TR R ERE

REERE AEBEM I AR TRRRBERS
BE—=(CET_=F :mx) LEHERE-
AEBRFEANLEZRTAEATIEER
BB TEH oo > A% B A E(E A
REFHEEERERER BHAERR
REPHRHEZERERIFRIESER
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According to the Group’s staff handbook, the Group provides
internal trainings for employees, including induction training,
on-the-job training and professional training. The induction
training covers the corporate culture, corporate facilities and
regulations such as security and confidentiality. The on-the-job
training includes the business knowledge and skills required
for specific positions, with the aim to enhance employees’
work performance. The Group also encourages employees
to attend professional training and obtain relevant certification
and license.

For Civil Engineering Services Business, the Group
encourages employees to participate in training programmes
organised by professional institutes, including Construction
Industry Council, Occupational Safety and Health Council,
Hong Kong Institute of Construction, Vocational Training
Council, etc.

During the reporting period, the percentage of employees
trained by gender and employment category was as follows:

Percentage of employee trained

RiFEET AL

By gender i R o
Male B4
Female 2%

By employment category ¥EEERN S 52
Senior management =R EIEE
Middle management hEEIEE
General staff —mET

Overall s
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B4.

HERELGHRS

During the reporting period, the detailed breakdown of
employees trained (in percentage) and the average training
hours completed per employee by gender and employment
category was as follows:

Average training hours

(hours/employee)

PR & HARE - &IEE'JEZ{ETJ%JrEB‘J”*EE’\Jm
e S (B0 ) sr R R R EE TR
SRS :S3 g1

Breakdown of
employee trained (%)

T 1915 FI R B

—_

Training (B EE) Z153I1E & BH4H(%)
&3l 2024 2023 2024 2023
“EINE TR ZEREINE —F°-4F

By gender B4R 9

Male B 1.8 1.0 87% 63%

Female pegiis 1.7 2.1 13% 37%
By employment category EEER S 2

Senior management SHREIEE 2.7 2.6 11% 19%

Middle management hEEEE 1.7 3.6 25% 37%

General staff —RET 1.7 0.7 64% 44%
Overall B 1.7 1.2 100% 100%
LABOUR STANDARDS B4. & T 48|

With the implementation of “Labour Standards Policy”, the
Group is committed to prohibiting the use of forces and child
labour in any part of its business. The Group strictly adheres
to the relevant laws and regulations, including the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57) and the Labour Law of the PRC. As
stipulated in the staff handbook, newly recruited employees
are required to present their identity documents to Human
Resources Department for age verification as prevention of
engaging child labour. Besides, all work should be voluntarily
performed and should not involve forced labour. Employees
are free to leave employment upon giving reasonable notice.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations related to
recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.
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OPERATING PRACTICES EEER

B5. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5. (LFEEEIR

During the Reporting Period, there were 86 suppliers
and all of them were located in Hong Kong. The Group
strives to maintain long-term and stable relationships with
suppliers and sub-contractors who meet our standards of
technical competence, innovation, product quality, reliability
and delivery performance, financial soundness, ethics
and social responsibility. The Group has implemented a
“Supply Chain Policy” and ensures that its suppliers and
sub-contractors meet the Group’s requirement regarding
quality, environmental, safety, labour and confidentiality
standards. It ensures the production capacity, technology
level, quality assurance capabilities, supply capacity, safety
and environment management qualifications if needed.
Only the highly qualified suppliers/subcontractors complied
with regulatory requirements are eligible for the supplier/
subcontractor selection by the Group. The Group also carries
out regular assessment on suppliers’/subcontractors’ overall
capabilities, assets position, nature of business, reputation
in the industry, quality of products, goods delivery and
compliance with law and regulations. The Group provides
technical assistance and supervision to suppliers and sub-
contractors for quality assurance and educate them with anti-
corruption terms. Meanwhile, the Group encourages any
feedback from our suppliers and sub-contractors, which may
help the Group in understanding their needs and facilitate us
in formulating the future policy.
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B6. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY B6. EmE1E

Service quality is always of the utmost concern in the Group’s
operation. The Group continues to provide high-quality and
safe services to its clients in order to meet their expectations
and enhance their satisfaction. The Group has implemented
the “Quality Management Policy”, which covers the Group’s
commitment to enhance the service quality by providing
trainings for employees, monitoring the progress and building
action plan. For the Civil Engineering Services Business,
the Group’s subsidiaries are certified for ISO9001:2008
Quality Management System Standards. To pursue quality
construction work, the Group has adopted various quality
control procedures, including regular monitoring, inspection
and testing at different stage of construction, recording
data and controlling non-conforming works. The Group
implements project quality plan for each project, covering
the specifications, timing of delivery, quality of construction
materials and manpower required. The project manager is
responsible to ensure the progress is in line with the project
quality plan. Besides, the site agent or foreman conducts
inspection to ensure the quality of the completed work
conforms to the requirements specified in the contract. The
Group is aware of the importance in handling customer
information. The Group takes high precaution in ensuring
their confidentiality to avoid misuse or leakage of personal
data. As stipulated in the Group’s Code of Conduct and staff
handbook, employees are required to abide by the guidance
on prohibiting any unauthorised disclosure of confidential
information.
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In addition, the Group does not make false claims regarding
the service provided. Besides, we respect intellectual rights
and purchase products and services from authorised suppliers
and copyright holders. The Group is in strict compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations, including the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486), the Copyright Ordinance
(Cap. 528) and the Copyright Law of the PRC. During the
reporting period, the Group did not receive any complaint
related to the services provided. The Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters during the reporting period.

B7. ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group is committed to upholding the high standards of
business ethics and integrity. Abiding to the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) and the Criminal Law of the
PRC, the Group has incorporated its requirement towards
anti-corruption into the Code of Conduct. All employees
should decline an offer of advantage if acceptance of it
could affect their objectivity in conducting the Group’s
business. Employee who violates the Code of Conduct after
investigation will be subject to disciplinary actions, including
termination of employment. The Group will also report the
case to relevant legal authorities. The Group’s “Whistle-
blowing Policy” encourages and enables employees to
report on observed and suspected non-compliance and
questionable practice by mail, email or phone. The Group
treats all disclosures in a confidential and sensitive manner to
reasonably protect whistle blowers against intimidation and
reprisal.
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The Group plans to host regular trainings delivered by
representatives from regulators and professionals to all
Directors and employees in regards to anti-corruption policies
and procedures so to maintain employees’ awareness on
anticorruption best practices. During the reporting period, no
legal case regarding corrupt practices was brought against the
Group. The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that would have significant
impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering during the reporting period.

COMMUNITY

B8. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is constantly
aware of the community needs and strives to bring a positive
impact on community development. The Group encourages
and supports community development initiatives to enhance
social benefits such as environment, health and education.
Besides, the Group encourages its employees to dedicate
their time and skills to supporting local communities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RE-HERERBRSTESI
REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section
TEHR -EBE- —RIRERARBERISE EEf

A. Environmental
A IRIE

A1: Emissions

Al BER)

General Disclosure “Emissions”

— AR B FBEm

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions “Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions”
data

RARGENIEE  BFRELE A AHRHER R FHEm — 22 /5 B

A1

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where ~ “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
appropriate, intensity Emission”

FRGENIEE RERRGENER WER) BE MBER) —R=EREBHITU

Al.2

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the Group’s business.
appropriate, intensity

FRENIER MELEESEEVEER MER BE RNERARAEEER

A1.3

KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions — Hazardous and
appropriate, intensity Nonhazardous Wastes”

FRGENIER MELARSEEVEER ER) BE (BE) — B ERESEEY)

Al.4
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages
FTEHR -BE - —RIXRBRARERIERE =111 BR
KPIA1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions ~ “Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions” 102-104
and results achieved “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
Emission”
FARGENIEE WA ENETRTEMRR THER) — B RS 2 H .
A15 MBER) —R=EREBHITU
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and nonhazardous “Emissions — Hazardous and 105-106
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and Nonhazardous Wastes”

results achieved
RIBEIEE WMRIEEERBEEEYN AL REBEE HEY-—ESEREEEEY)
A1.6 SENEEMRFTERRE

A2: Use of Resources

A2 . BIRH A

General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 108
—MRIRE M&RH) A

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by “Use of Resources — Energy” 109

type in total and intensity

RGNS RERIONERR HWEREREEER [ERME-ER

A2.1 RnE

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources — Water” 110

FRGENIER HEKEREE MERA A —KE IR

A2.2

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and “Use of Resources — Energy” 109
results achieved

RARGENIEE MWl REAN T8I RIS R M& R —RER

A2.3
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs)

FEHB BE  —RIKERARERIER

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved

FARARIER HMKEUER KR LB ERRE ) UREH

A2.4 Rk a5t 8 R PSR

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished
products and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced

RRANIER HNAmPTAEEMENESER WER) 84E

A2.5 BA5E

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIBERKRARER

General Disclosure
— IR EE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them

FRGENIER WREBTHHRERRABERNEAXE

A3.1 RERNREEREAMEENITE
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“Use of Resources — Water”

M&E R A —KER

Not applicable to the Group’s business.

NERRAEEER-

“The Environment and Natural
Resources”
NRIEKRKAE R

“The Environment and Natural
Resources”
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages

TEHR - EBE - —RIKRERARERIER 3211 BX

A4: Climate Change
A4 RIREE

General Disclosure “Climate Change” 111-118
—IRRE EACE 2
KPI A4 Description of the significant climate-related “Climate Change” 119-133

issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them
RBEMIER HUACKKAISEGHETAELEXENEXR [RIEEME)

A4 .1 RIEHEBAER MEHTTH
B. Social
B. {1t &

Employment and Labour Practices

EBEKREIER

B1: Employment

Bl : &%

General Disclosure “Employment” 134
— AR R M 8.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age “Employment” 135

group and geographical region
RRENIEE BN EEELE FRANRMEZI2HNE HER
B1.1 B

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment” 136
geographical region

RRGENIER EMh - FieMAn RMEE DHNESEMAKRLEER HER

B1.2
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section
FTEHR -EEH —RRBERAREIUSE =1

B2: Health and safety
B2 @EHZSE

General Disclosure “Health and Safety”
— AR R Mgz

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities “Health and Safety”
FRGENIEE FEI(ERMAMIETHABKEE MRz
B2.1

KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety”
RIRANIERE HIGHEXIIERH MRz
B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety”

measures adopted, how they are implemented

and monitored
FARGENIEE MM ERRERE T 2EN Uk MEREZ 2
B2.3 WITREERE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section

TEHR - EBE - —RIKRERARERIER 3211

B3: Development and Training
B3 ! R & IE

General Disclosure “Development and Training”
— AR R e & R 3sal
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender  “Development and Training”

and employee category
RgGENIESR B REESEZSNZIEER DL 2% & ket
B3.1

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per “Development and Training”
employee by gender and employee category

RRENIER RBRMUKEEHEFE D SLEETMTIIN TEREKE

B3.2 Ralisd

B4: Labour Standards
B4 @ %I #8|

General Disclosure “Labour Standards”
— AR EE M T 28
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  “Labour Standards”

practices to avoid child and forced labour
FRGENIER HWiltesiBREANEm R RE T Kaadl IR
B4.1 BT

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such The Group current does not report on
practices when discovered this indicator.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section
FTEHR -EEH —RRBERAREIUSE =1

Operating Practices
SEIEA

B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 . e EIE

General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management”
— R R MErERE IR

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain Management”
FRENIEE KtaIsNEEmEE Mt s e

B5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging “Supply Chain Management”

suppliers, number of suppliers where the

practices are being implemented, how they are

implemented and monitored
RRAENIER WA ARMIERMEERAVIES - RITAREAN HEEEEIE)
B5.2 HEBHME - URBREANRITREERFE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages

TEHR - EBE - —RIKRERARERIER 3211 BX

B6: Product Responsibility
B6: EmEE

General Disclosure “Product Responsibility” 141

— AR R EmEE]

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Not applicable to the Group’s business. N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons

FgGENIER CDENCEZXERMHARZLEREREER AERARKIEEER- B

B6.1 mZABKRNE 2t

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related No complaint related to the service 142

complaints received and how they are dealt with provided was received.
FRENIEE BEMNERMRBHNEFREEURERS BREBEGREMIEHRE 2T
B6.2 =

KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to observing ~ “Product Responsibility” 142
and protecting intellectual property rights

RASRAGXNIERT Al B A 58 K (RPE R0 8 A A RARVIE A EmEE]

B6.3

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and “Product Responsibility” 141
recall procedures

FRGENIESE HWhEE2RTBEREmEBINRER TEmEE

B6.4

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and “Product Responsibility” 141
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored

FRGENIERE WIS BEEERMRERMBEE  UREEH EREE

B6.5 TRERFE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

FTEHR -EEH —RRBERAREIUSE =32

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 . R&5

General Disclosure “Anti-corruption”

— ARtk B TR&E5]

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No legal case regarding corrupt

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its practices was brought against the
employees during the reporting period and the  Group.
outcomes of the case

FRGENIESRE RERPARHETANEESRETESESE MEHAEEMESTTAELESR

B7.1 HESFAEHNEE R ER ZEERE Mo
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti-corruption”

whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored
FRGENIER MWMhSElRRRER URERAMITRE RES]

B7.2 BH*
Community
&

B8: Community Investment
B8 (tE&KE

General Disclosure “Community Investment”
— AR EE MEKRE]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community Investment”

environmental concerns, labour needs, health,

culture, sport)
FRGENIER FIEMERE MHEE BRREEE-FILER ttek#E)
B8.1 R~ XE-BBA)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the “Community Investment”
focus area

FARAEMIEE AHEIBBEMHAER LR ED) MtEKE]

B8.2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
‘I IZBENHR S

B gt EH A RA G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CNC
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“the Group”) set out on pages 165 to 298, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

31/F, Gloucester Tower T

The Landmark ER

11 Pedder Street BATHF1158
Central b

Hong Kong HEE LT RE3

HNPEMEERERBRABZKRER
RHEESHEAMAT ZHRAE)
ER

RITEERINEH N E165E208E FHFHES
RERERABREKRBAR @B EEE))
2IEREUBERR REUBERREENR S
THHE=ZB=t+—HZHREeWBERIRAE
FZHALEEZFeBREREMEZEKGER
RERREBRMMIARERER UKEKS
M RERM T (BREERSSTBREN)

RIRBA ZERAVBRERERBEE BG5S
fing ((EREMAE)) MMNEBIHR
SER(ERMBHREER) EEMA TR
iR BEEENR_Z_NF=A=1+—HZ&HS
MBERAKRESEZALEFEZGEMBR
RkiaREMNE WEHREBRATFRLN
REREZSER-

hEFESRIERARAS 2023/2024 i 153
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3(c) in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
of approximately HK$9,112,000 during the year ended 31
March 2024 and, as of that date, the Group had net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$418,426,000 and
HK$403,430,000 respectively. As stated in Note 3(c), these events
or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3(c),
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.
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Key audit matter

RELER

How our audit address the key audit matter

FITHELNAHRREZFHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract

BT SAIm REESHZ G5t iEE

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements.

F2RFEMBRRMFSKOUARGEMEBRRMF4Z TS EER

The Group recognises revenue over time in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue for contract with customers.
EEERREBVBREXEANFISHERENNRT
& B D e S8 M s o

The revenue and profit recognised in a year on
these projects is dependent, amongst others, on the
assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
construction projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for
work performed) relative to the total expected inputs to
the construction projects (i.e. estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects).

ZEBER —FABRDNIN G somF > BURAR (HA
BiE) BERHERBEENENSEA BIEZH
TEREENSHORA) HENEREENERREA
(B AEE AENGEHEREE S A) BETd o

The uncertainty and subjectivity involved in determining
the cost to complete and foreseeable losses may have a
significant impact on the revenue and profit of the Group.
EESTIMAKIITEREBEEY R AEE R EEHME
EERZRIEYH SEENKRERENERERE
4L o

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from
construction projects included but not limited to:
FTERMBREEWGER ZEFEEERRN

Obtaining an understanding of the projects, evaluated
the design and implementation of relevant controls
relating to revenue recognition and partially completed
projects.

THEREE LR EESMNB O TRIEEREN
MERATE S 8958 STA B T o

Assessing the Group'’s revenue recognition practice
to determine that they are in compliance with HKFRS
15 Revenue from contracts with customers, including
the assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
construction projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for
work performed) relative to the total expected inputs to
the construction projects (i.e. estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects).

i EEENWGRENESN MBEEHNEER
MBS ERFISHEERENNTE BF E&E
HEFBEENEHILA BIETHIREENS
KR A) HENERBENATRRRA BIAEBEEX
R SHRTERE SR ZA) BIaTt
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Key audit matter

RELSER

How our audit address the key audit matter

FITHNELNAHARELZFIHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

RSN et RIEZSHZ B EE (8B)

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements. Continued)

A2REEMBRRMEASKROURGEMBRRMF4Z R (E
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e  For selected projects, our audit procedures included
the following:

e

BREBREMS  ATHEZEFEEUTRIEA!

agreed projects contract sum to signed contracts
and variation orders;
HEAGNTENEME 6K TET

obtained construction contract from management
and reviewed for any specific or special
performance obligations and conditions during the
financial period;
BEIEEESERSHN TN AMBHEARE
A RS ST AR BB ERIFY

assessed the reasonableness of cost incurred
against our understanding of the projects;
URTHEBEEN T BAZMEERNENEGE
% ;

vouched the actual cost incurred during the year
to details of supplier invoices and subcontractors
to check the validity and accuracy of the costs;
BENEBREENNFTEBEEEERDBE
AR E RHETTIZE U RZERAMNE K
MR AEREY ;



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
‘I IZBENHR S

Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter

RELER FITNEZMAHRREZERETREE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

BREHINm RERESHZ B EE (B)

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

FA2REEMBRRMEASKOUARGEMBRERMF4Z R (&

v.  performed cut-off testing to verify contract costs
were taken up in the appropriate financial year;

v. ETELEAE UREBSHAMAT N &8
FEXE;

vi. assessed and vouched to the estimated cost to
complete by substantiating costs that have been
committed to quotations and contracts entered;

Vi, BBEZEBREBRENPEBMA TG %
HIFFTT IR ;

vii. checked to the latest certificate issued by the
independent surveyors (“Surveyors”) before year
end date for the verification of the value of work
already performed during the year;

vi. BRZEICAIEE (TRIZER)) i F4 B R mizE
FRABETIENEEMEAENSMNER ;

viii. checked to the certificate issued by the Surveyors
subsequent to year end date, to verify the
uncertified work before year end has been
subsequently certified by the Surveyors;

viil. BZRAEMRNELEBBEANES  UZE
HBRIARKERN I REEEFEREIRAEMN
B8
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Key audit matter

RELSER

How our audit address the key audit matter

FITHNELNAHARELZFIHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

BEAIME RIEFEEHZ B EE (B)

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to

the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

A2REEMBRRMEASKROURGEMBRRMF4Z R (E
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Xi.

Xi.

performed retrospective review by comparing the
total actual contract costs incurred at completion
against the total budgeted contract costs to
assess the reasonableness of the estimates used
by the management;
FRLERETRHERELENSOEMAETER
B AETEEMEDS U HEEE
BstNaEN ;

for projects in progress, recomputed the
percentage of the progress of the contract
based on input method to test the accuracy of
the percentage of the progress to determine the
revenue;
METFEEMS > ATREBERAEZEMTE
BRNEEBDL MR EE B DRV ER
Mo DUFE E I

for projects completed during the year, obtained
the certificate of substantial completion and
verified that the remaining revenue has been
captured;
EMFEATINEERSEEERTHR W%
BERBRWEBEARK;
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Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter

RELER FITNEZMAHRREZERETREE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

BRESHINm RERESH Z B EE (B)

Refer to Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

FA2REEMBRRMEASKOUARGEMBRERMF4Z R (&

xii. compared total contract revenue to actual cost
incurred plus estimated cost to complete, and
assessed for foreseeable losses; and

xi. BEHNBRNGEEERELENKAN LEEFTTET
A AETTELE W P] FE RS 1EE1TETh ; &

xii. examined the project documentation (including
contracts effective during the financial period,
terms and conditions) and discussed with
management on the progress of significant
projects to determine if there are any changes
such as delays, penalties, overruns which may
result in liquidated damages.

xi. BEBEEXMH (BERAMBHEAEN 2G4
BRI fRH)  TEERENREREENE
B UEERERAEAEIRNEEEBEREN
28 FIUIER IR B F

e Assessing the appropriateness and adequacy of
the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

o HEREMBBRRMFLUREZEEMRERE -

Based on our audit procedures performed above, we found
that the management’s judgement in relation to the revenue
recognition from construction contracts to be supportable
by available evidence.

BERATLERETZEZEFR ANTEREEEMESR
BB R FTERHE > 9B IREFHEERA R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e I|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent HEXRBIIZH MR ENBZIEEEEAE

auditors’ report is Hon Koon Fai, Alex. B o

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited EBH g EFBFRBRAE
Certified Public Accountants HMZEESHED

Hon Koon Fai, Alex ks

Practising Certificate Number: P05029 MEFSHRIE P05029

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024 HE “ETNFEAZ+HN\H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mefRmkHEMEENER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

Notes
Kzt
Revenue Wz 6
Cost of services AR AR 2
Gross profit EF
Other income HA A 7
Other (losses)/gains, net Hih (B8 W= 358 8
Administrative and operating expenses  1TEUR &= B
Profit from operations EERT 10
Finance costs =N 12
Loss before income tax PREFISIRAIESE
Income tax credit FTi8Rig % 15
Loss for the year FERWEE

Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hth&2EKz,~ (B518)

Items that may be reclassified HEGEH7HEE
subsequently to profit or loss Ham o EHE

MERINER Z BT ERR

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year £ 2 HE5 1844 %E

2024 2023
—E_ME 2=

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FAET

468,963 496,457

(450,900) (493,037)

18,063 3,420

2,984 4,603

(1,097) 7,435

(17,629) (15,181)

2,321 277

(11,998) (13,183)

(9,677) (12,906)

565 3,449

9,112) (9,457)

488 (41)

(8,624) (9,498)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
rEaEmkAEMEE KR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

(Loss)/profit for the year
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year attributable to
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest

Loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company
— Basic and diluted (HK cents)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Notes

Kiat

THIALEGEER (FE8)
et
- VUN-IE: =N
—JEER R w

THALTEEER
2 (§518) W4
—ARBEAA
—IFEER B

e YNSIE 2PN 3
BRER
—E X E B 17
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BB R Z By 5 A Lt

2024 2023
—E_MEFE S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
(9,324) (9,440)
212 (17)
(9,112) (9,457)
(8,836) (9,481)
212 (17)
(8,624) (9,498)
(restated)
(B2 EH)
(23.0) (23.3)
EREMBHRETZ—ED o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ARE MBI RR

As at 31 March 2024 R_ZE_9#FE=H=+—H

2024 2023
—EmE 2=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iog=3 FET FET
Non-current assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB KRB 18 12,810 16,635
Right-of-use assets ERESE 19 3,746 11,465
16,556 28,100
Current assets MEBIEE
Trade and other receivables 85 KRHEMEWRRIE 21 103,065 124,647
Contract assets BHEE 22 51,070 41177
Tax recoverable A [EIIRIE 47 S
Cash and cash equivalents RBERIBSHEY 23 48,222 51,619
202,404 217,443
Total assets WEE 218,960 245,543
Current liabilities Bt =R
Trade and other payables BS REMEMTIE 24 227,800 229,928
Contract liabilities aHaE 22 83,933 88,790
Lease liabilities HEas 25 1,735 5,558
Promissory note AR E 27 44,122 =
Convertible notes AR EE 28 257,030 257,030
Employee benefits BEEH 26 6,210 6,514
Tax payable FEIRIE - 133
620,830 587,953
Net current liabilities mBaERE (418,426) (370,510)
Total assets less current liabilites ({EEEFFTHEE (401,870) (342,410)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE MBI R

As at 31 March 2024 R _ZF_p9FE=H=+—H

Non-current liabilities JEREIAE
Interest payables FEF] B
Lease liabilities HEaR
Promissory note AR ER
Deferred tax liabilities IRIERIEEE

Total liabilities waE

Net liabilities BEFEE

Capital and reserves BAR KB
Share capital [N
Reserves B

Non-controlling interests JEEERE S

Total equity S

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2024 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Kan Kwok Cheung
RSB+

Director

)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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2024 2023
—ETME S

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FET
24 = 6,777
25 71 2,907
27 = 40,429
29 1,489 2,283
1,560 52,396

622,390 640,349
(403,430) (394,806)

30 4,055 4,055
(409,168) (400,332)
(405,113) (396,277)

1,683 1,471
(403,430) (394,806)

EFEgER S _WEANB+N\B#ER
ERET)E %?@Eﬁ?%iﬁ%’ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ)\iﬁ%%%
%EE‘R

Hui Ka Tsun
HEE
Director

EF

FEMt 2 iR UL FEAR G M BREZ—8 D -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEEmEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{E —ZFE /94 =5 =+—HIFFZ

Foreign
Convertible currency Non
Share Share Capital  notes equity translation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserves* reserves* reserves* reserves* losses* Total interest equity
THRRE bt
k& RiaE i R HEEE Eftf EithE @ HEkER )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fn Fin F#r F#n TERL TEn TEr TERr TR Thn
(hote 30) (ote 31) (ot 31) (hote 26) (hote 31) (note 31) (hote 31)
(H3t20) (H231) (Wit (Histo8) (H:231) (tst) (Hissr)
At1 April 2022 RIEZZEMB-H 4085 12238,1% 2758 14400 (1,683 41214 (1,685,735) (386,796) 1488 (385,308
Loss for the year FRER o S S - - - (9,440) (9,440) (17) 9:457)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, EREMZESE NHRE:
net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequenty  EATIEHMEEEAZER
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translafing REBINEBZEREE
foreign operations - - - - (#1) - - ) - #1)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ER2AGRLE - - - - ) - (9,440) 0.481) {17 (9,498)
At31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZBC=EZR=1+-BR
£_-fMA-H 4,005 1,238,1% 2,758 14,400 (1,724) 41214 (1,695,175) (396,277) 1471 (394,806)
Loss for the year EREB - - - - - - 9,324) 9,324) 212 (9,112)
Other comprehensive (oss)/income EREMZE (B8 ki KA
forthe year, net of tax: B!
Items that may be reclassified subsequently ~ EETIENABERREZEE
to prof orloss:
Exchange differences on translating REBNERZRRER
foreign operations - - - - 488 - - 488 - 488
Total comprehensive income(oss) for the year  EAZENE/ (1) 48 - - - - 488 - 9,324) 8,836) 212 (8.624)
At 31 March 2024 RIBZME=RA=+-H 4055 1238,19 2758 14400 (1,236) 41,014 (1,704499) (405,113 1,683 (403,430)

* The aggregate amount of these balances of approximately
HK$409,168,000 in deficit (2023: approximately HK$400,332,000) was
included as reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

*

RIFEZWFE=Z/F=+—H ZZBH M
B A A9409,168,0008m (ZEZ=4F | 4
400,332,000 7T) - ETE#F &M HE K T EZAZIIE
E e

BBt 2 isE UL ERE M BREZ—8 0 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax
Adjustment for:

Gain on modification of promissory note

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Net gains on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Finance costs

Net loss on termination of lease

Interest income

Exchange gain, net

(Reversal of)/allowance for expected
credit losses recognised for trade
receivables, net

Allowance for/(reversal of) expected
credit losses recognised for other
receivables and deposits, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for contract assets, net

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in trade and
other receivables
Increase in contract assets
(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities
Decrease in employee benefits

Cash generated from operations
Income tax (paid)/refund

Net cash generated from operating
activities

REEFHEEZRERE
BRPT1SIR AT 1R
AREE
AR RIBEEST W
ME BB RRETE

ERREEITE
HEWE BB K
Rt 2 W % 2R
BRE A
RIFAE Z B 1R 38R
AISUON
BE 50 o o P ER
FLE 7 EUWGRIERESN
TRENEER1R (R
S B PR
ME M EWRIE R AR &
B2 RAEEERE
Bl (B) - P8R
MENBEERTZ
FRHE R ERE R
FER

EEESEFRZ
RERERE

85 Kk HE A EWRIA
L, ()

BNEEEM

8 5 R E MR
GRiD) /1N

axmamE (Rl /g

EERFRL

KEMMSRE
(B1) /BREFRER

REFHFREREFER

170 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

Notes

HtaE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET
(9,677) (12,906)

- (6,722)

7,995 7,353
4,057 3,564
(76) (1,217)
11,998 13,183
1,371 237
(344) (14)

(20) (2)

(262) 83

1 (122)

83 308
15,126 3,745
21,850 (367)
(9,976) (16,727)
(16,841) 8,766
(4,857) 23,562
(304) (1,076)
4,998 17,903
(409) 3,077
4,589 20,980




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ll‘l\ IE% ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash used in financing activities

Notes
Hat
KETHEEZIRERE
HEME - BEKRKEZ
FrSIE
EEYE- F“ B
BUWH 2

REZHFAREFE

MEEZHELEZRERE
BEHEAR

MEEBFMTAREFE

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RE& KIS EEY
cash equivalents GRZL) /1EhniFEE
Cash and cash equivalents at the FVRERREEEY

beginning of the year
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes [E X&) > 72
Cash and cash equivalents FRREKRREEEY

at the end of the year

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

2024 2023
—E_OEF —E2=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
527 1,740
(3,642) (6,589)
344 14
(2,771) (4,835)
(5,723) (7,047)
(5,723) (7,047)
(3,905) 9,098
51,619 42,560
508 (39)
48,222 51,619

BBt 2 I EE UL FARE M HREZ

I:I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R M 5E

777 g = |

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 15 March 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at the offices of Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial
Building, 28 On Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories
respectively.

On 29 February 2024, the substantial shareholder of the
Company has been changed from China Xinhua News
Networks Co., Limited (“China Xinhua NNC”) to Mr. Kan
Kwok Cheung, an executive director and shareholder of the
Company. As at the date of this report, Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung
owns 54.6% issued shares capital of the Company and is the
controlling shareholder of the Company.

The Shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 30 August 2010.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the provision of
civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

2.

FERAMIEBMBREER (IEER
BWREER)) REETE

RAFEREERZHTEREMBRS
AR EIET A

RAEFE  AEBERERUTHELES
SEIAE (BB GEHEAS)) MRMmYHET
ERAMBREERNREEBT A ZFER
RIETANR_E_=FNBE—BMEAN
KREBFERERGEXN UEERES
TR

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts SERMBREER RS
October 2020 and F175E (BEZZ
February 2022 Amendments “EFETARIE
to HKFRS 17) _TEREFER
B PEIREZERSE175R
(1B51A))

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting EBBEERFES EEMEZEE
Estimates (1BET &)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to ARG ENFI2E HEB-XFESE
Assets and Liabilities (1BET &) NEEKEE
arising from a Single BRARVIRER
Transaction 18

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform- SR GTEDE 125 BERBENRE -
Pillar Two Model Rules (1BET &) SHITTRER

a1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting ERIHENE IR TEREE

and HKFRS Practice Policies BEMBREERE

Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

B S 5B25% (BF]A)

PR NPt &SN MAFEERANIER
MBRSENREETABEIERR A
FERBEFENMBRAKRERRER,
HZEREMBRERABAVIRESIEL

BEATE-

hEFESRIERARAS 2023/2024 £ 173



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance but
has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) -
Long Service Payment (“LSP’) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

The Company and its subsidiary are operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF
contributions to the trustee who administers the assets held
in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each individual
employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF contributions
was allowed under the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57).
In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR gazetted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use
of the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP
(the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the
Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately
preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of
termination of employment) is used to calculate the portion of
LSP in respect of the employment period before the Transition
Date.

2.

FERAMIEBMBREER (IEER
BREER)) REETE @)

RAEFERPERZMITETREMBRS
HRAREIETE (E)

EREEG A G EBBH BRI
REEEE ((HRE) —-RREZ (TR
HRFS 1) BRI B ot B R 2 15
SIMELHZ Bt HREE

TABREWBRABEEBEE AFE
BERTEEERREEXNIRARGE -F
B> ANEE M2 55 AFL R 6 1E RS
Mo REAEENEEEEEERFER
BEBRKEF - (BEED) EEED
$B578) AU EIREBEHMRAELERN
BB RFHBRINENRIBHRIARF & - 10
“ERCFRABEBRIITHREREFM
(2022F R (B R R IRETEA R (EEH 2 HF)
(EET) 1561) (MEFTHRGI) FIE > 5ETEE
HEZEAARGMERBESHRAEESN
SRR BIHENERRART % (B
BRIZSEI)) ~BERRIEFIN T _HFRP—
B (@& A1) EXEN - L5 RBEST
%01 5t B8 H B Al EERENRBARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) -
Long Service Payment (“LSP’) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting
for the offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong.
In light of this, the Group has implemented the guidance
published by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP
obligation retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and
more relevant information about the effects of the offsetting
mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from
employer MPF contributions that have been vested with the
employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s
LSP benefits as a deemed contribution by the employee
towards the LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account
for the deemed employee contributions as a reduction of
the service cost in the period in which the related service is
rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERA#MIEAMBRSERN (TEHEE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) -
Long Service Payment (“LSP’) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (continued)

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the Abolition,
these contributions are no longer considered“linked solely to
the employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory
employer MPF contributions after the Transition Date can still
be used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore,
it would not be appropriate to view the contributions as
“independent of the number of years of service” and the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no
longer applicable. Instead, these deemed contributions should
be attributed to periods of service in the same manner as the
gross LSP benefit applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19.

Based on management’s assessment, the change has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective:
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sales or Contribution of

And HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor
and its Associates or joint

ventures'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®
U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 3. RBEE

(a) Statement of compliance (a) EfHIEHA

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

180 CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

3. RREBE @

(b) HwEEREE

REMBERRDREEEMEEE
RO ERSREMRBATEE
ZETEMI AR BR TG
EERARRE) o

LA —MRIRE S MR R3]
REBZAFEFE-

AT EATH2RENFERSRE
EFXsTHEBEMWRENEE
BEAXMIER MAmZERE
& 4 B E R R R EUS 3R] 5 A H Ath
LEREGEF - REHEENREZ
AFER AEEEEENRFERN
HEESRBRETEBREENG
Ho-NZEREUBRRPAER,
HMBERNATEGRILEETUE
E o WEBYMBREERFE25E LUK
PARERZ AR EEABIURN &
BRI REFBMBRS
ERFE16EMAEIARZEER S
RERATEECELIFAFERNS
2 (PIunEBEtERB2RFE)
AR FENE B G5 2ERIE36
MEEREINEREBE R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which
are described as follows:

e |evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e |evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
notwithstanding that the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$9,112,000 during the year ended
31 March 2024 and, as of that date, the Group had
net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$418,426,000 and HK$403,430,000 respectively.

The directors of the Company adopted the going
concern basis in the preparation of consolidated financial
statements and implemented certain measures in order
to improve the working capital and liquidity and cash flow
position of the Group:

3. RREBE M@

(b) RREE (E

(c)

5 M BREMS A FEFE
BEATEFENHBABBEIERE
BERBABBHAFESENE
RESMDEAE MR B 2R
B = Akl BN

e F—MABWMABBEEERNE
EAHAULESEHNEREEN
BENEETHBHRE CREH

8,

s FMINWMABBEEAEEN
BEEENEEMTRENE
AEIE (B—A R E A RE
BRIN 5 K

s F=MIBMABBEEEENE
BN ERB AR

RGN EMBRERE  ARBESE
EBEZEAEB AR RTES
R ERERREBEE S -_NF=
B=1+—HIEEFEEBELEFEHEEY
9,112,000 BB EZH A& H
ZhREBBEFEREEFESIN
#418,426,0007 7T 52 403,430,0007&

JT ©

ARBEEFNRUEREMHRERE
EERMFEEERE - WEERET
i N EREBEZEEES AR
HESURRERERT

hEFESRIERARAS 2023/2024 £ 181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. RAEBE 2

(c) Going concern basis (Continued) (c) FHERERE (&)

On 15 April 2024, an aggregate of 1,666,666,667
subscription share, representing approximately
29.1% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
subscription shares immediately after the share
subscription completion, were allotted and issued at
the subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription
share to Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, an executive
director and the major substantial shareholder
of the Company under the share specific
mandate. The gross and net proceeds from share
subscription are HK$20,000,000 and approximately
HK$19,900,000, respectively, of which (i)
HK$10,355,700 has been used for the repayment
of its outstanding indebtedness of the Group which
includes (a) an amount of HK$2,008,844 due to
Xinhua News Agency Audio News Desk GrEEE &
.0, being a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xinhua
News Agency GHr#E+t) and a fellow subsidiary of
the China Xinhua NNC; and (b) part of outstanding
broadcasting fee in the amount of HK$8,346,856
owed to the China Xinhua NNC as a service provider
to the Group; and (ii) the remaining amount of
approximately HK$9,500,000 will be used for the
general working capital of the Group;

The fifth supplemental deed of the convertible
bonds of approximately HK$257,030,000 has been
effective on 15 April 2024, in which the maturity
date of the convertible bonds has been extended
to 9 December 2025 and the interest rate has
been retrospectively reduced from 3% to 0.8% per
annum. The holder of the convertible bonds shall
not convert or redeem the convertible bonds before
the maturity date and the holder of the convertible
bonds shall mandatorily convert all of the convertible
bonds into the conversion shares at the conversion
price of HK$0.196 per conversion share at maturity
date. The conversion price has been adjusted to
HK$19.6 per conversion share after the effective
date of share consolidation on 19 June 2024;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. REBE =2

(c) HERERE (B

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

Convertible bonds of approximately HK$64,127,855
have been issued to the China Xinhua NNC on 15
April 2024. The overdue existing convertible bonds
interest has been set-off against the subscription
price of the convertible bonds. The maturity date
of the convertible bonds is 9 December 2025 and
the interest rate is 0.8% per annum. The holder
of the convertible bonds shall not convert or
redeem the convertible bonds before the maturity
date and the holder of the convertible bonds shall
mandatorily convert all of the convertible bonds into
the conversion shares at the conversion price of
HK$0.196 per conversion share at maturity date.
The conversion price has been adjusted to HK$19.6
per conversion share after the effective date of share
consolidation on 19 June 2024;

Convertible bonds of approximately HK$16,240,000
have been issued to the China Xinhua NNC on 15
April 2024. Part of the outstanding broadcasting
fee owed to the China Xinhua NNC has been set-
off against the subscription price of the convertible
bonds. The maturity date of the convertible bonds is
9 December 2025 and the interest rate is 0.8% per
annum. The holder of the convertible bonds shall
not convert or redeem the convertible bonds before
the maturity date and the holder of the convertible
bonds shall mandatorily convert all of the convertible
bonds into the conversion shares at the conversion
price of HK$0.196 per conversion share at maturity
date. The conversion price has been adjusted to
HK$19.6 per conversion share after the effective
date of share consolidation on 19 June 2024; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

e The Company is negotiating with its promissory
notes holder to extend the repayment dates of
principal and the interest amounts accrued on the
Promissory Notes;

e Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, an executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company, has granted
a loan facility up to HK$60,000,000 (which has not
been utilised up to date of this report) to the Group
to maintain the going concern of the Company; and

e The management is endeavoring to improve the
Group’s operating results and cash flows through
cost control measures and will focus on the existing
business of the Group by actively engaged into new
construction projects.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, in light
of the various measures/arrangements implemented
after the end of the reporting period, the Group will have
sufficient working capital for its current requirements
and it is reasonable to expect the Group to remain a
commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the directors of
the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
Adjustments would have to be made to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any future liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and
liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. REBE =2

(d) Functional and presentation currency (d) WEEKREHRE

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars (HK$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Change in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (a) HREEE (&

Change in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs).The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from the sale or
contribution are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those asset to
a third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (c) ME- -BEREE

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
principal annual rates used for the current year are as

follows:

Site offices Over the respective project terms

Leasehold 30% or over the respective life of
improvements the leases, whichever is shorter

Machinery 20% - 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combination, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued) (d 8 &

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and property that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAEHBESZE @)

(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continueq) (d 8 &=
As a lessee (Continued) EBAMA (B
Right-of-use assets el =y
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEENMRASE

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease HEaENYT 2L ;

liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the e MEBHBRZANEMAEN
commencement date, less any lease incentives HENI REREWEIEEE
received; £

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and s XAEEBMELENEEVBERE

RS ; K

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group o AREBERIFMRKEEHRAEREE-
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, EBRAEMTHHERBHEEE
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring EHRERAREH TR
the underlying asset to the condition required by the R A IR A 5T o
terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the AEENEERGHR BMEREE

commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the AMERN B BREREEE-

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use FTRREERMAREARFITE
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated MRERBRFE LEEaENE
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any AEMTEFEHAERE

remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued) (d) fE =

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statements of financial position.

Refunaable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAEHBESZE &

(Continued)
(d) Leases (Continueq) (d 8 &=
As a lessee (Continued) EBAMA (B
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEE (&)
The lease payments include: MENMREE !
e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed e EEMNM(BETEEEMNN
payments) less any lease incentives receivable; FREWHEEESE ;
e variable lease payments that depend on an index or o BEBHIFMEMENTEME
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at ENRVMLTERMBBERANE
the commencement date; A EXHE S
e amounts expected to be payable by the Group e FpEEEFRETNTLAEETERS
under residual value guarantees; FETEVEEE ;
e the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably s KREBESERTEEFIIEEE
certain to be exercised by the Group; and HNITEE; &
e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the o ARIFFAXIBISIFR (FE & 8 & bR
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option AREBITEREFAL TR ©

to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are REEABEE BEESEREFFE
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments. REENRIEHAE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Lease modiifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease

liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

(e) Intangible assets (e) BR.EE

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gain and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

U]

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (‘FVTPL”")) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)
() Financial instruments (Continued) (H =MIA #E

Financial assets THEE

Classification and measurement of financial assets at A DR G ETHEE

amortised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are FHEeEUTHRHEZSHREERERBZE

subsequently measured at amortised cost: HEAET 2

e the financial asset is held within a business model e DWINENREREABENZ
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; (BREAFTBECEMEE ; &
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to s AHKARERNBFEHBHELE
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and ZHRERMABIZ MRS REE
interest on the principal amount outstanding. BEAEZHE

Financial assets that meet the following conditions REUTHRGEZEMEEHREB

are subsequently measured at fair value through other HttemWmZ AFEAR (FEBH

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"): tEmEEEAFEAR)

e the financial asset is held within a business model e DHERKBRENRERES
whose objective is achieved by both selling and ENEBEXFECEME
collecting contractual cash flows; and B &

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to s AAKARERNBFEHBHESE
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and ZHRERMABIZ MRS R EE
interest on the principal amount outstanding. BEAEZHE-

All other financial assets are subsequently measured FTEEMEMEEEREBERE
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/ NEEARFE BROTER 1
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may THADTHEEERD  MREKRERE
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair EFEEE  INIFE BT BHRSESR]
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive FIRERSHMBRENER S UL
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading BEHEBNIARE NEBAEH
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer AHHEEE REMEEREER
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business BRELEATFENEERES

Combinations applies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAEHBESZE &

(Continued)
() Financial instruments (Continued) ( THMIE #@
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (B
Classification and measurement of financial assets at BB AT ER T B HEE (B

amortised cost (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: BT3B AEmMEETDER
REBE !

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e BARZMEEZXIEHNR
selling in the near term; or RAARREE ; 5

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of ° RNTHEIAFTZEMEERR
identified financial instruments that the Group SEHXFEREZEARRT
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of BMEEZE D B RHERER
short-term profit-taking; or REE 5 %

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective e ZRTMEERLIFEERBM
as a hedging instrument. EAH BRI EZTET R

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a IESh » A5 B B4R W A Bl EI IS 7E -

financial asset that are required to be measured at the REEREBEFENANEBEMEE

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing WmBEAFEARGENEREE

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting EEREBBRREAFEARSE,

mismatch. i gt AT H PR BN BB R/ & ST EEAC ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) n EMIAE @
Financial assets (Continued) ETHEE (B
Amortised cost and interest income BT KR F S A

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is presented as
a separate line item.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAXE:HBEER &

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) Hn EMIAE @
Financial assets (Continued) LTHEE (B)
Impairment of financial assets BHEERE
The Group perform impairment assessment under AEEREFEREESE ((FBHEE
expected credit losses (‘ECL”) model on financial assets B8 BARIBIRE B Bl EZEL
which are subject to impairment assessment under FOMBAFEREN TN EREE (B1F
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, contract B REMBWRIE 8 NEEKIR
assets and cash and cash equivalents). The amount ERINEEBY) BITRENEHTE
of ECL is updated at each reporting period to reflect HMEERENESRNSRESHAEN
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. UM BYEESBEERBIE

e

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from SHTEHREEBBENERAIAZ
all possible default events over the expected life of AT FEHRMBE R EREZENS
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL HBEE 2BAGEESER k2>
(“12m ECL’) represents the portion of lifetime ECL 12 B FEREEEE (T12@B A1
that is expected to result from default events that are EEEE) 5N R EH®R12EA
possible within 12 months after the reporting period. NAEEEZBOEGHIIBEEZ
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical o= HFEHREERE AL EA
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are EEBEREEHEKRET wtH
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions BN BEREEBERIURER®RS
and an assessment of both the current conditions at BHzErBRRERAZERKERLN
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future EMEZz B2 R ERZIEL
conditions. FHEo
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade KREBE — BRI E KR E A
receivables without significant financial component. The PTHNEZEWRIERD2PTERE
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors EEE-MARFBEAEHFNEE AR
with significant balances and collectively using a provision MRERAEESMAR N EELEER
matrix with appropriate groupings. FEZEEENTAIEERE.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) n EMIAE @
Financial assets (Continued) ETHEE (B
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (&

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) n EFMIAE @

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events of default that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) H EFRIE @
Financial assets (Continued) ETHEE (&)
Write-off policy W

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

HMEEHBRRZHFRIBARSE
MR EERAI WD HE (0
RBZHEFHBETEBRIEARE
B AEBEAMETREE K
TELEERER WER % BMiiEz
TMEEMNAIEZFRAEEKE
BRE TZHEEE - MEEE AR LT
REMH - HENEAUWEHEERR

s

FRHIEERIRZ 51 B R B

FEHEEREZEENARE E
ﬁfﬂa (BPBAEREIBZBE) M

BAORR 2 R - BOMERENE
BEDRELHBREENBEZE
SFEIRETH G - TBHREERB G
FRMRENEZBEENRGE
TE 2 ERE R B R NS EE o

—MMsE > BREEEEAEERES

HNENAEB A GHNREMA
AEEBRBRWRNZRBERNEZBZE
R WA SRR ETE 2 BRI =X
AR o

hEFESRIERARAR 2023/2024 55 207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurerment and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
other receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

( =FMIAE

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

U]

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables and other
payables, interest payable, convertible notes, promissory
note, lease liabilities and employee benefits) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Convertible loan notes contain equity component

The component parts of the convertible loan notes
are classified separately as financial liability and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) H ERMIAE
Financial liabilities and equity instruments THEERRETA (&
(Continued)
Convertible loan notes contain equity component SR BT IRR B E 1 ()
(Continued)
At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability RETH BN FE (8
component (including any embedded non-equity FEEABRAFERAITERR) BBt
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the fair SEUEMERARAT s ZBUEEZ
value of similar liability that does not have an associated N EETEHRE

equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by DEAETNBRKRELXBESTA
deducting the amount of the liability component from the HNATERENGFEEIDEENA
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This ANEE RERER &IORMER
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax FE) RFABTERHEBEMS
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, Solttih DEAERNIRRETE
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in TR IR TR IE R TR
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which mIERZEFBEARMDIEE MR
case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred RENRMKRRBEIHABNRET
to share premium. Where the conversion option remains B ERERRRZERREEA RS
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note, R -REMI MR ERERE R
the balance recognised in equity will be transferred BRIERERW R SR

to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the BT MR EREBBEN R Z A 12
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and FriSmBEREN DA DEES
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the BRRAEED o RAE DR Z A
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity BEREEmNGR 8ERONRZ K
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction KT ABBEONIREE TUER
costs relating to the liability component are included in FMEER AR ERZ IR AR A #
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised B o

over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EAXE:HBEER &
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) n ERIAE

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on
the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) Hh EFMIAE #H#@)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments THEEBRRETIR (&)
(Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities ARIFFESR 1T HE B (1B)
(Continued)
For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities MAETEHRIITERNEHEEIF
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount SXRE] HEAEMEENREER
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the REHMABaBERAERFEMIRHK
present value of the modified contractual cash flows BIIEHNREMNEREFE-MESE
discounted at the financial liabilities” original effective RoMANERARBELETEM
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are BENEEERNER THR#E T
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial T EaaEREmENRBAEREITR
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any A tB PSR o

adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability
is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

When the contractual terms of a convertible notes EHRREEN G QBB
are modified, such as extending the tenure, change IERFREA- ENERABRENITE
in exercise price of the underlying options, the revised B) » ERKESTIR B L R E &
terms would result in a substantial modification from HIRBKRE] Kt RFBEERSEE
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant KIER (BEEHRER) %> BEES]
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors, BERIEEIREHaERERT®
such modification is accounted for as derecognition of MEREAR KR IIEINEHMEEDN
the original financial liability and the recognition of new FREERC N BN RE (BIERA
financial liability. The difference between the carrying ENERaERMMESNITTETLA
amount of financial liability derecognised and the ) WATEZENEGERBGD
fair value of consideration paid or payable, including 0

any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continueq)

(9)

(h)

Construction contracts

The Group completes satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligations over time and the revenue is
recognised during the contract period based on the
performance progress, which is determined by input or
output method, which is to recognise revenue on the
basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
or based on measuring progress toward satisfying
a performance obligation based on results achieved
and value transferred, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.
When the Group is not able to reasonably measure its
performance progress, the Group recognises revenue
only to the extent of the recoverable amount of costs
incurred until such time that it can reasonably measure
the performance progress.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)

(Continued)
(h) Revenue recognition (Continued) (h) W (&)

e the Group’s performance does not create and e XKEBEZEANULXRBIZNIREFA
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the —IHEE MzEERAERE
Group performs; or N EHZEPES ; o

e the Group's performance does not create an asset e XKREBZENULRBIEHAE
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group EEERARZEE BAE
has an alternative use to the Group and the Group HAEBREFEERAERREAE
has an enforceable right to payment for performance HEZSERRNENZRIEBEAES
completed to date. B] 5@ E AT Z R o

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when TR WmnE A ESHEES R

the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 755 122 1 RE B0 5 RS B e 58 o

service.

A contract asset represents the Group'’s right to ENEERAEEMBNAERE

consideration in exchange for goods or services that EIENG REMRBEMEE L WAL

the Group has transferred to a customer that is not BN (BREAEKE) - LRI
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in EBUBRESEANFORTERE-
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable MR BUIGRIETE AL BUWERERN
represents the Group’s unconditional right to EARRR B ENRERIES

consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required BF S HERS o

before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation BHNEEELRE BEBE%FWE

to transfer goods or services to a customer for which B (HABEERE MEESES R

the Group has received consideration (or an amount of HRBTFTER2EE-

consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a HENBRNGNEERGNEE

contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis. DURZEEZEARKET]o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. BEREHEREH @

(h) WD ()

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract cost
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs as an asset if it expects
to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer
of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms
of other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the
Group that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(i

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before income tax’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

(i) Taxation (Continued) (i) MIE @)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(i

@)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attribute to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over
the lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
Employee benefits
1. Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees

have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

)

Employee benefits (Continued)

2. Short term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-
term employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

)]

Employee benefits (Continued)

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments payable on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to contributions
made by the Group.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset
as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it
is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. S XZ:HBEER @)
(Continued)

k) BREREREE EERIN ZRE

(k) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other

than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(k)

0

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

U

(m)

(n)

Provisions (Continueq)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

4. BEREHEREH @

U

(m)

(n)

B @

NAFIRERELEF TR > R
TEERI Fefti st By AU B ERIRES
HABE RIFEEN SRS
BEM-BREZER HEFEEN
H—EXZERREHAZHRAS
HE TRESIAEE BRIFE
MRz e E M-

(EEND %S

FREEBMRASREERBERESR
SR o

5

REREENEEERNMBRE
Ko UZBREINEEBUINZER
(OMNEE) T2 R ZHERTZBHZ
ERAERER - NEREHAR LUH
BetENEREERZAZERE
REME - LUONESHERATES
fRZIFEREE BREEAFTEER
Bz ERERIAE o UE SR A5
BWLHMNESHENIFEBMHERB L
BT LUEMRE -

hEFESRIERARAS 2023/2024 £ 225



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A,
777 g = |

R 75 ¥R 2R B 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(o) Segment reporting (Continued)

(p)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related party

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
entity that is preparing the financial statements:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family

is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(2) Anentity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
others).
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(p) Related party (Continued)

@

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies: (Continueqd)

(i)

(i)

(V)

(vii)

(viii)

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third party.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsorship employers
are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group’s or the Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(p)

(q)

Related party (Continued)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between a reporting entity and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

() that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.

Separate financial statement

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(r) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group which
qualifies as business combination, except for those
acquisitions which qualify as a common control
combination and are therefore accounted for using the
merger accounting.

Under the purchase method of accounting, subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange and, all acquisition-related
costs are expensed. |dentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

v

(s)

Subsidiaries (Continueq)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

4. BEREHEREH @

v

(s)

MEAE (&

B2 B RUE S NERITFER
Bmz R ELD 2 RIRAHE
@ UEE BRI A T EB TS
ZEHAEEFEAFENSD TS
SFEEAR-MEREBAWE R
BZEEFEZATE ZERTVERE
MREHREREMEE RS RAE

N7 =)

B

B # BN

BT EENHIRAERBETH
5 #8 Bh Fir I 75 B 1658 4 sz 5 U BB
BN SIRRERVIER T 5 GHERS ©

HEIWAEBRNBN#EB B EREE
TRXHEENERBESABE
& [ 4R (H B By B 75 ST R T 3 R 2R
FRRA RS > BIHS LAY 4% FE Rk B B 72
Bom P - ZFm TR THAK
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 5. EEg: ¥R FHEBEEZEZE
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY BRE

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

7 78 P B 24P R BY A 62 B & 51 BUSR B
ARBEFANFIESZ BEHMKIRE
BHEE KRS BREEFLFE G5
R&% o fh 5t RABBIRER D I B EAE R KRR
RAEMHOEMRERS L - BERERAIAE
BRI Ffhste

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on et REER D EFEREEGT N
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are sHEETNESTER ZE TR BIFEST

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that management has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Construction contract revenue recognition

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract

BRA(hStHARIR S % F ] MBI
BERRARRAAE > AGIRESTIB KR
HREA MR HEE] o

EREst Rz EZH i

UTHEERBREREAERZ 5THER
By P F HH AR B IS AR 5 B 755 3R A FE R0
THAREAREZEBHE ZFIK
5t E (RT3 BRIN o

() BESAWaiET

BEGHNIREE AEEZEERE

revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract HE=: TﬁL%@é%’]ﬁﬁ%Zé\%’] W 2
claims prepared for each construction contract as the BHBA R TIESRENREZM

contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the
management. In order to keep the budget accurate and
up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted
amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Such significant
estimate may have impact on the profit recognised in
each period.

232 CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

stoREAATEERNEERRARZ
ERSREEAER HERmIHE
ARMZREFFGERNBRE MLE
BEZERASERMETE - HHERFRRE
BEELREN EEEHNGNREE
TERSE LRBEESERERE
Bz AR - AENMGEPIEHZH
BRSO A EE R E o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. EEGFHE KRG RABERZE
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY BRE @)
(Continueq)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies FERgTBERZEEHIE &)
(Continued)

(i) Construction contract revenue recognition
(Continued)

() BESHMaET ()

The Group recognises its contract revenue based on the
satisfaction of the performance obligation either input
method or output method, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract or
according to the percentage of work performed to date of
individual contract of construction works as a percentage
of total contract value. Because of the nature of the

FEBRBEHBNSENREITUES
NEHEHEEDESGHRA > BEF
2EEERSHPREENTINE
LHESNBESHENED LIS
BUIRRIREGNESEETHNT
BIERENBEZBEDL -HRIRE
BEGNETITNEE 55T
T BEEEFN T BEIEE

activity undertaken in construction contracts, the date at BRI S s AR -
which the contract activity is entered into and the date
when the activity is completed usually fall into different
accounting periods.
6. REVENUE 6. &=
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () BEEEHAWRESIF
customers
2024 2023
“EZME S
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET
Construction works RETIR 468,963 496,457
Revenue recognised over time  F& RS R FE SR UR & 468,963 496,457
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

6. REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligation under the
Group’s existing contracts is as follow:

Within one year —FRN
More than one year Bil—F
Revenue recognised over time ~ BERF R FE SRR &

This amount represents revenue expected to
be recognised in the future from pre-completion
construction contracts entered into by the customers
with the Group.

7. OTHER INCOME

Interest income FE WA
Government subsidies (Note) KU 8 (Afat)
Sundry income HIFWA

Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
recognised government grant of HK$nil (2023: approximately
HK$2,442,000) in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies which
is related to Employment Support Scheme provided by Hong
Kong Government and subsidy from Construction Industry

Council of approximately HK$234,000 (2023: HK$119,000).
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6. W@ &

(ii)

NEEXRSHNHFTROBENR

=8

REFEBFEEGNDEER N E
NEENZZEREBNT !

2024 2023
—E-ME TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
345,040 398,248
431,362 628,637
776,402 1,026,885

ZEREARBEMER ZAERSG]
YR THZERGORPRIIK

WA
S o

m

7. HMMKA
2024 2023
—E@mE TEBC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
344 14
234 2,561
2,406 2,028
2,984 4,603

et -

BE_TNMF=-RA=+—HLEE">

NEBMETBET MRME t25R
ZCOVID-198RA R FE SR B AT/ Bh 2 78
T (CE =6 £92,442,0003% 71) KK
HEEXZ TR MBNIZ234,0008 T (Z

T =4 119,000 7T) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

The Group’s segment information is presented on the basis
of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”), in order to allocate resources to the
segments and assess their performance.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

(i)  Provision of civil engineering services — provision of
waterworks engineering services, road works and
drainage services and site formation works for public
sector in Hong Kong; and

8. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET 8. Hfth (§518) W= FEE
2024 2023
—E_mE —ET=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Exchange gain, net bE U 0 R ER 20 2
Net gain on disposal of property, HEYME - BEASREZ
plant and equipment W i F 28 76 1,217
Net loss on termination of lease KRIFAE 2 BRI (1,371) (237)
Reversal of/(allowance for) expected LB 5 FEW R IEFE SR 2 TEEA
credit loss recognised for trade EEEBRRD (8H)  $58
receivables, net 262 (83)
(Allowance for)/reversal of expected ~ FLEMEWRIBE ML 2
credit loss recognised for other TERAE 518 (&) /#E
receivables and deposits, net FEE (1) 122
Allowance for expected credit loss ~ FEENEERDB 2 BREE
recognised for contract assets, net  E5i8#iE > JF58 (83) (308)
Gain on modification of promissory AR ZEEEFT W am
note - 6,722
(1,007) 7,435
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. HEEE

FEBZDHBEHDBREBEEARTDRITE
EHEBEERRE (FEEERK
E)) ROEEBERER DB KGR D ER
RIEMEMBE ZABHRETFUE R

BiEMs ~EBRESBUHREER
BRI 2RO EWMT
() RELARIERB-AHEBLEIF

RHEKBIRERS BRIEKRED
R e EMBTEIR, &
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)  Media and advertising business — (a) the business
of broadcasting television programmes on television
channels operated by television broadcasting companies
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and (b)
business of promoting digital marketing activities on
overseas video platform in return for advertising and
related revenue.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately
as each of the product and service lines requires different
resources as well as marketing approaches.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Revenue from external customers REIMNIE P 2 W5
Reportable segment results AIE2RNMBEE
Unallocated corporate income KB EERA
Unallocated corporate expenses KB ERET
Finance costs BB A

Loss before income tax BRAEMAIESE
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9.

DEWER &

(i) HEAESEH-()EUREZXE
(FEERE) 2 BEERABFTE
EZBRAEETBRONB BRI
FET 5 R(b)IBIMRIAT & i E S
EHEHLURNES RAARZE
E 3L

AR EERMRFENTETRANE

BT S R A RRVESEF % o REE
FHEEEDER -

BB B AR

FEERDERREE D ME DB W
REEDHTUT

BE_SE-_NFE=HA=+—HLEE

Provision of Media

civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total

R AIR

R%E EERESES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
468,963 - 468,963
6,253 (167) 6,086
332
(4,097)
(11,998)
(9,677)
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Revenue from external customers RENMNBE P 2 W@
Reportable segment results ERNBEE
Unallocated corporate income KB EERA
Unallocated corporate expenses R ERY
Finance costs MEMAR

Loss before income tax BREERAISE

There were no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4.
Segment profit/loss represents the profit earned/loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of central administration
costs, interest income, finance costs, gains on modification of
promissory note and income tax expense. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

9.

DEER (7

DERM R AR (E

BHE_BE_="#=H=+t—HULHFE

Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
RMIATHE
k% EERESER st
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
496,457 - 496,457
(2,474) (402) (2,876)
6,770
(3,617)
(13,183)
(12,906)

BE_Z_NFAR_FT-_=ZF=A4
=+—BLEFEMEDIEHE -

EE RS 5T BUR BRI SEAPR P A &
B gt BRER DB EF],BEER S
BAERDE R RITEAE S FE WA &
B A AR ERETT W m TSR
AIFrBREN SR EEMNBIR LB E
BEBRREERUFHEDEE R KT
mRRZAESN -

hEFESRIERARAR 2023/2024 55 237



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

el BRI
For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

At 31 March 2024

Segment assets NHEE
Unallocated FOEC
Consolidated assets EEEE
Segment liabilities NEER
Unallocated FOEC
Consolidated liabilities el =
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9. oHEN =

DEEERER

FEBERDERREENMEI D ZEE
REEDHFWMT :

R-ZE-_@mE=A=+—H

Provision of
civil engineering
services

Rt AR
R

HK$'000

FET

170,389

192,425

Media
and advertising
business

HRERREES
HK$'000
FET

160

33,853

Total

@t
HK$'000
F#7

170,549
48,411

218,960

226,278
396,112

622,390
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEEN &=
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) IHEEREGE @)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=-F=-H=+—H
Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
R AIR
R EERESER imst
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Segment assets NHEE 193,741 41 193,782
Unallocated ENAL 51,761
Consolidated assets RREE 245,543
Segment liabilities e =L 220,320 34,447 254,767
Unallocated ENAL 385,582
Consolidated liabilities Y=L 640,349
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and BERDBRFERDEIHER :

allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other e BRREMREZFEY  JTWERIER
than cash and cash equivalents, tax recoverable and tEBEEN MBEEHNDREZEE
corporate assets; and PE K

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other e RUMRER -ENMEBEVIELERIE
than convertible notes, tax payable, deferred tax BE -EAREEREEEGIN A
liabilities, promissory note and corporate liabilities. BEHDEESEDSS -
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. REEH &
Other segment information HihaEHER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_T_NMF=H=+—HL=FE
Provision of Media
civil and

engineering  advertising

services business  Unallocated Total
BT ATIRE Bk
R% BEER xRE Wt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 5,592 - - 5,592
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERRENE

equipment 7,995 - - 7,995
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 4,057 - - 4,057
Allowance of ECL on contract assets, ~ &N EERBEERE

net R 83 - - 83
Reversal of ECL on trade receivables, BaRKIERBEERE

net e E R (262) - - (262)
Allowance of ECL on other receivables  E-ftFEINFIE R % & T84

and deposits, net EEBREE 8 1 - - 1
Net gain on disposal of property, HENE BERREZ

plant and equipment Wa 3 e (76) - — (6)
Net loss on termination of lease RIEE 7 BIREE 1,371 - - 1,371
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. NEEHR @
Other segment information (Continued) Hih3EEE (&
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_ S —F=-RF=+—HLEE
Provision of Media
civil and

engineering advertising

services business Unallocated Total
RMIATE e Y
BR% BEER *7nk st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 18,965 - - 18,965
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERREBINE
equipment 7,353 - - 7,353
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE 3,564 - = 3,564
Allowance for ECL on contract assets, &N EERBEERE
net oL R 308 - - 308
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables, & 7 EWFIETRIE SR
net oL R 83 - - 83
Reversal of ECL on other receivables Hth W IE Ko ¥ TR A
and deposits, net FEEEER 38 (88) - (34) (122)
Net gain on disposal of property, HENE BERREZ
plant and equipment s 3R (1,217) - - (1,217)
Net loss on termination of lease RILRE 7 BIRFE 237 - - 237
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

Revenue from external customers of the Group was all derived
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

All non-current assets are located in Hong Kong.

HEER (@
HERH
BE_Z_NER-FBEZ=F=A8

=t+—BLEFE xEBREMNHEELZ
W9 EEEEH-

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as
follows:

Customer A (Note (i) ERE W)
Customer B (Notes (i) and (ii)) BB Z Wa0)k(0))
Customer C (Notes (i) BER Ha))
Customer D (Notes (j)) B2RT (Wa0)

Notes:

(i) Revenue from provision of civil engineering services.

(i)  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the respective year.
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FRIEIERBBEEDUNEE-
EREXEERZEN
REHERFEGEAERBNGBB10%Z
BERZWENT
2024 2023
—EE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
65,216 75,274
- 92,791
148,280 135,470
119,575 99,028
Kiat

U]

(i)

RERMEIATERB Z R

EFEHBRETEGAERRSEES

10%°
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10. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

Profit from operations has been
arrived at after charging: STESW
Contract costs recognised BB ARZ 2 a4 ME*
as expenses”

Auditors’ remuneration TZ B EmE BN

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment™*

Depreciation of right-of-use assets™* {EFEEEITE"
Staff costs (note 11)*** BITRA (Wat11)
Expenses relating to BRFIAEE X

ok

Hokkok

short-term leases

Contract costs recognised as expenses mainly include
subcontracting fee of approximately HK$251,309,000
(2023: HK$254,792,000) and raw materials of approximately
HK$26,869,000 (2023: HK$62,459,000).

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$7,147,000 (2023: HK$6,505,000) and HK$848,000 (2023:
HK$848,000) have been separately expensed in cost of services
and administrative and operating expenses respectively.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$2,829,000
(2023: HK$2,911,000) and HK$1,228,000 (2023: HK$ 653,000)
have been separately expensed in cost of services and
administrative and operating expenses respectively.

Included in the staff costs, approximately HK$101,256,000 (2023:
HK$95,684,000) was charged in cost of services.

BRI E

EEET

BB B DEINRU TS EE

ok

Hokkk

2024 2023
—ETME —E=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
450,900 493,037
650 650
7,995 7,353
4,057 3,564
105,165 99,878
416 439

BRAERZIZENARELATECESE
EHH4251,309,0008 T (ZE =& :
254,792,000 7T) KR 114926,869,0007%8
7T (CEB =4 62,459,000 7T) ©

YME-BERREITELT,147,0008 7T (=
T = £ 6,505,000 70) 5848,00058 7T
(ZEZ =4 : 848,000 7T) ED BRI R
ARASU A TBUR A& Fa S P 8 o

fEREE ETE#2,829,0008T (2 ==
£ 12,911,000 70) K&1,228,0008 T (ZF
Z =4 1 653,000 7T) B9 B BRIE AR AL
BATH RS E RS A 84 o

BT AA1E4101,256,0008 7T (ZE2 =
£ 1 95,684,000 7T) 5t ABRFS A ©
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11. STAFF COSTS

Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration) comprise:
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Contribution to defined contribution
retirement plan

12. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:
Lease liabilities
Promissory note (Note 27)
Default interest of convertible notes

11. BT

2024 2023
—EME TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET

BT (BFEEEHHN)

BIE

IE e MEMER 102,682 97,722

TEREMH R IRET BIMHRR
2,483 2,156
105,165 99,878

12. BB
2024 2023
“EME TET=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
UTFEEZFE

HEaR 369 377
A REE (Hfa227) 3,918 2,708
MR EREST B 7,711 10,098
11,998 13,183
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

@i

Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of the remuneration paid and
payable to the directors by the Group for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2024

Executive director and chief
executive officer:
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (note (i)

Executive Directors:

Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i)
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Tang Li (note (i)
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

BHEZZ_mE

ZA=t+—-HLEE

HITEFERITHA -

FXFHEL W)

HiTEF .
ZEiat ()
HRBERE W)
BEEEE

FHTEE .
BRLL ()

Indlependent Non-executive Directors: 1 FEH/TEE

Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (note (i)
Mr. Kwok Man To Paul (note (i)

REHEE
AEBREE
E#EIELE Wazip)
BXERE (W)

13. EEMERESREEREME

) ZEEM=
MEBE_ZE_NFRZEI=6F=
B=t—HLEFEEUREMLKE
BEEMESEREUWT

Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees other benefits Bonus schemes Total
HERk RIATET
ik HithigF| TE4L BE 5N Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FET FET
- 12,812 - 19 12,831
12 1,440 - - 1,452
144 = = - 144
144 = - - 144
12 - - - 12
12 - - - 12
324 14,252 - 19 14,595
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2023

Executive director and chief
executive officer:
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (note (i)

Executive Directors:

Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i)
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i)
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Tang Li (note (i)
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

BE_ER_=F
ZA=+—HItFE
HITEERITEHY .

FXFEL W)

HiTEF .
ZEEL (W)
HRBRE W)
BEIFLE

HHTEE .
BBLT (i)
BlRERE

Independient Non-executive Directors: /81 JESH1TEE

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
(note (j)

REEE
FEBREE
EBERE
(Haze)

(i) Resigned on 14 October 2022.

13. EEMEREHR

EEENE @

) ES=M=E @

Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees  other benefits Bonus schemes Total
ek BIRTER]
itk Hitrig# E4L SRS st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
- 12,412 - 18 12,430
12 1,280 - - 1,292
144 - - - 144
144 - - - 144
77 - - - 77
377 13,692 - 18 14,087
Bzt -

(i)  The directors’ emoluments were waived for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

(i) Appointed on 29 February 2024.

246 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

(i)

(i)

N_EZ_HF+BA+HEEHE

RIE_WNE_B_+HhHEZE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 13. EEMEREREEEME @)

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, directors’
emoluments amounted to approximately HK$48,000
(2023: approximately HK$48,000) were waived. Waived
contributions cannot be used to reduce ongoing
contributions. There were no emoluments paid by the
Group to any directors or chief executive officer as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

() EFME @

BE_Z_MWME=ZRB=+—HL*%E
B> BEREZEEME47%48,0008
7T (CE - =4 : £948,000587T) ° B2
WEZ B BRI E R -
AEBUEODEAESHEIETE
AEXHEAMEUEABARE
MAXEBHPIMARZ KB FE
AEEEEE-

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 14. EEMNE

The five highest paid employees the Group during the
year included two (2023: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remaining three (2023: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

Basic salaries, bonuses and BEXR#e oAl R HEM2EE
other allowances

Contributions to retirement BIKEF) B

benefit schemes

rEBRAFEZIRERSHEETE
Ema (CET=F W) &5 FHE
EMT 2 FBEEN EXWEE13 Hif=
(CE=F: =) xoHEE WXL
ABEFHETETEAS) Z&FBUOT

2024 2023
—EF —E_=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET TET

4,557 4,039

36 54

4,593 4,093
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mE M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

14. EEME @)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the EEFHES MIERARBES) Z2MENTF

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the THHENABMT :
following bands is as follows:

2024 2023

—EmE TEC=H

Number of Number of

employees employees

ESAZ ES N

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000 7T 3 !

3 S

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, none
of five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

15. INCOME TAX CREDIT

The amount of income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

ERRE-FANER
—FRIRIA
—BEFEBEEE

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax
— tax for the year
— over-provision in respect of

prior years
Deferred tax (Note 29) IRIEIRIE (2#29)
— provision for the year — R EE
Income tax credit TSRk

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI respectively.

15. FRGMIER

meBEmkEMERR@RZAESRE

2024 2023
—EME =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

229 260

= (4,011)

229 (3,751)

(794) 302

(565) (3,449)

REESBHEROFESRMAES SEHK
& EE 2,000,000 7055 F 1 #28.25%
%2 » 2,000,00078 7T M _EiEF) #3216.5%
BB -FBRAAFN T AEERERE
BE B E ) A M B H2 B — TR E16.5% R o
At tEREBSBNEEANERNG
2,000,00078 7o B9 51 FE SR # i F1)3%8.25%
#0#2 » 2,000,00078 70 U _E I E 5T FEER IR i
FBI)3216.5% 7R

BEFAEREREBREREE (HBEY
BE)) RAER 7 AR AR EER
YEESEMA I Z B A E B A
ERERRBREREESBZEMAMRE
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

15.

16.

INCOME TAX (Continued) 15.

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Enterprise Income
Tax rate of the subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the
PRC is 25% (2023: 25%).

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before income tax BRFT1SM AIES1E
Tax calculated at the rates, BN ERBEXFTELS T
applicable to profits in the BRZREFAEZRIE

countries concerned

Tax effect of expenses not deductible R H1RIRIERIEES >~
for tax purpose MBE

Tax effect of income not taxable for ~ BERIMAINA Z IRFERE
tax purpose

Over-provision in respect of prior years & 1+ & Z {8 RE 1

Tax effect of temporary difference not RFERERERE 2 REFE

recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses ~ ENFRFESIIRIBRIE
not recognised MBE

Tax effect of tax losses not RERRIBEEZ
recognised MBE

Income tax credit TSR R

DIVIDENDS 16.

The board of directors does not recommend the payments
of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024
(2023: nil).
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FRigM (&

BIEFPERTRE AR R P EEM
PRI Z B AT 2 R EFTRSMMEK7325%

(CEBZ=4F:25%)-°

FRRBERERGSEa REMEEI
MR ZPRFISMATB IR Z BRI T ¢

2024 2023
—E-ME B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(9,677) (12,906)
(1,608) (2,161)
2,396 3,264
(1,350) (2,194)
— (4,011)

230 118
(1,033) -
800 1,535
(565) (3,449)

2

EFXFgfEENBE_T_NE=A
= t-HLEFERIEARE (CEZ=

FrE)o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI
For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ
17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss ]

Loss for the year attributable to the AU GtESRER L E#EEEERN
owners of the Company for the KAB)HEE NELFEREER

purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share

Weighted average number of ordinary I st B S E AR HI#EEEN

shares for the purpose of basic LE IS NRE T 8%
and diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023 are the same as the basic loss per share. The weighted
average number of shares for calculating basic and diluted
loss per share attributable to owners of the Company for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is adjusted on the
assumption that a subsequent share consolidation of every
one hundred existing ordinary shares into one consolidated
share have been effective in the prior and current year.

17. EREE

ERBEEANEBEERELARBEERR
TIHRBUTBURETE

2024 2023
—ETME —E=
HK$°000 HK$'000
F2ET FET
(9,324) (9,440)

Number of shares

R &E
(restated)
Ge==g7l))
40,553,499 40,553,499

BE_Z_MNOFEFER_ZT-_="F=H1
—t+—HLEFE SREBEEHEEESKE
KEEEE - BRAEEEZE_NER
TE T -RB=+—HILEFELXARQT
BEANEBLERERAREEEBNRG
MEFHE BREBKSI00RTEE
BREHABIREHBRONERMDEHN L
—EERANEEHBEEMNNRRIELH

o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. ME -BERRE

Leasehold Furnitures Office Motor
Improvements  Machineries  and fixtures equipment vehicles  Site offices Total
HEMELRE WE  EAREE WA Ef  OHEBHAE st
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Cost 7%
At 1 April 2022 RZEZ"_FME—H 80 80,529 3,341 10,477 53,032 15,225 162,684
Additions HE - 3,984 50 14 2,541 - 6,589
Disposals e - (6,650) - @) (2,605) - (9,300)
Exchange differences ERESH - - - (26) - - (26)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2028 MRZEZ=fF=H=+—H
2 =FNA-H 80 77,863 3,391 10,420 52,968 15,225 169,947
Additions fﬁ% - 40 7 18 3,577 - 3,642
Disposals e 80) 4,924) (2,786) 7,347) (3,157) (15,225) (33,519)
Transfer from ROUA EREFRREE - 1,450 - - - - 1,460
At 31 March 2024 RIZ2ZWME=B=+—H = 74,429 612 3,001 53,388 - 131,520
Accumulated depreciationand ~ R:HFERAE
impairment
At 1 April 2022 RZEZ"_FME—H 80 76,473 3,038 10,105 39,841 15,225 144,762
Depreciation charge for the year ERTERS - 2,371 80 9% 4,808 - 7,353
Eliminated on disposals HERTY - (6,650) - (45) (2,082) = 8,777)
Exchange differences ERESH - - - (26) - - (26)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2028 MRZEZ=fF=H=+—H
kZZ2-=FMF—H 80 72,194 3,118 10,128 42,567 15,225 143,312
Depreciation charge for the year S RHFTERBL - 3,058 88 % 4,753 = 7,995
Eliminated on disposals HERRE (80) (4,924) (2,754) (7,344) (2,741) (15,225) (33,068)
Transfer from ROUA EREFRREE - 4n - - - - 4n
At 31 March 2024 RIZ2ZWE=B=+—H - 70,799 452 2,880 44,579 - 118,710
Carrying amount IREME
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=A=1+—H - 3,630 160 211 8,809 - 12,810
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=f(=F=1+—H S 5,669 273 292 10,401 - 16,635
During the year, the Group carried out a review of the RER AEBEHZEME BERK

recoverable amount of those property, plant and equipment.

These assets are used in the Group’s performance of provision

of civil engineering services reportable segment.

Impairment assessment

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group

Wz AWEIERETEE RFEEAN
AEERBEIAIERBAIZROEZ

KIFo

AT

BE_ZT_HNFERZ

E_=%=A4

estimates the recoverable amount of the property, plant
and equipment and right of use assets based on higher
of fair values less costs of disposal and value in use. The
carrying amount of the relevant assets does not exceed the
recoverable amount and no impairment has been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. ERHEEE
Leased
properties  Machineries Total
HEME 128 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAET
Cost: (5%
At 1 April 2022 ===ty = R = 896 4,480 5,376
Additions (note (ii)) B (WE ) 2,760 9,616 12,376
Termination w1k - (2,300) (2,300)
Disposal HE (896) = (896)
At 31 March 2023 and RIE_=F=A=+—H
1 April 2023 “E-=—FMWBA—H 2,760 11,796 14,556
Additions (note (ii)) wE (WEE)) - 1,950 1,950
Termination w1k (1,828) (6,170) (7,998)
Transter to PPE EREME -BEKRKE - (1,450) (1,450)
At 31 March 2024 A_E_NE=HA=+—H 932 6,126 7,058
Accumulated Rt ERRE
depreciation and
impairment
At 1 April 2022 R-_EBE-—_FmMA—H 896 505 1,401
Charge for the year FREX 653 2,911 3,564
Termination w1k - (978) (978)
Disposal HE (896) - (896)
At 31 March 2023 and RZTEZ=F=H-+—H
1 April 2023 —E=FYA—H 653 2,438 3,091
Charge for the year FREX 1,228 2,829 4,057
Termination el (1,149 (2,222) (3,365)
Transter to PPE EREYE -BREKRKE > (471) (471)
At 31 March 2024 ATENE=HA=+—H 738 2,574 3,312
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_WNE=HA=+—H 194 3,552 3,746
At 31 March 2023 RE_=F=A=+—H 2,107 9,358 11,465

hEFESRIZERARAS 2023/2024 £ 253



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 19. FREEE &

2024 2023

—ETmNE TEC=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Expenses relating to short-term leases A RAFRHITE S 2 B~ 416 439
Total cash outflow for leases (note ()  FAEIRE R HAREE (B5%0)) 6,139 7,486
Addition to right-of-use assets (note (i) FREERESEE (#1:(i)) 1,950 12,376
Note ():  Amount includes payments of principal of HK$5,524,000 Kzt WHREsBEEREHEEaEAREN

#5,524,0008 T (ZE = :
6,954,000/ 70) RF| E B 2=
199,000 7T (Z &~ = £ : 93,000
7T) U SEEAFE 5416,0008 7T (&
T =4 439,000 7T) °

(2023: HK$6,954,000) and interest portion of HK$199,000
(2023: HK$93,000) of lease liabilities and short-term lease of
HK$416,000 (2023: HK$439,000).

Note (i) Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from hire Kiati): HEESECEKEEBREERE
ENEREEE-

purchase of machinery and renewal of lease.

During the current year, the Group leases certain office
premises and machinery with lease term of between 21
months to 30 months (2023: 21 months to 30 months).
Leases terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as securities for
borrowing purpose.

The impairment assessment are disclosed in Note 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

20. JOINT OPERATIONS 20. &t E

R_E_NMEARE_=ZF=B=4+—
HRaErEREFBUNT

Details of investment in joint operations as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 were as follows:

Attributable interest

Name Place of operation to the Group Principal activity
%18 EiE R FEEEGED TEXEH
2024 2023
111 -t
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2015/03) operating in Hong Kong
MEEEWECV/2015/03) REBEBEZEBIEGELE TARIR
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49%  Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2016/10) operating in Hong Kong
MEBEEKECV/2016/110) REBEEZEBZEGERE TATRE
Harvest-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49%  Civil engineering
(ND/2018/02) operating in Hong Kong
i —EEHE REREEZIFBEZEAERE TARTE
(ND/2018/02)
Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 95% 95%  Civil engineering
(4/WSD/19) operating in Hong Kong
RE—EEHE REBEEZIFBIEAE X TARTIHRE
(4/WSD/19)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

20. JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)

Name

i

Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture
(CV/2019/04)

RE—EXHE
(CV/2019/04)

Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture
(CVv/2022/08)

RE—EEHE
(CVv/2022/08)

Note:

Place of operation
SEM A

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZFBEECELE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZEBiESE X

20. &L E (&

Attributable interest

to the Group Principal activity
FEEEGED TEEH
2024 2023
“EME -y -
20% 20% Civil engineering
TARIRE
30% 30% Civil engineering
TARIRE
ByaE -

Pursuant to the terms of the joint agreements, the profit sharing for each
year of all joint operations listed herein above shall be distributed to the
joint operators in proportion to their respective interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables (Note (i)

Allowance for ECL

Other receivables (Notes (iv))

Deposits

Allowance for ECL (Note (iii))

Prepayment (Note (ii))

Notes:

8 7 EUGRIE (7752()
R EBIEER

H A FE WA (BYa2 ()
BE
TRHEEmIRERE (Watii))

T TRIE (/i)

i) Trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period mainly
derived from provision of construction works on civil engineering
contracts. The related customers are mainly government
department/organisation and reputable corporations. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance of

ECL, is as follows:

Current to 1 month
More than 1 month but
less than 3 months
More than 3 months but
less than 12 months

BIEAZE11E A
BiEiE s B L R3MER

HBiEsEa B 12EA

21. BHRHEMEWRIE

2024 2023
—E-mE —®-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
58,317 74,051

(929) (3,431)

57,388 70,620

926 814

3,373 3,643

(29) (28)

4,270 4,429
41,407 49,598
103,065 124,647

et -

REERR2EZRERETEZRBIEH
TARITREGHNZBEATR - EREREESR
BRSPS, B REBRF 2 B KER
I EE L 2 S AEER T A (AR -

B 5 RUWGEIE (CINFRTRE SRR B
EREMRBREBZAMZREDNAT ¢

2024 2023
—E_mE B

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
45,671 56,322
6,108 13,826
5,609 472
57,388 70,620
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I

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &ZE —

R 75 ¥R 2R B 5E

—HFE=A=+—HIFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

M

(i

(Continueq)

The Group grants an average credit period of 30 days (2023: 30
days) to its trade customers of contract works. Application for
progress payments of contract works is made on a regular basis.

Movements in the allowance for ECL of trade receivables:

The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables in accordance with simplified

21. ESREMEWTRIE (&)

izt - (8)

#)
AEEBEHAGHNTIRESERREFH30H
(CEZ=F:30H) 25Ef a0 TRE
ERIEREE EHRET

BRI H BRI EEEREGEED

TREHRBEEEMNE Z EUGRIERET
ZE2HRREERERES

approach.
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2022 A _E - _FMB—H 3,348
Allowance for ECL, net FEHAE BRBEE 35 83
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 N_E_=F=ZA=+—HK
“E-=FYA—H 3,431
Reversal of allowance for ECL, net BHIE B R IR AR J$EE (262)
Written off b=t (2,240)
At 31 March 2024 RE-_WE=ZRB=+—H 929
Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 36. FEHAE B R 1B 2 ST s IR A I 5E36 ©

As at 31 March 2024, prepayments mainly comprised advance
payment to subcontractors of approximately HK$30,079,000
(2023: HK$34,953,000) and prepaid insurance of approximately
HK$10,458,000 (2023: HK$14,382,000).
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(i)

RIE-WFEF=B=+—H > BHEZE
EGERDBE I ZEMN4A30,079,000
Bt (ZZT =4 : 34,953,000 7T) UK
FEHRER4910,458,0008 T (CBE =4 :
14,382,000 7T) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{E - ZFE_[94F = F =+—HIFFZ

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continueq)

(iii) Movements in the allowance for ECL of other receivables and
deposits:

The following table shows movement in 12m ECL that has been
recognised for other receivables and deposits in accordance with
general approach.

21. BRREMEBURRIE (@
iz &

(i) BN FEREEERIEEEGREGE
-/

TREIBRE—AREE MEWRIE R IZ
THEEZ12EABREEBEES -

12m ECL
1218 B 888
FEFB
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2022 S 1) = = 150
Reversal of allowance for ECL, net TEHAE B R E R R0 ) 358 (122)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 N_E-_—F=-A=+—HK
—E-=FWA—H 28
Allowance for ECL, net TERRE B R 1EHE 0 358 1
At 31 March 2024 R-E-mE=B=+—H 29
Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 36. TBHAE BRI 2 s s IR A My 5236 ©

(iv) As at 31 March 2024, the other receivables mainly comprised
amounts due from other partners of joint operations of
approximately HK$109,000 (2023: HK$29,000). The amounts are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(v) RZE-NF=A=+—H > HtEWHRE
TEQERRAEEBNEMSELEHER
1849109,0008 7t (ZE = : 29,0008
T cRERERERF - REREERE
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract assets:
Retention receivables
Allowance for ECL, net

Contract liabilities:

Construction work

Contract with customers from
advertising income

Note:

BNEE:
R REE
TRHEEBIRRR P8

alNaE:
BETR
EREERAGH

At 1 April 2022, contract assets amounted to HK$24,758,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration

for work completed but not yet billed because the rights are conditional

on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain

period as stipulated in the contracts at the reporting date. The contract

assets are transferred to trade receivables where the rights become

unconditional. The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced

consideration received from customers, for which revenue is recognised

based on the progress of the provision of related services.

The balance of contract assets (provision of civil engineering service) are

expected to be recovered/settled more than one year.
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22.

BHNEE ANaE
2024 2023
—E-mE -
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
51,975 41,999
(905) (822)
51,070 41,177
82,358 87,215
1,575 1,575
83,933 88,790

Wt :

RIZZ"FMA—H > 58 EER24,758,000

BITe

BHNEETERAEENBTNEHERERER
WIZMEIRAEZENER REANEREHE
HEMENESERRaNREN —EHBRY
REERRTMERRSIIFE - ERM AR ERE
HE ANEEBREEZRKRE-aNaE
TEARFTRWEHNAMRERR Hiltm/H1R

BIRHAERRFEREE R

BNEE RHELATRERY 2EHREAR—F

(ELEIV



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. BHNEE SHNEE ®
(Continued)
Note: (Continued) Wz ()
Contract assets and contract liabilities which are expected to be RN AERIE S EEBRBIRE,EEZE
recovered/settled within Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as WEEKRGHEBBERPBEARD-
current.
Movement in the allowance for ECL of contract assets B ETEH e B IS E B
The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been TRHEFVBEBLEMNSNEERI 228
recognised for contract assets in accordance with simplified approach. EBEIEEE.
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2022 i Y S R = 514
Allowance for ECL, net TRHAE BREEE 35 308
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEBEZ_=F=ZRB=+—H0XK
—E=fWA—H 822
Allowance for ECL, net TRHEERIEEE B8 83
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_mNE=F=+—H 905
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The following provides information about contract liabilities from contract

with customers:

At 1 April rmAE—H

Revenue from construction work recognised IR EFIFA &N EEEHH
that was included in the contract liabilities RECHIBNEETIRE
balance at the beginning of the year W&

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of ~ FERAF L BRMEE
advance from customers during the year BHBEE

Revenue from construction work recognised & A9zt B WY & 2B FE ST AY
in respect of amount received BETREWRR
during the year

At 31 March R=B=+—H

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% — 0.30% (2023: 0.001% — 0.30%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2024, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$74,000 (2023: HK$110,000)
which is not freely convertible into other currencies.
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22.

23.

BHEE GNaE @&

Mzt (&

UTHAEZRANNAENERZER !

2024 2023

—ETmE TEI=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

88,790 65,228

(87,215) (60,068)

278,535 371,409

(196,177) (287,779)

83,933 88,790
RERREEEY

RITHEBREMBEMNENF0.001%E
0.30% (T2 =4 : 0.001%ZE0.30%) &t
/%‘O

N ZEINFE=A=+—H ' &x&EBE IR
ERBSEEYEEUARKAEZE
W 4974,000/8 7T (ZZE =4 : 110,000
70 EA EHR R EEME R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24, B RHEHMEMRIE
2024 2023
—EmE S

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Trade payables B ENTIB 43,128 55,467

Retention money payables FEIRE & 33,592 31,281
Amount due to a shareholder FE(S— = RRERRIE (H152())

(Note (i) 362 04,587
Interest payables (Note (i) FESFIE (B () 88,939 81,003
Amount due to related parties & BAZE 75 FRI8 (M &2 (ii))

(Note (i) - 2,009
Other payables and accruals Hh & FUB K fE 517U

(Note (iv)) (K5t (v)) 61,779 42,358

227,800 236,705
Less: payables within twelve months & - JREIBEIE FPRARAER+ 2
shown under current liabilities 188 NEMRIE (227,800) (229,928)
Interest payables shown under non-  FEREIEEIE FETRERFE
current liabilities - 6,777

Notes:

i) As at 31 March 2024, amount due to a shareholder represents
amount due to Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung which is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. As at 31 March 2023, amount
due to a shareholder represents amount due to the then a major
substantial shareholder of the Company, China Xinhua NNC, in
respect of annual fee for television broadcasting right, carriage
fee payment and satellite transmission fee which was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Mt

() MRIZTEZNE=ZB=+—H EET—2K
BRIEEERMEEELEZRIE AER
F REREEBERER R_ZE=F6=8
=t+—HB EN—aREFEEEMN—R A
NAERBERTEREBFPENENZER
EEREREIREE RIEHEREE
ERE NI AEIEF R B RIZEXRE
;ﬁo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) Interest payables represented interest of promissory note
and convertible notes of approximately HK$7,002,000 and
HK$81,937,000 (2023: HK$6,777,000 and HK$74,226,000)
respectively. As at 31 March 2024, the Company had defaulted in
repayment of principal amount of convertible notes of approximately
HK$257,030,000 (2023: HK$257,030,000) and interest thereon of

approximately HK$81,937,000 (2023: HK$74,226,000).

(i) As at 31 March 2023, amount due to related parties represented
amount due to FMEZ R, FES KL and China Xinhua
NNC which have a common shareholder, Xinhua News Agency (¥t
#E4T) . The amount was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

(iv)  As at 31 March 2024, the other payables mainly comprised of
amounts due to other parties of joint operations of approximately
HK$9,020,000 (2023: HK$12,417,000). The amounts are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group normally settles trade payables within 30 days
(20283: 30 days) credit term. Based on the invoice date, ageing
analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period is

as follows:

Current to 1 month BPERE1ER
More than 1 month but
less than 3 months
More than 3 months but
less than 12 months
More than 12 months iBid12(8 B
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bR REDERIERDY NS (EVE

HBEsEA B 12 A

24. BHRHEMENRIE (@

Mzt (#8)

(i) FEARBIERRERR A BRRZERNT S
3 B9 27,002,000 75 K2 81,937,000 7T
(ZZB =% 6,777,000 7T 574,226,000
Br) RIBEZWE=ZA=+—H =K
NEEBHREEITREEEAEELN
257,030,000 7t (ZZ = =4 : 257,030,000
HIT) R A E4981,937,0008 T (B =
£ 1 74,226,000 7T) ©

iy MRIBZ=F=A=+—H BNHAEIR
EERMMESGROZRIE - HESKRF
DEDEMERHEREZERRRERN
i - AR ERIT  RERIZEREE-

vy RZE-_MNE=ZB=+—H > HtEF
RETEQRENSEEENEMSE
B IE499,020,0008 T (ZBZ=14F :
12,417,000870) - ZEHIBATIEH 28
Bt BRER

AEE—MRNI0E (CTE-_=F:30R) =~
SEHNBEEEBESERARIB - RIBEE
R MERAR B FIE ZUIEREREL D AT U0
T

2024 2023
—E-MF TECT=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
40,037 35,775

269 16,888

19 7

2,803 2,797
43,128 55,467




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

25. LEASE LIABILITIES

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities is 5.85% (2023: 2.35% to 5.85%). The Group
has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount
at the end of the lease terms. No arrangements have been
entered into for contingent rental payments.

Lease liabilities payable:

25. HE&R

BRANREHESENNEESEEERN
MEH585% (ZE_=4F :2.35%=F
5.85%) - AEBBENEHRAULES
EEERE UEMIAASIRTILE

Within one year R—FR
More than one year but not exceeding BB—EBRBRME
two years

Less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease obligations

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months shown
under current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12
months

The net carrying value of leased assets used to secure the
lease obligations was approximately HK$3,552,000 (2023:

HK$9,358,000).

B RRBERX
HESAEZRE
B 2R REBEE 2R

B GIfERBERE)

R12ERRIMEE LA

(EES$z
ENEERE:
Present value of
Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
REAEMIR REBEMTRZRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—FImE  Z®Z= —FNE  ZBZ=
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FE FAET
1,799 5,878 1,735 5,558
72 2,968 14l 2,907
1,871 8,846 1,806 8,465
(65) (381) - -
1,806 8,465 1,806 8,465
(1,735) (5,558)
14l 2,907

ARIEREESINEEEENERT
THEM 43,552,000 (ZE-=
9,358,0003& 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R M 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

26.

27.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Annual leave entitlement FR#ER
Long service payments entitement £ HAARFS S #EF]

PROMISSORY NOTE

A promissory note with a principal amount of HK$45,040,000
was issued by Profit Station Limited (“Profit Station”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 11 August 2011
(the “Issue Date”) upon the completion of the acquisition of
17% of equity interests in China New Media (HK) Company
Limited. The promissory note is unsecured, carried interest at
the rate of 3% per annum and matured on 11 August 2014.
Profit Station might early redeem all or part of the promissory
note at any time from the Issue Date. Unless previously
redeemed, Profit Station will redeem the promissory note on
its maturity date.

On 11 August 2014 (the “Renewal Date”), Profit Station has
entered into an extension agreement with the noteholder of
the promissory note pursuant to which the maturity date of
the promissory note was extended from 11 August 2014 to
11 August 2017 and the extended promissory note will be
non-interest bearing with effect from 11 August 2014 till 11
August 2017. Furthermore, the noteholder has agreed to
waive the interest accrued on the promissory note amounting
to approximately HK$4,054,000 for the period from 11 August
2011 to 11 August 2014. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.
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26. EEEF

2024 2023
—E-ME TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
4,381 4,849

1,829 1,665

6,210 6,514

27. RREHE

KRBz BE2ENE A BProfit Station
Limited ([ Profit Station ) ¥ —&——%F
NB+—8 (I#T8H) TR E R B
1288 (B8 BRABZI7T%RERBITAR
S RE#A45,040,0008 T2 KRB o KR
ERA®RIEF - REAEIEFERRZ
E—pE N\ B+—HZ/HA o Profit Station®]
HE17T HEARERERF IR AT ME O & I 3 20
AR ER BRIEZ B W HEE] > TRIProfit
StationfF i EL |2 H BRI A R E45 o

A ZE—mENA+—H ((EHBE) >
Profit StationfBl KR BIEZ EERFE AL
STUERHE B AR EHEZ I
BHEZZ—OFN\E+—HBHEREZZ
—tENB+—H BRERZARE
BRERE_Z—NWENB+—HEEZZE
—tENB+—HIERE LS BF
EAEBRERRARERE_S—%F
NB+—HEZ_Z—MWEFENB+—HH
MR st 2 F B 494,054,000 7T o B L it
B AR BT HMIER R R GERT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

27. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued) 27. KAREE &

On 15 December 2017 (the “Second Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the second extension agreement
with the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
11 August 2017 to 31 December 2018 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 31 December 2018. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remain unchanged.

On 15 February 2019 (the “Third Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the third extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
31 December 2018 to 30 June 2020 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 30 June 2020. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remain unchanged.

On 9 March 2021 (the “Fourth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the fourth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which the
maturity date of the promissory note was extended from 30
June 2020 to 30 June 2022 and the extended promissory
note will bear interest of 3% per annum with effect from 11
August 2017 till 30 June 2022. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.

RZIE2—tF+ZB+AH (EZX&E
¥rEHA)) > Profit StationE A R E g~ Zig
RHBEABILEZMIERRKZ Bt X
REBEZIHPBHEZSE—ttENB+—
AEEEZZE—/\F+ZA=+—H 8
RIERZARTEZEERB-_Z—tF/N\A
+—HEEZEZZE—NF+ZHBE=1+—H
IE¥REF)EIE B o fr LA E SN AR E
B2 MR AR AT R o

RZE—NE_B+EHEH (E=REMHA
HA1) > Profit Stationf K R IR 2 ZIRIFH
ABFIIE=MERDGZ B KRR
Bz EZSE—N\E+ZB=+—
HEREZ 7_735/\)% +H > B&E
RZAREBEHEB S —TtENB+—
HEEZZ g_vfﬁ/\ﬁ + H LR FEF]
EKIEFTE o fr b ESN AR BIRZ Hth
BRI AR MR o

R_E_—F=BhH ((FOREHA
HA1) > Profit Stationfd A R EIE 2 ZRFH
ABFIIERMERGZ HBIL ARR
BZIBEE S _SFE,A=Z+HE
REZZZIZHFA=TH BLKERZ
AREBEFE_Z—tF/\BA+—HEE
ETETFANB=THILEFREIE
SR oBR EME N KR TR 2 HMIER
R A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

27. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued) 27. KRREE &

On 31 August 2022 (the “Fifth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the fifth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which the
maturity date of the promissory note was extended from 30
June 2022 to 30 June 2024 and the extended promissory
note will bear interest of 0.5% per annum with effect from
1 July 2022 till 30 June 2024. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.

On Fifth Renewal Date, the fair value of the liability component
of the extended promissory note was reassessed and
calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Fifth Renewal Date. The fair value
of the extended promissory note at the Fifth Renewal Date
amounted to approximately HK$38,318,000. The fair value
is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a rate of
18.25%.

At 1 April rmEA—H

Gain arising on modification of ARBBESTEE 2 Wm
promissory note (Note 8) (K1z£8)

Interest expense MERMXZ

Interest payables FEGFIE

At 31 March R=A=+—H

Less: Within twelve months shown — J& .
+-@A R

under current liabilities

Shown under non-current liabilities ~ JERENEEIE AT~
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MREBEEE TR

RIEZZENB=1+—B(EBEREH
HER]) > Profit Stationf & 2 245 2 ZIH1F
BABIUFEHBIERRZ BIL AR
ERCIHAHBE 2 - _FA=+H
EREZZE_NFEAAB=1+HBRIER
ZAREBREBZSE "t B —HIE
E_S_MENB=+HILERENRKOS
Est B ofr BB AR TR 2 HAE
R AERF R o

REAXEHBR CERZARERZ
BEBDPZAFEREEXREFHET
MEBTRAZEEMBMNEEGRFAE-
RIERZAREBZ AFERERARE
¥ B H#5 A& 4938,318,00078 7T © ‘A F AT ¥
FRIRIRE ME A MU18.25% 2 A IR =51
Ho

2024 2023
—E-MF TECT=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
40,429 44,949

- (6,722)

3,918 2,708
(225) (506)
44,122 40,429
(44,122) =
= 40,429




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 28. Al R

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes
with the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000,
carried interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia Pacific
Operating Co., Limited. Each note entitles the holder
to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share.

Conversion may occur at any time between 9 December 2011
and 8 December 2014. If the notes have not been converted,
the Company will redeem on 9 December 2014 at the
outstanding principal amount. Interest of 5% per annum will
be paid annually until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the
maturity date of the convertible notes will be extended for 3
years and the conversion period will accordingly be extended
for 3 years to 9 December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the
convertible notes will be amended from 5% per annum to 3%
per annum for the extended period, being from 9 December
2014 to 9 December 2017.

On 183 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to 9
December 2018.

R_ZB——F+ZBAB ARTETE
& #A#3%9607,030,0007% 7t > 1R F | K58
StRZ MR ER (PR WIEMEEF D
SEZEERADZHBONE -BHERE
BT HAARFNRESRRNA0.19678 T
ZHRERBAEBR-

AMREREIN _Z——F+_-ANA
EZ-ME+ZANBHBEABERER
BMoERERZTIHR AATRN T
—NE+ZANHBORTEAEE -5
FOBEZMERBARERN EEHER
oI

A ZE-—NE+ZANH AR EEE
RO MR ERE A ARBEMEN
MERBT LR LE  RIEA AT EA
BEMEMEERARREI TR ER
Z2ETHRIRGE ER()JREERZ
FIE B RIIE RIS A R AHAEEERIE
EIE—tE+ZHAAR; K(iERIEH

B &2—mWE&E+_BhABE_ZE—+
F+ZANH) 2 RRERZFIEEH
SHFSEBFI AT FEIE-

A TE—EE+ZA+=H AREHEE
ARBA R ERME—FE AP E
B ERMAT IS ZMEREE  EIEA
AR EPEFEREEREREET Y
MR BB Z R MF M AP REE
ZEHARERIF > BRI EREL
RIFEE"ZE-N\F+"HAB-
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28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continueq) 28. Al R

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 2 years and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 2 years to
9 December 2020.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to
9 December 2021. Except the abovementioned, other terms
and conditions of the convertible notes remain unchanged.

On 9 December 2021, the Company had default in repayment
of principal amount of convertible notes of approximately
HK$257,030,000 and interest thereon of approximately
HK$64,128,000.

The convertible notes contain two components, liability
component and equity component. The equity component
is presented in equity heading “convertible notes equity
reserves”. The effective interest rate of the liability component
is 11.27% from 9 December 2020 to 9 December 2021.
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RIE—NF+ZBAB AAFHEREK
PRI ERE —RE ARBMERN
MERETIE=DHARE  BItERQ
B HEAPEMENEERER BT
QR 2GR IRE P R ER
Ff BRI R2F AR AEELE RS
FEZIZTZEF+T"HABe.

AR —F—AZ+HBAATENY
RAEM|OIMRBRE A ARBEME
A ERBETILEEDHEREE  FIEE
REIAFEFEREERARREIA
MR ER 2 RG> R AR ER
ZEBHABERIF BRGIARKAEREILE
RIFEZZE T —F+ZANABKLEX
P& S > Al IR B4R 2 H AR R S R 14
R

A _E_—F+_ANH A RATEFREK
B2 R EE A $ £ E49257,030,000
BT R BRI B 4964,128,00078 7T ©

AR EEHMER AR PRB8E
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BREEERHEEI BET27 8E&HS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continueq) 28. Al R (@)

Equity component at 1 April 2022, 31 March R_-_ZE__FM@WA—H-
2023, 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E=F=A=+—8-
—E=FMA—HK
“EmOFE=A=+—HZ

gt
Liability component at 1 April 2022, RIEZZFMHA—H
31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and B2 =F=ZRA=+—H-
31 March 2024 “EBEC-FMB-HARIEZNSF

ZR=+—RzafR/sn

29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29. IRIEFRIE
The followings are the deferred tax balances recognised AT BARRRAERD 2
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the RESSUT .

movements thereon:

At 1 April 2022 A B _FIHA—H
Charged to profit or loss for FAREBEZHE Wat15)
the year (Note 15)

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 WIE-=HE=f=+—AR_E
“=FmA—H
Charged to profit or loss for FARBEZHE Wat15)

the year (Note 15)

At 31 March 2024 R-IE_MNE=H=+—H

HK$'000
TET

14,400
257,030

30 JIE 72 TR 45 BR

Accelerated
depreciation
allowances
DR EE
B
HK$'000
FAET

1,981

302

2,283

(794)

1,489
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$204,028,000 (2023:
approximately HK$206,246,000) available for offset against
future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each

Authorised: ERE -

At 1 April 2022, 31 March ﬁ(‘:%‘::ﬁflﬂlﬁ_ H-
2023, 1 April2023and —ZE-=H#=A=+—H-
31 March 2024 2 _FA—HKRZ

F_mE=A=1—8

Issued and fully paid: BRITRER :

At 1 April 2022, 31 March Ei\_v —“HE[BE—H-
2023, 1 April 2023 and “EI=F=HA=+—8-
31 March 2024 —E-FYE—HKRZ

TWPFE=/A=+—H
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RREPR AEBEXBARIERGIE
#%4204,028,0008 7T (ZTEZ=F 1§
206,246,0007% 7t) 7] B {E 1K 84 7] #& FR HA
,‘DE%ZEEJ& 37 o FR A SR 28 58 1 2 TR 2 L

2R B A LR TE S 1R M SR IE R I &

g °
fig zs
SRME0.001 B Tz ZiER
Number of Share
shares capital
AnES 4] f& 7
HK$'000
FET
500,000,000,000 500,000
4,055,349,947 4,055
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31. RESERVES 31. f#ff
The following describes the nature and purpose of each PR AR & BRI E
RER

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

&R

Share premium

egvipiai

Foreign currency translation
reserves

SNEEIA B R

Other reserves

Hthf#

Accumulated losses
RETE1B

Capital reserves

BARf#EH

Description and purpose

iR B8y

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders provided that
immediately following that date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

REREEEAEE RABRM GERA D IKT IR EEEEIK
lREZ BEAE KRB A B EFEERIRNER-

Foreign currency translation reserve represents foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 4.

SMEMBREIERBEENER M BEBRRMEE 2 INEERELR & #
EHIRE M EE48 5 2 G5t BURERIE

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of the Reorganisation.

KABINEMBEIENB AT AATINEZ HNAEEERFEEAR
BN EHZFHMNEERITZRMNEEZEZ 8

Cumulative net losses recognised in profit or loss.
PRIBm PR Rt 1B P8

The capital reserve of the Group represents the additions during the year

represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the shareholder.

FEENEARBEEFARE  ERRIFHZEBRIMNIERAEE

PEFESRIERARAS 2023/2024 £k 273



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 32. & ZEEEX 2 B EHIE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

At 1 April 2022
Cash outflow:
Repayment of lease liabilities
Other non-cash movements:
Gain on modification of promissory note
Termination of lease
Addition of lease liabilities
Interest expense (Note 12)
Interest payables

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

Cash outflow:
Repayment of lease liabilities
Other non-cash movements:
Termination of lease
Addition of lease liabilities
Interest expense (Note 12)
Interest payables

At 31 March 2024
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R_E - _ENA—H
REM
EEHEAE
HitIERE 28
AREEBETWE
RILAE
REMESAE
FERE Wiz12)
E(TF) S

RZEZ=F=H

=+-BRZFZ=F

mA—H

RERE
BEREaR
HittJeR& 28
KIERE
RENEEE
FERX Wriz12)
TS

RZE-ME
=B=+-H

Lease Promissory Convertible Interest
Liabilities note notes payables
(Note 25) (Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 24) Total
HEaE RREE WTHREREE FERFIS
(His225) (Hfzt27) (Hfzt28) (Hfst24) a5t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
3,869 44,949 257,030 70,399 376,247
(7,047) - - S (7,047)
- 6,722 - - 6,722)
(1,085) - - - (1,085)
12,351 - - - 12,351
377 2,708 10,098 - 13,183
- (5086) (10,098) 10,604 -
8,465 40,429 257,030 81,003 386,927
(5,723) - - - (5,723)
(3,255) - - - (3,255)
1,950 - - - 1,950
369 3,918 7,711 - 11,998
- (225) (7,711) 7,936 -
1,806 44,122 257,030 88,939 391,897
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 33. UM ABRBEZH®R

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
at a board meeting held on 11 August 2010 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group. The Share Option Scheme
expired on 10 August 2021. Under the Share Option Scheme,
the Board may grant options to the Directors, employees,
non-executive Directors, suppliers of goods and services,
customers, advisors and consultants, shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company with the
payment of HK$1 per offer.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the Shares of the Company in issue at the
date of listing of the Shares unless the Company obtains the
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
such 10% limit, in which case the total number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company as “refreshed” shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the Shareholders on the refreshment of the limit. The number
of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the Shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s Shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s Shareholders.

ARBREN_Z-—FFN\A+—HS
TZEFZTERBEIRBRRMWER
std (ERERE))  TE25ENSHA
EHRNAERZERARSRMHE R
B-lBRESEN _Z_—F/\A+HE
moRBEERESNE EFEAMES
BE -FATEST EmkRBZHE
BER BRRBHAT RRIEE
ANBARKLERE TB2EERRKRS
REEE UEBBHENXM1EBTZ
BB A R B RRAD

RIEBREE A ERE ZBRERY
RRDBE > TRBENKRM EHBHE
REIZEBHEITRNAI0%  ERRBRK
RARGLERFRHEBMABIONIRE
BRON FELLIE R S - IRIR TS B3 Bl 1
StEI KA~ EE R H B8 g #E 51 8 7T sE
Rz BRIEFTY RN BE T SBAE
KREMESHRBEZELDSHTRMDBE
A10% - ER BB AR B RREFTHERN
BRT RE—FREEEENALR
2 BB RIRINEE > N EBBE
ARRERRKEEZEZETRON1%-
WRFEIERRIBUFATEETZE
RIEBBEABRAEZ01%NEEBE
5,000,00078 70 RI A RAREIRIEZ X TR
RATRRE LA
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continueq) 33. UM ARRBZHR E

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant
of options. Options may be exercised in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his legal personal representatives) at any time
before the expiry of the period to be determined and notified
by the board to the grantee which in any event shall not be
longer than ten years commencing on the date of the offer
letter and expiring on the last day of such ten-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors and will not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, the average closing prices of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options or the nominal value of the Shares.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing the
shares.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no share
option was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and there is
no outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023, the Group had entered into the following transactions
with related parties which, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, were conducted on normal commercial terms and
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

(@ During the year, the Group entered into the following
related party transactions:

Related party relationship Type of transaction
RAE 75 R 1A R ER
China Xinhua NNC Accrued default interest on

convertible note

FREHTE T E B AR R RIBHVE S EXF B

3. EXRAERRS

B BERREME DK E
S BE_ENFERZZEZI=F=A4
—t+—HUEFE AEEHRMREBEL B
TIRG  ANABEBRBAZERZHIZ
FEBERRINAEBRBEBKBRE
FRiETT o

(@ FR AEETUUTHEELSRS :

2024 2023
—ETME =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
7,058 10,098

hEFESRIERARAT 2023/2024 &£ 277



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B wRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the

Group

The key management personnel of the Group are the

directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration

during the year are set out in Note 13.

(c) For the transactions constitutes continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to

“Connected Transactions” under “Directors’ Report”.

35. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were approximately
HK$1,950,000 (2023: HK$12,351,000 in respect of lease
arrangements of machineries and renewal of lease) in respect

of lease arrangements of machineries.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
Amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents)

Financial liabilities
Amortised costs

TREE
BIENE (BERER
REEEY)

TRBRE
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34.

35.

36.

EXRERRS @

b) TAERFTEEEASH

FEETEBEEASRETRTES-
FANIEF BRI EE13

© E%ﬁ*ﬁﬁ}zGEMtFﬁfﬁﬁu BT &R

%2522—? %

$E IR TR

FRERS

FL2HREFT

BE_E_HNFE=B=+—HILEEE"
mrk%%%%ﬂ ZHARBZERAREENRT
Ea@&4%41,950,0008 T (CE =

MR ERHREEREAES

12,351,0007&7T) ©

TMIR

() =T RLER

2024 2023
—EME TET=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
109,880 126,668
536,968 549,143
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, employee
benefits, promissory note, lease liabilities and convertible
notes. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(i) Credit risk management

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade and other receivables, deposits,
contract assets and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of trade customers and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is
purchased. Normally, the Group does not obtain

collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the carrying amounts of the recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

36. €M TH #@

(b) EFiEMEEEBNKREER

ARBZETEETMTABEEES K
HthEWHRE R - ReRFEEF
BY BZREMENNRE - EER
M -EARRB -HEAGERITBKRE
BezFEMIT AZFBIRARMEE
hRE-BZEEMIEERZEA
pEETSRR (EERRRFXE
%) MEERBEORBIE £ RS o B
ZERABZBRN TXEHY - EEE
HZERBETEERER BRU
REBMZHANEBTBEER K-

() EFERREE

rEBEZEERBRTIERBE
ZREMEBWRIE - ZE G4
EEUKRRERBAESEY -E
ERERIUGEBR THER
EFTEENZEEERR -

AEESHEZERHMBHNR
METHEEENG UBEE
EFEFREERE (WER) - —RKRM
5 AEETERR R ISR

[}
nn °

AEBZEERARIEREGS
MHERRRFAREESERE
EZREERZE-
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M

Credit risk management (Continued)

The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of reporting
period, the Group has a certain concentration of
credit risk as 51.3% (2023: 34.8%) and 98.5%
(2023: 84.6%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all
trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and ECL. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36. €M TH #@

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(b) EREREEENKREE &

(i) Credit risk management (Continued) () EEREEE (&)
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, trade receivables N ZEIMFERISEI=F=
and contract assets that are individually significant B=+—H BHENBELRN
have been separately assessed for impairment. BERKNTEBELRENEEETT
The Group make periodic assessments on the BB ET - AEERERR
recoverability of the receivable based on the HNESERBE BELEHEILRK
background and reputation of the customers, B B HA ST R RRIE Y
historical settlement records and past experience. B YR [E]4 o
Trade receivables B ZENIE
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_MNE=A=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Currentto 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3months  12months 12 months amount
BHE 188 3EAML
18R E3(EA BLR12BR 12AMNL R
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
ECL rate BHEEBEER 1.51% 1.91% 1.91% - 1.59%
Gross carrying amount IREEE 46,372 6,227 5,718 - 58,317
Lifetime ECL HEHEERE (701) (119) (109) - (929)
45,671 6,108 5,609 - 57,388
At 31 March 2023 A TET=F=ZH=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
RS 188 3ERLUL
1188 @B BLR12EE  12@BMLE IREAE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
ECL rate BHEEHEX 1.53% 2.17% 2.28% 100% 4.63%
Gross carrying amount IRER% 57,196 14,133 483 2,239 74,051
Lifetime ECL SHBHEEEA (874) (307) (11) (2,239) (3,431)
56,322 13,826 472 = 70,620
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36. EMTH #@

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Contract assets

At 31 March 2024

(b) =REAMGEEBNRBE &

ECL rate FHEEREE
Gross carrying amount IREAE

Lifetime ECL 2HEREERE
At 31 March 2023

ECL rate FHEEREX
Gross carrying amount IR

Lifetime ECL SHBHEERSE
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() GEEREEE (&)
EAIEE
RZE-_WNE=A=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Currentto 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3months  12months 12 months amount
EE 188  3fEAMUL
1188 E3MEA ELM2BE  12BAMNE IR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
1.74% - - - 1.74%
51,975 - - - 51,975
(905) - - - (905)
51,070 - - - 51,070
R_E_=F=B=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
= 18Aa SEAME
18A @A ELR12EE  12@AME EEIEGE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
1.96% - - - 1.96%
41,999 - - - 41,999
(822) - - - (822)
N A77 - - - N A77




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. M T A #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENREER (&
(Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continueqd) () GEEREEE (&)

Amounts due from other partners of joint operations

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the joint operations. The Group’s
credit risks in these balances are mitigated through
the value of the assets held by these entities and the
power to participate or jointly control the relevant
activities of these entities. The management believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
expected credit loss rate for other receivables is
0.7% (2023: 0.6%). The management believes that
there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

WS E R ERMS (EBHA
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rEBEHERGERFEZE
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M

(ii)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for cash and cash
equivalents by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on cash and cash equivalents is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Liquidity risk management

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans of cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{ZE —ZF —JU#F = =+—HIFFEZ
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. ERTH #@)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENREEK (&)
(Continued)
(i) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (i) RENELREEEE (&)
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of TRIBE AL R ALIRERIER M
the Group’s and the Company'’s financial liabilities KEBRARBRZZEZMNE
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 on contractual RZE_=ZH=ZHB=+—HZ
undiscounted payments: e EIEBER
Weighted Total Total
average On Less than 3to 12 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 3 months months 1year  cashflows amount

REHRRE
INREFITHIR #EX  LR3ER  3E128A BdFE  RENEE REESR
%  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000
FET TET TET FET FET TET

At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=A=+-H
Trade and other payables BRREMENTIE - 144,077 50,187 - 33,502 227,856 227,800
Lease liabillies Gl 5.85% - 904 895 72 1,87 1,806
Promissory note ARRE 18.25% - 45,040 - - 45,040 44,122
Convertible note HREE 3.0% 257,030 - - - 257,030 257,030
Employee benefits EEEF - 6,210 - - - 6,210 6,210
407,317 96,131 895 33,664 538,007 536,968
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=fF=A=+-H
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERFE - 143,179 55,467 7,059 31,282 236,987 236,705
Lease liabilties HEBE 5.85% - 1,042 3,936 2,968 8,846 8,465
Promissory note AREE 18.25% - - - 45,040 45,040 40,429
Convertible note HRRER 3.0% 257,030 - - - 257,030 257,030
Employee benefits EEEF - 6,514 - - - 6,514 6,514
406,723 57,400 10,995 79,290 554,417 549,143
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management

Interest rate profile

36. EMTH #@

(b) =REAMGEEBNRBE &

(iii)

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for
changes in interest rates to the Group’s cash at
bank, convertible notes, promissory note and
lease liabilities. The Company manages the risk by

regularly evaluating its cash flows when sufficient

funds are available.

The following table details interest rates analysis that
the directors of the Company evaluate its interest

rate risk.

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate borrowings
- Lease liabilities

- Promissory note

- Convertible notes

Financial assets
Floating rate assets
- Bank balances
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Ez )=V
EEEM
-HE&E
- EAR2E
— A RRER

EHEE
AREE
—iRITHERR

FE R ELE

FIEER

7 £ B (A F) X 8 8 m ER A9 A
KEBERERRTHRS 7
KREB - ARRBERIEEEER
oA RBNEERERBBE
ML HRESRENEERE

TERFULFABDEFFEEA

KR FIE DI o
2024 2023
—EZNE “EBC=F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BEA=E SRS
(%) HK$000 (%) HK$ 000
FET FET
5.85 1,806 2.35-5.85 8,465
18.25 44,122 18.25 40,429
3.0 257,030 3.0 257,030
0.001-0.3 48,222 0.001-0.3 51,619




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

(iv)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2024, it is estimated that a general
decrease or increase of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would increase or decrease the post-tax loss by
approximately HK$482,000 (2023: HK$516,000).
There is no impact on other components of equity.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2023.

Currency risk

The group entities collect most of the revenue
and incur most of the expenditures in their
respective functional currencies. The directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant
as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each
individual group entity.

36. €M TH #@

(b) =REAMGEEBNRBE &

(i) /@GR ELE ()

HREZE T

A _E_NE=/A=+—H" 1
FHAIEEEEE T ES EF100EE

BT BRREBEERIE ISR
D #3482,0008 7T (ZEZ=%F:
516,000/ 7T) - EEEmNHE
IR EEREE - DO ET
T -FHERCEEET

(iv) &R

EEERURSEZBNIESR
KRS REONKRE REEKX
BOKRAZ ARAEENEE
REHIUEENEEERRI
FEEREHE HEAABDEERR
REEMINE AR ER

hEFESRIERARAT 2023/2024 £ 287



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. R TH @
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREAMREEENRER (&

(Continued)

(iv) Currency risk (Continued) (iv) EERERE ()
The Group currently does not have a foreign AREE B Bl INE SRR
exchange hedging policy. However, the R AEBREEEgEEITINE
management of the Group monitors foreign RiE> R BEREERERE T
exchange exposure and will consider hedging BEAIMNE RS o
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.
As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not BB E T AEETE
expect any significant foreign currency exposure HAArERABATRETZEERE
arising from the fluctuation of the HK$ to USD B EEEFEKRINE R
exchange rates. As a result, the directors of the > RABERRAEEREE
Company consider that the sensitivity of the Group’s TTRETZENEEXEE 2
exposure towards the change in foreign exchange ARz RXEBBEELESR
rates between HK$ to USD is minimal and no SR E D #f7 ©

sensitivity analysis is presented.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

e The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively.

e The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors
of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the

36. €M TH #@

(c) EMIAZATE

THEERERERZIAFEDR
DUFZRIERE -

BB RE R B AR A 5005 BB
THEEZEHEERTHME
B hRRBEMREHHERE
REREEEAFE

HiheMEERERARE (T8
BLitE) 2 A FEDREER
RIS REB DN Z & B RW
EBEAEE -

PR TN RFISFIRESN KRB EER
B REEYHRERTEDZERE
ErRtMEBEZREEEZEATE

consolidated financial statements approximate to their isE=IN
fair values:
2024 2023
—E_mE ZETCF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
fREE ATE RAEE NYHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
Financial liabilities cRmafk
Promissory note ARERE 44,122 50,012 40,429 43,262
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EXRAGER

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents) and equity
attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continueq)

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period

was as follows:

Debt (Note (a))
Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt
Equity (Note (b))

Net debt and equity

Net debt to equity ratio

Notes:

&% (Wata)

R RIRE

(EUEYEE
R (HfaEb)

(EUEREEENE: S

(EUERER LS

HEY

mE =

(@) Debt comprises lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible
notes as detailed in Notes 25, 27 and 28 respectively.

(o)  Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of

the Company.

37. EXERER @)
REEAREF FEAR R 2 =Y
T

2024 2023
“ETWE TEI=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#TT FHT
302,958 305,924
(48,222) (51,619)
254,736 254,305
(405,113) (396,277)
(150,377) (141,972)
N/AF 8 N/AT 38
Wizt
@ BEEOEEESE AREERIARE

B BRI %m MiEE25~ 27 %280

b @S

fo

EREARBBEA NBGER K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AT T EMEB AT Z 1B
THE COMPANY

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting AEENBRABINRKRSHARZFFHT
period are set out below. WFe
Percentage of equity
Place and date interests and voting
of incorporation and power attributable to Nominal value
Name of subsidiary form of business structure the Company of issued share capital Principal activities
M FR IR B O R FARRMENRSERR )
WEAESRE ERRBR REEARL BETRAEE TEEH
2024 2023
ko 1 S S
% %
Directly held
BERE
TYW (BVI) Limited BVI2 July 2009, limited liability 100 100 United States Dollars (‘US$") Investment holding
company 50,000, divided into 50,000
ordinary shares of US$1.00
gach )
HERUHE “2TNE 50,000% 7 (1%£70)) » 9% RERR
tAZH BREELH 50,0008 &K A{E1 005 T
2ERER
Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural PRC, 30 May 2013, limited liability 100 100 Registered and paid up capital of  Inactive
Development Limited" company RMB30,000,000
R EREERXEEEERAT HE ZE-=FRE=1H> AMRARERARE HE
BREMAT 30,000,0007¢
Indirectly held
RERE
Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited  Hong Kong, 16 July 2000, limited 97 97 HK$20,372,000 divided into Holding of motor vehicles,
liability company 20,372,000 ordinary shares of ~ provision of waterworks and
HK$1.00 each laying of water pipes
EXLATRARAE BE “BETELATAR 20372000872 %20372000 HEER REKEIEE
BREEAH REREE 0BT R YN
&
Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company  Hong Kong, 6 February 1996, limited 97 97 HK$26,123,200 divided into Provision of waterworks and laying
Limited liability company 26,123,200 ordinary shares of ~ of water pipes
HK$1.00 ach »
EEKBREFRAT B —NAAEZRAE BR 26,123 200870 35 REKBIRRERKE
EEAF 26,123 200 S REE
10082 BBR
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Company ~ Hong Kong, 22 December 2009, 100 100 HK$10,000, divided into 10,000 Inactive
Limited limited liability company ordinary shares of HK$1.00
gach
WEERTAREEERAT BB _EENETRIAC 1000027 41000068k HE
B> BREEAH HE100BTZERR
BayTV Network Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 14 May 2010, limited 100 100 HK$10,000 divided into 10,000 Inactive
liability company ordinary shares of HK$1.00
gach
EREREERAD 54 _2-ZERATNAEE 10,0007 AH10000%E% HE
REALH HE100BTZERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 39. BAEFIEHE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and
the Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the existing
levels of contributions. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there
was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and
Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

FERBIRIFEEBEDFI85EFRE AR
5 B R G B — R R E
(MEFEE)  HRABBEMFH57
SEBEHRIEEEE T ZEE RBEE5T
B —IHERMTBNKRGE HIBURS
ANBEEE -RERESE BEKRH
EBERBRAREERBAVRABS%MERE
EETEFHMTR SR BERWABN LIRS
30,0007 7T ° [A) 38 8 & 51 8 {F H BY R TS
BB 578

RE P BEIARRA S EE D~ R G KRR A > 2
£ E2 R —IAM A R 75 B R
BB R E HARIER 518 (MR AEF)
st8l) Bt REBEARFENIRFENE
FMEEENRETE  —EHXAR
IR F 5T B 1F AR o RIKEF] 5TEI 2t
T BN ER S

BHE_Z_NFERZIZEZ=F=A8
=+—HLEFE  AEETRBRBEE
BT HRE R I EF BRI ER 5T
ZPRFERAERKF R T _MNF K
T2 -F-A=+—8 #BEEstEk
IRRRR A 5T 8T M A 45082 U RY £ R AT 3
AEBBRRD KRR FEBABIMHR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &{E —ZF _[/94F =5 =+—HIFFZ

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current assets EREEE

Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZERE
Current assets RENEE

Prepayment and other receivables  FB{J 7B K E At FE UK FIE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE LS B /8 A B 3R IE

Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEFEY

Total assets HMEE

Current liabilities mENEE

Accrued expenses and other payables FE 5t 5 s & ELthFE ( 7v 18

Amounts due to subsidiaries FET B B A B Rk IE
Convertible notes PR ERE
Net current liabilities RENAEEEE

Total assets less current liabilities #2& &R R A&
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40. ZRB)Z MR AR RHE

AT ZHFERRR
2024 2023
—EME TEBEI=HF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
38,681 38,682
119 118
21 21
- 1
140 140
38,821 38,822
86,462 78,919
13,970 9,334
257,030 257,030
357,462 345,283
(357,322) (345,143)
(318,641) (306,461)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE M B R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40. XRBZHERARKRHEE &)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company ERBZHBRARER (B
(Continueq)
2024 2023
—EmE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Net liabilities BEFEE (318,641) (306,461)
Capital and reserves BEXRKEE
Share capital (RN 4,055 4,055
Reserves B3] (322,696) (310,516)
Total equity g (318,641) (306,461)
The financial statements were approved and authorised for BN 2 INFAAAZ+HNA\BK
issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2024 and are TERGRETE BRI R WA T AT
signed on its behalf by: REEFEE !
Kan Kwok Cheung Hui Ka Tsun
B+ e
Director Director
EF EF
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R 75 ¥R 2R B 5E

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

41.

40. ZRBZMBIRR KRR R (@

Movement in the Company’s reserves TARZ#EES
Convertible
Share Capital  notes equity Other Accumulated
premium reserves reserves reserves losses Total
AHRRE
RIDEE BREE  BREHE Hitif# e RithE s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FAET FET FET
(Note 31) (Note 31) (Note 28) (Note 31) (Note 31)
(Hiz231) (Hz#31) (Hfst28) (Hiz231) (Hz#31)
At 1 April 2022 RZBE__ENA-H 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,605,209) (294,863)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRBERZEHBEE - - - - (15,653) (15,659)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RIB-ZE=A=1+—-Ak
ZZ2-FMBA—H 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,620,862 (310,516)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year EREBRREZEHBLEE - - - - (12,180) (12,180)
At 31 March 2024 RIEZME=B=+—-H 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,633,042 (322,696)

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

On 15 April 2024, an aggregate of 1,666,666,667
subscription share, representing approximately 29.1%
of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the subscription shares
immediately after the share subscription completion,
were allotted and issued at the subscription price of
HK$0.012 per subscription share to Mr. Kan Kwok
Cheung, an executive director and shareholder of
the Company under the share specific mandate. The
gross and net proceeds from share subscription are
HK$20,000,000 and approximately HK$19,900,000,
respectively, of which (i) HK$10,355,700 has been used
for the repayment of its outstanding indebtedness of the
Group which includes (a) an amount of HK$2,008,844
due to Xinhua News Agency Audio News Desk (&
FEZ &), being a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Xinhua News Agency (##£%t) and a fellow subsidiary
of the China Xinhua NNC; and (b) part of outstanding
broadcasting fee in the amount of HK$8,346,856 owed
to the China Xinhua NNC as a service provider to the
Group; and (ii) the remaining amount of approximately
HK$9,500,000 will be used for the general working
capital of the Group.
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@ RZZE_MOMFNBE+AH &
1,666,666,667 RN (FBE R K
NEIRRHERMH BB EIETHEBE
BRETIERDBBREZEET
I A#929.1%) ERIEI DA%
BREBEERIDERMN0.012E TR
BERETTARARBDHTESRRE

Rt - R R SRIRPR

18

B8

#BEA 2 % 8 Bl #20,000,0007% 7T &2
#919,900,0007 7t » HH()10,355,700
BTERFEEAEEZRERR

BoHPREQEMHES

B

B EHZZENBRABT &H
MEMEERBZERNBLAR) 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 EiE —ZF _[UF =H =+—HIFFEZ

41. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

(b)

The fifth supplemental deed of the convertible bonds of
approximately HK$257,030,000 has been effective on 15
April 2024, in which the maturity date of the convertible
bonds has been extended to 9 December 2025 and
the interest rate has been retrospectively reduced from
3% to 0.8% per annum. China Xinhua NNC, the holder
of the convertible bonds shall not convert or redeem
the convertible bonds before the maturity date and the
holder of the convertible bonds shall mandatorily convert
all of the convertible bonds into the conversion shares at
the initial conversion price of HK$0.196 per conversion
share at the maturity date. The conversion price has
been adjusted to HK$19.6 per conversion share after the
effective date of share consolidation on 19 June 2024.

Convertible bonds of approximately HK$64,127,855 has
been issued to China Xinhua NNC on 15 April 2024. The
overdue existing convertible bonds interest has been
set-off against the subscription price of the convertible
bonds. The maturity date of the convertible bonds is 9
December 2025 and the interest rate is 0.8% per annum.
The holder of the convertible bonds shall not convert or
redeem the convertible bonds before the maturity date
and the holder of the convertible bonds shall mandatorily
convert all of the convertible bonds into the conversion
shares at the initial conversion price of HK$0.196 per
conversion share at the maturity date. The conversion
price has been adjusted to HK$19.6 per conversion
share after the effective date of share consolidation on 19
June 2024.

M. REPREE @

(b)

#9257,030,0008 w2 AJ R IESFZ
ELMEREBEER S -_NFN
B+IRBEX FIt AR ESZ
IR EEREZS_AFE+ A
NBE > MEMNKEBHIRERTHE
0.8% ° FI¥A MG 5515 B A Hp BT ZE 4T
HEBREREH A SRR NE
CeJ#REs > B RESFFAEA
ARFMARNT RRESRKRRRKR
B 170.19678 TT % P A B # A 18 55 58
HlEIR DR G - RN EHEN
A —Z-ME B+ NB% 8k
ECRESERBKRRMN19.68TT

#964,127,855 B Tt 2 AT MRESH ER
TETNFNAB+RAEITTHE
MENEERA - BaifizIRA R
KRESHNECHATMKRES 2R
BIRiE - JMARESZEPHATE
“HEE+ZBAHE S FHEB0.8%
MKRESFEARIBBRAE
B BRI RES > B E
ERFBEANARIPEHZYOTBRE
TR PE IR 190.19678 7o F B Bl 3
BB R G IR AR IRG% - R RH%
EHAEMHB-Z-_NEAB+AN
H& HRECARASRAKRKNG
19.678 7T °
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41. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

42,

©)

)

Convertible bonds of approximately HK$16,240,000
has been issued to China Xinhua NNC on 15 April 2024.
Part of the outstanding broadcasting fee owed to China
Xinhua NNC has been set-off against the subscription
price of the convertible bonds. The maturity date of the
convertible bonds is 9 December 2025 and the interest
rate is 0.8% per annum. The holder of the convertible
bonds shall not convert or redeem the convertible bonds
before the maturity date and the holder of the convertible
bonds shall mandatorily convert all of the convertible
bonds into the initial conversion shares at the conversion
price of HK$0.196 per conversion share at the maturity
date. The conversion price has been adjusted to
HK$19.6 per conversion share after the effective date of
share consolidation on 19 June 2024.

The one hundred (100) to one (1) share consolidation has
been effective on 17 June 2024.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June
2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

fiA 755 4L 22

A summary of the results and of the financial position of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue
Cost of services

Gross profit/(l0ss)

Other income

Other (losses)/gains, net

Amortisation expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Impairment of right-of-use assets

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Changes in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Profit/(loss) from operations

Finance costs

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
trade receivables

Loss before income tax
Income tax

Loss for the year

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
- owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interest of the Company
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-mE | —B-=F —F-_F& "FT-—& "Z°TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FiET FET
468,963 496,457 408,175 239,233 237,322
(450,900) (493,037) (417,531) (268,053) (254,858)
18,063 3,420 (9,356) (28,820) (17,536)
2,984 4,603 4,487 12,374 1,033
(1,097) 7,435 (453) 913) (11,811)

- _ - (18,316) (18,367)

- - (770) (770) (770)
(17,629) (15,181) (17,452) (26,005) (24,591)
= - = (7,679) =

= - = (2,872) =

= = (1,517) = -

= = 3,575 2,965 (4,636)

2,321 277 (21,486) (70,036) (76,678)
(11,998) (13,183) (20,573) 9,314) (28,496)
(9,677) (12,906) (42,059) (79,350) (105,174)
565 3,449 93) 5,508 4,343
©,112) (9,457) (42,152) (73,752) (100,831)
(9,324) (9,440) (41,729) (72,946) (100,831)
212 (17) (423) (806) =
9,112) (9,457) (42,152) (73,752) (100,831)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Less: Current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
Less: Non-current liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CECME | CE2C=f T -F T & _“T°TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FAET FET
16,556 28,100 21,897 24,244 61,633
202,404 217,443 191,584 150,667 186,821
218,960 245,543 213,481 174,911 248,454
(620,830) (587,953) (571,257) (466,305) (509,570)
(401,870) (342,410) (357,776) (291,394) (261,116)
(1,560) (52,396) (27,532) (51,799) (10,852)
(1,683) (1,471) (1,488) (1,011) =
(405,113) (396,277) (386,796) (345,104) (271,968)
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